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Forward-Looking Statements  

Except for any historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in this Form 10-K contain certain “forward-looking 
statements'' within the meaning of the federal securities laws. This includes statements regarding our future financial position, economic 
performance, results of operations, business strategy, budgets, projected costs, plans and objectives of management for future operations, 
and the information referred to under “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations''.  

These forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as “may,'' “will,'' 
“expect,'' “intend,'' “estimate,'' “anticipate,'' “believe,'' “continue'' or similar terminology, although not all forward-looking statements contain 
these words, These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, and are based on current expectations, estimates and projections 
about our industry, management's beliefs and certain assumptions made by management, many of which, by their nature, are inherently 
uncertain and beyond our control, Accordingly, you are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 
performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict, Although we believe that the 
expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date made, expectations may prove to have been 
materially different from the results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements, Unless otherwise required by law, we also 
disclaim any obligation to update our view of any such risks or uncertainties or to announce publicly the result of any revisions to the 
forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our 
expectations include, among others:  

You should also refer to Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”, of this Form 10-K for a discussion of factors that may cause our actual results 
to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements, As a result of these factors, we cannot assure you 
that the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K will prove to be accurate, Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be 
inaccurate, the inaccuracy may prove to be material, In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you 
should not regard these statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans 
in any specified time-frame, or at all.  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  

·  weather, including climate change; 

·  seasonality; 

·  availability of funds for capital expenditures and operations, including funds raised under the EB-5 program; 

·  competition with other indoor and outdoor winter leisure activities and ski resorts; 

·  the leases and permits for property underlying certain of our ski resorts; 

·  ability to integrate new acquisitions; 

·  environmental laws and regulations; 

·  our dependence on key personnel; 

·  the effect of declining revenues on margins; 

·  the future development and continued success of our Mount Snow ski resort; 

·  our reliance on information technology; 

·   our current dependence on our primary lender and the lender's option to purchase certain of our ski resorts; 

·  our dependence on a seasonal workforce; 

·  our ability to avoid or recover from cyber and other security breaches and other disruptions; and 

·  the securities markets. 
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PART I  
  

Item 1. Business.  
  
General  

Peak Resorts, Inc. was incorporated in Missouri on September 24, 1997 as a holding company to own or lease and operate day ski 
and overnight drive ski resorts through its wholly owned subsidiaries. Throughout the history of the Company, including the development 
of the Hidden Valley and Snow Creek ski resorts before the incorporation of Peak Resorts, Inc., the Company has acquired or developed a 
total of 14 ski resorts. In this annual report, Peak Resorts, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, is referred to as “we,” “us,” “our” or the 
“Company.”  

On November 20, 2014, we completed our initial public offering of our common stock, selling 10 million shares at $9.00 per share. 
After deducting $6.3 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and $1.4 million of offering expenses payable by us, we received 
net proceeds of $82.3 million. Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “SKIS”.  

We are a leading owner and operator of high-quality, individually branded ski resorts in the U.S.  We currently operate 14 ski 
resorts primarily located in the Northeast and Midwest, 13 of which we own. The majority of our resorts are located within 100 miles of major 
metropolitan markets, including New York City, Boston, Philadelphia, Cleveland and St. Louis, enabling day and overnight drive 
accessibility. Our resorts are comprised of nearly 1,860 acres of skiable terrain that appeal to a wide range of ages and abilities. We offer a 
breadth of activities, services and amenities, including skiing, snowboarding, terrain parks, tubing, dining, lodging, equipment rentals and 
sales, ski and snowboard instruction and mountain biking and other summer activities. We believe that both the day and overnight drive 
segments of the ski industry are appealing given their stable revenue base, high margins and attractive risk-adjusted returns. We have 
successfully acquired and integrated eleven ski resorts since our incorporation in 1997, and we expect to continue executing this strategy.  

  
We have built an award-winning portfolio of individually branded entertainment properties, most of which are recognized as 

leading ski resorts in their respective markets. Our devotion to maintaining high quality standards across our portfolio through strategic 
investments and upgrades has created a loyal customer base that contributes to a significant number of repeat visits at each of our resorts. 
In particular, our investment over the last decade in the latest high-efficiency snowmaking equipment has earned us the reputation as an 
industry leader in snowmaking efficiency, capacity and quality. Since 2008, we have invested $63.5 million in capital expenditures and 
growth initiatives. Our strong branding reinforces customer loyalty and serves to attract new visitors through focused marketing campaigns 
and word of mouth.  

  
Combined, our ski resorts generated approximately 1.3 million visits in the 2015/2016 ski season.  Revenue for fiscal 2016 was down 

from the prior year due to the unseasonably warm weather in the Midwest and East coast.  As the U.S. economy continues to improve and 
the weather returns to a more normalized pattern, our resorts are well-positioned to benefit from increased consumer spending on leisure 
activities, and we expect to continue to increase our lift ticket prices and drive more skier visits to our resorts..  

The U.S. ski industry is highly fragmented, with less than 13% of the 463 ski resorts being owned by companies with four or more 
ski resorts. We believe that our proven ability to efficiently operate multiple resorts as well as our track record of successful acquisitions 
has created our reputation in the marketplace as a preferred buyer. We believe that our extensive experience in acquiring ski resorts and 
investing in snowmaking, lifts and other skier services, as well as the synergies we create by operating multiple resorts, drives increased 
revenues and profitability. Our capabilities serve as a competitive advantage in sourcing and executing investment opportunities as sellers 
will often provide us a "first look" at opportunities outside of a broader marketing process, allowing us to expand both within our existing 
markets and into new markets.  

We operate in a single business segment—resort operations. We are not dependent on any single customer, the loss of which 
would have a material impact on our financial statements, and we derive no revenue from foreign sources.  

  

Our Resorts  

Our 14 ski resorts consist of six overnight drive ski resorts and eight day ski resorts located across seven states, ranging from 
Missouri to New Hampshire, and appeal to a wide range of visitors. All of our ski resorts employ high-capacity snowmaking capabilities on 
over 90% of their terrain as well as food and beverage, equipment rental and retail outlets. All of our properties offer alternative snow 
activities, such as terrain parks and tubing, in addition to skiing and snowboarding. The  
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diversity of our services and amenities allows us to capture a larger proportion of customer spending as well as ensure product and service 
quality at our resorts.  

New for the 2017 ski season, the Company introduced a new season pass feature which went on sale in March 2016.  The new Peak 
Pass features a total of six pass options valid at seven different mountain locations across four states in the Northeast. Resorts include 
Mount Snow in Vermont; Attitash, Wildcat and Crotched Mountains in New Hampshire; Hunter Mountain in New York; and Jack Frost and 
Big Boulder in Pennsylvania.  The Company believes the variety of each resort's on-mountain experience, as well as the proximity of our 
resorts, makes the Peak Pass a unique and affordable product for the vast majority of skiers and riders in the Northeastern U.S.  

The following table summarizes key statistics relating to each of our resorts as of April 30, 2016:  

  
* Leased property 
** Marketed with Boston Mills 
*** Marketed with Jack Frost  
  

We operate portions or all of certain of our resorts pursuant to lease agreements with third parties or pursuant to Forest Service 
Special Use Permits with the federal government.  We own the remaining land underlying our resorts. For a description of our ownership 
and use of the land underlying our resorts, see Item 2, “Properties” of this annual report.  

In December 2011, we acquired the Jack Frost ski resort through the purchase of the assets of Blue Ridge Real Estate Company for 
$5.65 million. Also in December 2011, we purchased the assets of Big Boulder Corporation to acquire the Big Boulder ski resort, for total 
consideration of $3.35 million. Prior to that time, we had operated these resorts pursuant to leases since 2005.  

In October 2012, we purchased the outstanding common stock of Sycamore Lake, Inc. (doing business as Alpine Valley Ski Area in 
Cleveland, Ohio) for $2.6 million. This acquisition enables us to employ pricing strategies and cost synergies with Boston Mills and 
Brandywine, our other two Cleveland resorts.  

On January 6, 2016, we completed the acquisition of the Hunter Mountain ski resort located in Hunter, New York, through the 
purchase of all of the outstanding stock of each of Hunter Mountain Ski Bowl, Inc., Hunter Mountain Festivals, Ltd., Hunter Mountain 
Rentals, Inc., Hunter Resort Vacations, Inc., Hunter Mountain Base Lodge, Inc., and Frosty Land, Inc. (collectively, “Hunter Mountain”) 
pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Paul Slutzky, Charles B. Slutzky, David Slutzky, 
Gary Slutzky and Carol Slutzky-Tenerowicz entered into on November 30, 2015.  The Company acquired Hunter Mountain for total cash 
consideration of $35.0 million plus the assumption of two capital leases estimated at approximately $1.7 million.  

A portion of the Hunter Mountain acquisition price was financed pursuant to the Master Credit and Security Agreement (the 
“Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement”) entered into between the Company and EPR Properties, the Company’s primary lender (“EPR”), on 
January 6, 2016. The remainder was financed with funds drawn on the Company’s line of credit with Royal Banks of Missouri pursuant to 
the Credit Facility, Loan and Security Agreement (the “Line of Credit Agreement”) between the Company and Royal Banks of Missouri, 
effective as of December 22, 2015. See Part II, Item 7A“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Significant Sources of Cash” for additional information.  

  

Property State Developed/ 
Acquired 

Nearest Metro MSA Population 
Base 

(millions) 

Skiable 
Acres 

Total Lifts Vertical Drop 
(ft.) 

Hidden Valley MO 1982  St Louis 3.9  60  9  310  

Snow Creek MO 1985  Kansas City 2.9  40  6  300  

Paoli Peaks IN 1997  Louisville, Nashville 3.0  65  8  300  

Mad River* OH 2001  Columbus, Dayton 2.8  60  12  300  

Boston Mills OH 2002  Cleveland, Akron, Canton 7.1  40  8  264  

Brandywine OH 2002  ** ** 48  10  264  

Crotched Mountain NH 2003  Boston 13.9  105  5  1,000  

Jack Frost PA 2005  Philadelphia, New York City 27.3  80  12  600  

Big Boulder PA 2005  *** *** 65  11  475  

Attitash NH 2007  Boston 13.9  307  11  1,750  

Mount Snow VT 2007  
New York City, Boston, 

Albany 
27.4  490  20  1,700  

Wildcat Mountain NH 2010  Boston 13.9  225  5  2,112  

Alpine Valley OH 2012  Cleveland, Akron, Canton 7.1  54  7  260  

Hunter Mountain NY 2016  
New York City, Boston, 

Albany 
27.4  220                  12               1,600 
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Financing/Liquidity  

  

The Company has experienced lower than normal liquidity levels as of the end of fiscal 2016.  The weather during the ski season 
was unfavorably warm which resulted in fewer ski days and lower profitability for the Company.  In addition, the Company is still waiting on 
the first investor’s approval with regards to our approved EB-5 program.  In anticipation of the EB-5 approval, which would release all funds 
from escrow, the company has spent more than $13 million of our working capital on starting the West Lake Construction project.  The 
Company received approval for a $10 million short term financing option which would provide additional liquidity until the start of our 
2016/2017 ski season.  The Company has not yet executed the loan, as we continue to wait for EB-5 approval.  If EB-5 is not approved in the 
next few months, the Company will need to execute on this loan.  

In addition, the Master Credit Agreement between the Company and EPR (the “Master Credit Agreement”) includes financial 
covenants consisting of a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and 
certain of its subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, and a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as 
defined in the Master Credit Agreement) covenant, which (a) requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve 
account if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls below 1.50:1.00, and (b) prohibits the Company from paying 
dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. As of our most recent fiscal year end, our fixed charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, 
but was above the 1.25:1.00 ratio.  As a result, the Company must increase the balance of its debt service reserve by $3.3 million.  EPR has 
agreed to defer the payment of the reserve until the end of the 2016/2017 ski season.  While the Company believes it has sufficient short 
term liquidity sources, the Company continues to explore longer term financing options to fund short and long-term capital needs.    Please 
refer to the MD&A section for more specific information on our liquidity, the EB-5 program, and the West Lake construction project.      

  

Debt Restructure  

On November 10, 2014, in connection with our initial public offering, we entered into a Restructure Agreement (the “Restructure 
Agreement”) with certain affiliates of EPR, providing for the (i) prepayment of approximately $75.8 million of formerly non-prepayable debt 
secured by the Crotched Mountain, Attitash, Paoli Peaks, Hidden Valley and Snow Creek resorts and (ii) retirement of one of the notes 
associated with the future development of Mount Snow (the “Debt Restructure”). On December 1, 2014, we entered into various agreements 
in order to effectuate the Debt Restructure, as more fully described in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on December 5, 2014.  Pursuant to the Debt Restructure, we paid a defeasance fee of $5 million to 
EPR in addition to the consideration described below.  

In exchange for the prepayment right, we granted EPR a purchase option on the Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big Boulder 
and Alpine Valley properties, subject to certain conditions.  If EPR exercises a purchase option, EPR will enter into an agreement with the 
Company for the lease of each such acquired property for an initial term of 20 years, plus options to extend the lease for two additional 
periods of ten years each. All previously existing option agreements between the Company and EPR were terminated.  

Additionally, we agreed to extend the maturity dates on all non-prepayable notes and mortgages secured by the Mount Snow, 
Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big Boulder and Alpine Valley properties remaining after the Debt Restructure by seven years to 
December 1, 2034, and to extend the lease for the Mad River property, previously terminating in 2026, until December 31, 2034.  

We also granted EPR a right of first refusal to provide all or a portion of the financing associated with any purchase, ground lease, 
sale/leaseback, management or financing transaction contemplated by the Company with respect to any new or existing ski resort property 
for a period of seven years or until financing provided by EPR for such transactions equals or exceeds $250 million in the aggregate. 
Proposed financings from certain types of institutional lenders providing a loan to value ratio of less than 60% (as relates to the applicable 
property being financed) are excluded from the right of first refusal. We granted EPR a separate right of first refusal in the event that the 
Company wishes to sell, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of any or all of the Attitash ski resort for seven years.  The Attitash right 
excludes the financing or mortgaging of Attitash.  
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In connection with the Debt Restructure, we entered into a Master Credit and Security Agreement with EPR containing additional 
terms and conditions governing our restructure debt with EPR, including restrictions on certain transactions and the payment of dividends 
and required financial covenants.  

Ski Industry  

        The U.S. ski industry was estimated to total approximately 53.9 million skier visits in the 2015/2016 ski season. The National Ski Areas 
Association Kottke National End of Season Survey (Preliminary Report) reported that there were 463 ski resorts operating during the 
2015/2016 ski season in the U.S. Given the consistency and strength of annual skier visits over the last 30 years as well as the state of the 
recovering economy, we believe that skier participation will remain strong in the coming years.  

        The ski industry divides ski resorts into three distinct categories: overnight fly, overnight drive and day ski resorts. Overnight fly ski 
resorts are defined as ski resorts which primarily serve skiers who fly or drive considerable distances and stay for multiple nights. These 
resorts depend, in large part, on long-distance travel by their visitors and on the development of adjacent real estate for housing, hospitality 
and retail uses. Overnight drive ski resorts are ski resorts which primarily serve skiers from the regional drive market who stay overnight. 
Day ski resorts are typically located within 50 miles of a major metropolitan statistical area (“MSA”) and do not generally offer dedicated 
lodging.  

        Day and overnight drive ski resorts tend to be smaller in size and are usually located near metropolitan areas. As an owner and operator 
of primarily day and overnight drive ski resorts, we focus on selling lift tickets, renting ski equipment, selling ski lessons, offering food and 
beverage services and catering to the targeted local market. We target skiers of all levels from beginners who are skiing for the first time to 
intermediate and advanced skiers who are honing their skills.  

        An important statistic used to gauge the performance of companies operating within the ski industry is revenue per skier visit. The 
revenue per skier visit of our resorts for the 2007/2008 ski season (the first season subsequent to the Mount Snow and Attitash 
acquisitions) to the 2013/2014 ski season increased at a compounded annual growth rate of 3.9% compared to an increase of 2.6% for the 
U.S. ski industry for the same period. Revenue per skier visit is calculated as total resort revenue divided by skier visits.  

        The ski industry statistics stated in the foregoing sections have been derived from data published by the Kottke National End of 
Season Survey 2013/2014 and other industry publications, including those of the National Ski Areas Association.  

  

Revenue Components  

We, like other day ski resorts and overnight drive ski resorts operators, earn our revenues in six principal categories. In order of 
their contribution, they are: (i) lift and tubing tickets; (ii) food and beverage sales; (iii) equipment rentals; (iv) ski instruction; (v) 
hotel/lodging; (vi) retail; and (vii) summer activities. Each revenue center is discussed in more detail below:  

  

  

 Year ended April 30, 
 2016 2015 2014 
 
Revenues 
  Lift and tubing tickets $ 45,541  $ 50,821  $ 51,672  
  Food and beverage 15,816  18,927  18,638  
  Equipment rental 7,036  8,017  8,584  
  Ski instruction 6,580  7,242  7,130  
  Hotel/lodging 7,972  7,623  7,479  
  Retail 4,560  5,261  4,811  
  Summer activities 4,309  3,671  3,646  
  Other 3,915  3,296  3,245  

 $ 95,729  $ 104,858  $ 105,205  
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Seasonality  
  

The Company's revenues are highly seasonal in nature. The vast majority of reported revenues are generated during the ski 
season, which occurs during the third and fourth fiscal quarters.  In an effort to partially counterbalance the concentration of revenue 
during the winter months, some of our properties offer non-ski attractions, such as golf, roller coasters, swimming, summer concerts and zip 
rides, but these activities do not comprise a substantial portion of our annual revenues.   Our resorts typically experience operating losses 
and negative cash flows during the first and second quarters of each fiscal year, as a result of the seasonality of our business.  

Additionally, operations on certain holidays contribute significantly to the Company's revenues, most notably Christmas, Dr. 
Martin Luther King, Jr. Day and Presidents Day. The seasonality of the Company's revenues amplifies the effect on the Company's 
revenues, operating earnings and cash flows of events that are outside the Company's control. While the Company's geographically diverse 
operating locations help mitigate its effects, adverse weather conditions could limit  

  

·  Lift and Tubing Tickets— Lift tickets are our most important source of operating revenues. We place heavy emphasis on sales of 
season passes and advance group ticket sales to schools, religious organizations and other social groups at a discount. We market 
our season passes and advance group ticket sales to our ski visitors and the communities we serve. The cost of lift tickets at each 
of our resorts varies according to geographic region, session time and day of the week.  

·  Food and Beverage—Our facilities generally employ cafeteria-style and self-service options to provide a limited menu of simple 
foods, liquor, beer and wine. We try to maximize revenues and simplify operations by focusing on a limited menu that requires 
minimal special preparation and related personnel costs. 

·  Equipment Rentals— Day ski resorts generally attain a higher percentage of rental revenue than overnight fly destination ski 
resorts and overnight drive ski resorts because a large majority of day ski resort skiers are novices, who typically do not own ski 
equipment. Equipment rental rates generally range between $30 and $41 per person per session. We have focused on improving 
our equipment rental facilities to provide quick access to new and high quality equipment, self-service options with expert advice 
and fitting available, and immediate access to the lifts and ski instruction areas from the rental facility. By eliminating the equipment 
rental bottleneck, we believe that we have significantly enhanced the skiers' resort experience, which corresponds to increased 
rental revenues.  

·  Ski Instruction— Ski instruction is considered important to operations because of the large numbers of novice or early 
intermediate skiers who typically visit day ski resorts. We offer low group lesson prices to encourage participation, which range 
from $15 and $49 per person per lesson. Individual instructions and private lessons may range from $45 to $105 or more per lesson. 

·  Hotel/Lodging— Because we primarily operate day ski resorts, not all of our resorts offer hotel or other lodging services. Our 
hotel/lodging revenue is comprised of the revenue generated by the lodging facilities at our Attitash, Hunter Mountain and Mount 
Snow ski resorts. Each has a  hotel on their properties, in which individuals have purchased 100% of all available quartershare 
interval interests, while we retain ownership of common areas of the hotel and commercial properties. We derive a revenue stream 
from operating the hotels' retail, restaurant and conference facilities, fees for spa and health club services at the hotels and fees for 
housekeeping and other related services, and from renting quartershare interval interests when not in use by their owners. We also 
manage certain condominiums located near the Mount Snow ski resort and receive a portion of the rental fees and property 
management fees relating to these condominiums. Finally, we own 100% of the Snow Lake Lodge at Mount Snow, which we 
operate as a traditional hotel. 

·  Retail— Like ski instruction services, retail also represents a relatively small percentage of our total revenues. Some of our resorts 
offer a selection of more substantial ski-related equipment, such as boots, skis and snowsuits, while others maintain only a minimal 
selection of smaller items, such as gloves and goggles. Merchandise selection and pricing decisions must be made in light of the 
local demographic conditions. To facilitate this level of detailed management, local ski resort employees oversee their merchandise 
operations as they see fit for their markets. We also lease merchandise operations to third-party merchants at Boston Mills, 
Brandywine and Paoli Peaks. 

·  Summer Activities— Although the majority of our resorts do not have material operations during the summer months, we do 
operate several resorts during the summer.  Activities include zip tours, water parks, mountain coasters, horseback riding, 
conferences, camps, and festivals. 
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customer access to the Company's resorts, render snowmaking wholly or partially ineffective in maintaining ski conditions, cause increased 
energy use and other operating costs related to snowmaking efforts and, in general, can result in decreased skier visits regardless of ski 
conditions.  

The opening and closing dates of our ski resorts are dependent upon weather conditions, but our peak ski season generally runs 
from early December to mid-April.  The weather impact during the current ski season resulted in every resort except one having a later 
opening date compared to the prior ski season. The following tables illustrate the opening and closing dates for the 2011/2012 through 
2015/2016 ski seasons for our 14 ski resorts:  

  

(1)  
Data for Alpine Valley is included for the 2012/2013, 2013/2014, 2014/2015 and 2015/2016 ski seasons only, as we acquired the ski resort in November 2012.  

(2)  
Data for Hunter Mountain is included for the 2015/2016 ski season only, as we acquired the ski resort in January 2016.  

  
  

Marketing  

We promote our resorts through both on-site marketing and external marketing. We encourage visitors to return to our resorts by 
offering complimentary skier orientations at our resorts. We also have marketing programs in place directed at attracting groups, such as 
religious organizations, social clubs, corporate entities, schools and civic organizations, and we offer discounts to active military personnel. 
We believe that these group discounts encourage new participants to try snow sports. Student passes are also sold through schools, and 
season passes are promoted through targeted direct mail marketing, the internet and local sporting goods stores.  

Each of our resorts also maximizes community awareness through radio, special events and promotions and “free media” 
advertising, when possible. We host charity events and tournaments, issue media passes and encourage live radio and television 
broadcasts for segments such as weather or sports. For example, events we have hosted include the following: Dew Tour, X-Games, Tough 
Mudder, SAM Cutters Camp, Transworld Trans-am Snowboard Event, Mountain Dew Vertical Challenge, NCAA National Downhill 
Championships, Special Olympics Games, Military Salutes, Taste of Country Music Festival, and U.S. National Mountain Biking 
Championships.  

Competition   
        We believe that there are high barriers to entry for new ski resorts due to the limited private lands on which ski resorts can be 
developed, the difficulty in getting the necessary government approvals and permits to build on public land and the substantial capital 
resources needed to construct the required ski infrastructure. As such, we believe that the risk that our  

  

 
Ski Resort  2011/2012 Open Dates  2012/2013 Open Dates  2013/2014 Open Dates  2014/2015 Open Dates  2015/2016 Open Dates  

Attitash Nov 25 - Mar 25 Dec 7 - Apr 11 Dec 7 - Apr 6 Dec 6 - Apr 5 Dec 26 – Mar 27 

Alpine Valley(1) — Dec 30 - Mar 3 Dec 28 - Mar 16 Dec 30 - Mar 22 Jan 3 - Mar 6 

Big Boulder Dec 11 - Mar 24 Nov 28 - Apr 20 Nov 14 - Apr 6 Nov 20 - Apr 19 Jan 2 – Mar 27 

Boston Mills Dec 17 - Mar 10 Dec 28 - Mar 10 Nov 29 - Mar 16 Jan 1 - Mar 22 Jan 4 - Mar 8 

Brandywine Dec 30 - Mar 4 Dec 29 - Mar 30 Dec 14 - Mar 16 Jan 2 - Apr 1 Jan 5 – Mar 11 

Crotched Mountain Dec 17 - Mar 18 Dec 1 - Apr 7 Nov 30 - Mar 30 Nov 28 – Apr 5 Dec 29 – Mar 20 

Hidden Valley Jan 4 - Feb 26 Dec 23 - Mar 17 Dec 14 - Mar 15 Jan 2 - Mar 8 Jan 10 - Mar 6 

Hunter Mountain (2) — — — — Dec 13 – Mar 27 

Jack Frost Dec 17 - Mar 11 Dec 22 - Mar 31 Dec 7 - Mar 23 Dec 12 - Mar 29 Dec 26 - Mar 13 

Mad River Dec 17 - Mar 11 Dec 23 - Mar 17 Nov 30 - Mar 16 Dec 20 - Mar 22 Jan 2 - Mar 8 

Mount Snow Dec 10 - Mar 25 Nov 22 - Apr 21 Nov 15 - Apr 13 Nov 21 - Apr 19 Nov 26 - Apr 3 

Paoli Peaks Jan 3 - Mar 4 Dec 23 - Mar 10 Dec 14 - Mar 9 Dec 31 - Mar 8 Jan 4 - Mar 6 

Snow Creek Dec 17 - Mar 4 Dec 22 - Mar 17 Dec 14 - Mar 9 Dec 31 - Mar 8 Dec 31 - Mar 6 

Wildcat Mountain Dec 18 - Apr 15 Nov 22 - Apr 21 Nov 28 - Apr 27 Nov 9 - Apr 30 Nov 26 - Apr 24 
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market will become saturated with new industry participants is relatively low. We believe that our resorts do not directly compete with 
overnight fly destination ski resorts, such as the larger ski resorts in Colorado, California, Nevada, Utah and other destination ski resorts 
worldwide. Rather, we believe that we compete primarily with other existing day ski resorts, overnight drive ski resorts and non-ski related 
day vacations.   
        Our competition varies by geographical area. While we believe that our Midwestern ski resorts face only limited competition within their 
relative metropolitan markets, we are not the only day ski resorts or overnight drive ski resorts in our Northeastern and Southeastern 
markets (as defined by the NSAA). We compete with approximately 135 resorts in the Northeastern market and 47 resorts in the 
Southeastern market.  

Competitive Strengths  

        We believe our strengths are as follows:  

•We own a high-quality branded portfolio.  We own 13 and operate 14 high-quality ski resorts, each of which is individually 
branded and recognized to be a leading ski resort in its respective regional market. Our devotion to maintaining high quality 
standards through strategic investments and upgrades has created a loyal customer base at each of our resorts. Our strong 
branding reinforces customer loyalty and serves to attract new guests through focused marketing campaigns and word of mouth.  
  
•We have a history of investing in targeted capital projects to increase profitability.  We are continuously evaluating our 
property-level performance and are committed to increasing our profitability. Many ski resort operators are unwilling to invest in 
improvements due to capital constraints and the perceived risk of such investments. Since 2008, we have invested $63.5 million 
throughout our portfolio in an effort to improve the profitability of our ski resorts through energy-efficient snowmaking machinery, 
high-speed/high-capacity lifts and additional features such as terrain parks and various other infrastructure investments. The costs 
of these improvements are significantly outweighed by the benefits realized, which include higher quality and less costly snow, 
shorter lift lines, terrain expansion and customer appreciation. We have found that the ability to transport customers up the 
mountain on high-speed chairlifts and to reduce lift lines not only attracts skiers and promotes a better skiing experience but also 
leads to higher restaurant and retail sales and increased customer satisfaction.  
  
•We are an experienced and successful acquirer and integrator.  We have grown our Company significantly since inception by 
acquiring strategically located ski resorts with the potential for increased revenue growth and margin expansion. We have 
successfully acquired and integrated eleven ski resorts since 1997. We adhere to a disciplined acquisition strategy by pursuing 
opportunities at attractive acquisition prices that can create additional value through operational improvements and efficiencies. 
After acquiring a ski resort, we implement a strategic repositioning program designed during the underwriting process and 
integrate the resort into our portfolio. We believe that our track record for acquiring and integrating ski resorts makes us an 
industry leader and gives us a competitive advantage over other buyers.  
  
•Our experienced senior management team is dedicated to providing a reliable and enjoyable ski experience.  Our three senior 
executives have almost 60 years of combined experience owning, operating and acquiring ski resorts in the U.S. Since 1982, it has 
been our vision to offer a reliable and enjoyable skiing experience to our customers. As a result of this vision, our management 
team constantly strives to enhance and improve our snowmaking capabilities to ensure our ski resorts maintain high-quality snow 
throughout the season. In addition, our management team strives to provide our ski resorts with a full range of amenities to 
augment our customers' overall skiing experience.  
  
•Overnight drive and day ski resorts experience lower sensitivity to the economy.  We believe our portfolio provides more 
attractive risk-adjusted returns than overnight fly resorts due to the stability in our visits. Furthermore, we believe that customers 
are more likely to visit overnight drive and day ski resorts during an economic downturn as compared to other higher cost 
overnight fly ski resorts, resulting in less sensitivity to downturns in the economy. The revenue per skier visit of our resorts from 
the 2007/2008 ski season (the first season subsequent to the Mount Snow and Attitash acquisitions) to the 2013/2014 ski season 
increased at a compounded annual growth rate of 3.9% compared to an increase of 2.6% for the U.S. ski industry for the same 
period.  
   
•The ski industry possesses high barriers to entry.  A limited number of ski resorts have been developed in the past 30 years. 
Skiable land is scarce and demanding to develop due to the difficulty in aggregating suitable terrain, obtaining government 
permitting, resolving accessibility issues and addressing heightened environmental concerns.  
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Operating a ski resort requires a high level of expertise and strict regulatory and environmental compliance. Additionally, many 
resorts have built significant customer loyalty and brand awareness over multiple generations, which can be difficult for a new 
entrant to overcome. These factors have contributed to the number of ski resorts decreasing 37%, from 735 in 1984 to 463 in 2016 as 
smaller, poorly capitalized resorts have been unable to compete effectively. With our large existing portfolio, proven capital 
investment strategy and strong customer loyalty, we believe our Company is competitively well-positioned.  
  
•Our ski resort portfolio is diverse.  Our portfolio of 14 ski resorts consists of six overnight drive ski resorts and eight day ski 
resorts located across seven states ranging from Missouri to New Hampshire. We believe that our portfolio mix enables us to reach 
a large customer base seeking high-quality ski resorts within driving distance of major metropolitan areas. Each of our ski resorts is 
located within reasonable drive times from major metropolitan areas such as New York City, Boston, Philadelphia, Cleveland and 
St. Louis, which we believe provides us with a consistent repeat customer base and increases our new customer outreach potential. 
We believe that the size and geographic diversity of our portfolio helps insulate the Company's financial performance against 
adverse economic and weather conditions.  
   
•We are a proven operator of ski resorts.  We have operated numerous ski resorts since our incorporation in 1997. Due to our 
extensive operating expertise, we believe we have a profitable and efficient platform that positions us to take advantage of growth 
initiatives and cost controls.  
  
•Management’s and new stockholders’ interests are aligned.  Our management team owns approximately 16.2% of our 
outstanding shares. We believe that this substantial ownership position aligns the interest of our operating team with that of our 
new stockholders.  

Intellectual Property  

        We understand the importance to the sales and marketing of our resorts that a strong brand can maintain. Wildcat Mountain Ski 
AreaSM,  Mount Snow®, Boston Mills Ski ResortSM,  Hidden ValleySM,  Crotched Mountain Ski AreaSM ,  Alpine Valley and Hunter 
MountainSM are trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by certain subsidiaries of Peak Resorts, Inc.     

Regulation and Legislation  

       The 1986 Ski Area Permit Act and Master Development Plans  

        The 1986 Ski Area Permit Act (the "1986 Act") allows the Forest Service to grant Term Special Use Permits for the operation of ski 
resorts and construction of related facilities on National Forest lands. In addition, the permits granted to our ski resorts under the 1986 Act 
require a Master Development Plan for each ski resort that is granted a Special Use Permit. Of our 14 resorts, only portions of Attitash and 
Mount Snow and all of Wildcat Mountain operate under Special Use Permits. The ski-able terrain at our other resorts is located on land that 
we own or lease from non-government third parties.  

        Each area of National Forest land is required by the National Forest Management Plan to develop and maintain a Land and Resource 
Management Plan, which establishes standards and guidelines for the Forest Service to follow and consider in reviewing and approving our 
proposed actions. Under the 1986 Act, the Forest Service has the right to review and approve the locations, design and construction of 
improvements in the permit area and many operational matters.  

        The Special Use Permits expire as follows: Attitash ski resort—April 4, 2047; Mount Snow ski resort—April 4, 2047; and Wildcat 
Mountain ski resort—November 18, 2050. We intend to request a new Special Use Permit for each resort as provided by the Forest Service 
regulations and terms of each existing Special Use Permit. To our knowledge, the Forest Service has never refused to issue a new Special 
Use Permit to replace an existing Special Use Permit for a ski resort in operation at the time of expiration.  

        Each Special Use Permit contains requirements and obligations on our part, including that we indemnify the Forest Service from third-
party claims arising out of our operation under the Special Use Permit and that we comply with all applicable laws. We pay a fee to the 
Forest Service for the Special Use Permit which, pursuant to the terms of each Special Use Permit, could range from 1.5% to 4.0% of sales for 
services on Forest Service land. Historically we have paid fees ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% of sales for services on Forest Service land and do 
not expect that this will change in the near  
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future. Included in the calculation are sales from lift tickets, season passes, ski instructions, food and beverages, equipment rental, 
merchandise, and other ancillary services.  

        The Special Use Permits may be amended by mutual agreement between us and the Forest Service to change the applicable ski resort or 
permitted uses. The Forest Service may also modify the Special Use Permit to accommodate changes in plans or operations. Permit 
amendments must be consistent with the Forest Plan and are subject to the provisions of the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA").  

        The Forest Service may also terminate a Special Use Permit if it determines that termination is required for specific compelling reasons. 
However, to our knowledge, no Special Use Permit has ever been terminated by the Forest Service without the consent of the operator.  

        We must propose a Master Development Plan for all improvements that we intend to make on National Forest lands and submit such 
plans to the Forest Service for review and acceptance. Once the Forest Service accepts a Master Development Plan, individual projects 
contemplated by the Master Development Plan will only be approved by the Forest Service upon separate applications that meet the 
requirements set forth by the Forest Service, including the requirements contained in the Special Use Permit.  

       National Environmental Policy Act  

        Under NEPA, our major proposed actions on all National Forest land, such as the expansion of a ski resort or installation of new 
snowmaking equipment, must be assessed to determine the environmental impacts of such actions. Upon our application to the Forest 
Service to undertake major projects, the Forest Service must conduct an environmental study, which can impact the time it takes to complete 
a project. During these studies, the Forest Service is required to consider alternatives to proposed actions and the impacts that may be 
unavoidable. We may not get the Forest Service's approval to undertake a project or may be required to take alternative action, depending 
on the results of the environmental studies.  

       Underground Storage Tank Regulations  

        We have underground storage tanks ("USTs") on our ski resort properties in Ohio, New Hampshire, New York Pennsylvania and 
Vermont for the purpose of storing gasoline, fuel oil and propane that we use in the operation of our resorts, lodges and skier service 
buildings. The federal Solid Waste Disposal Act gives the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") the authority to regulate USTs. State 
UST programs that are at least as strict as the federal regulations and that have been approved by the EPA govern the USTs in lieu of the 
federal regulations. The objectives of the state UST programs are to ensure that:  

•USTs are properly constructed and designed in accordance with recognized industry standards;  
•installations, repairs and removals are conducted and inspected by qualified and trained individuals;  
•active USTs are properly operated and monitored for the release of substances; and  
•upon closure, USTs are properly decommissioned and sites are assessed for contamination.  

        We believe that the USTs at our facilities meet all state and federal construction and operation standards. Compliance with these UST 
regulations has not had a material impact on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position, and we do not expect it to have a 
material impact in the future.  

Employees   
        We, together with our operating subsidiaries, currently employ approximately 630 year-round employees. During the height of our ski 
season, we employ approximately 6,000 seasonal employees.   

Availability of Information  
  

Our principal executive offices are located at 17409 Hidden Valley Drive, Wildwood, Missouri 63025, telephone (636) 938-7474. We 
maintain a website at www.peakresorts.com. We make available on our website, free of charge, the Company's annual reports on Form 10-K, 
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K as soon as practicable after we file these reports with the SEC. Reports filed 
with the SEC can be read or copied at the SEC’s Public  
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Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE., Washington, DC 20549.  The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference 
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, 
and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC (http://www.sec.gov).  

  

Item 1A. Risk  Factors.  

You should carefully read and consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information set forth in this 
annual report on Form 10-K. Our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and the trading price of our common 
stock could be materially and adversely harmed by any of the following risks. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we 
currently believe are immaterial may also significantly impair our business operations.  

Risks Related to the Company –  

         Our industry is sensitive to weakness in the economy, and we are subject to risks associated with the overall leisure industry.  

        Weak economic conditions in the U.S. could have a material adverse effect on our industry. An economic downturn could reduce 
consumer spending on recreational activities such as those our resorts offer, resulting in decreased skier visits and consumer spending at 
our ski resorts. Such events could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. In addition, we may be unable to increase the price of our lift tickets, season passes or other offerings during an economic 
downturn despite our history of being successful in raising such prices under a variety of economic conditions.  

         Our business is vulnerable to the risk of unseasonably warm weather conditions and skier perceptions of weather conditions.  

        The ability to attract visitors to our resorts is influenced by weather conditions and by the number of cold weather days during the ski 
season. Unseasonably warm weather can adversely affect skier visits and our revenue and profits. For example, warm weather may result in 
inadequate natural snowfall and render snowmaking wholly or partially ineffective in maintaining quality skiing conditions. Also, the early 
season snow conditions and skier perceptions of early season snow conditions influence the momentum and success of the overall season. 
There is no way for us to predict future weather patterns, including any such patterns caused by climate change, or the impact that weather 
patterns may have on our results of operations or visitation.  

         Our business is highly seasonal and the occurrence of certain events during our peak times could have a negative effect on our 
revenues.  

        Our resort operations are highly seasonal. Although the air temperatures and timing and amount of snowfall can influence the number 
and type of skier visits, the majority of the skier visits are from mid-December to early April. Accordingly, during the past two fiscal years, 
we generated, on average, 88.3% of our revenues during the third and fourth fiscal quarters. In addition, throughout our peak quarters, we 
generate the highest revenues on weekends and during three major holiday periods: Christmas, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day and 
Presidents Day. During the 2015/2016  ski season, we generated 31.4% of our revenues on weekends and 19.4% of our revenues during 
these three major holiday periods. Our resorts typically experience operating losses and negative cash flows during the first and second 
quarters of each fiscal year, as a result of the seasonality of our business. Operating results for any three-month period are not indicative of 
the results that may be achieved for any subsequent quarter or for a full fiscal year.  

        A high degree of seasonality in our revenues and our dependence on weekends and the three major ski holidays increases the impact 
of certain events on our operating results. Adverse weather conditions, equipment failures, and other developments of even moderate or 
limited duration occurring during these peak business periods could significantly reduce our revenues.  

We may require additional funding in order to complete our existing capital improvement projects, commence new capital 
improvement projects and fund operations.  
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The Company experienced lower than normal liquidity levels at the end of fiscal 2016 due primarily to lower revenues resulting from 
unfavorable weather conditions and delays in the release of the EB-5 investment funds from escrow.  Our ability to fund the ongoing 
Carinthia Ski Lodge and West Lake capital improvement projects, other capital improvement projects, and operations generally will depend 
on the amount of cash generated by our operations and the availability of additional sources of funding.  Our projections of cash flows from 
operations and, consequently, future cash needs are subject to uncertainty.   

We are actively exploring financing opportunities.  The amount of funding that we seek and the timing of such fundraising efforts 
will depend on the extent to which we are able to increase revenues and the availability of the EB-5 investment funds.  We cannot guarantee 
that adequate funds will be available when needed, and if we do not receive sufficient capital, we may be required to alter or reduce our 
capital improvement plans.  If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, existing stockholders may be diluted.  

Even if we are able to raise additional financing, we might not be able to obtain it on terms that are not unduly expensive or 
burdensome to the company or disadvantageous to our existing shareholders.  

Even if we are able to raise additional cash or working capital through the public or private sale of debt or equity securities or 
short-term loans, the terms of such transactions may be expensive to the Company or disadvantageous to our existing shareholders. For 
example, we may sell or issue our securities at discounts to market, or pursuant to terms and conditions that may favor the investor, 
including dividend, voting, board membership, conversion, redemption or liquidation provisions; the issuance of securities with anti-
dilution provisions; and the grant of registration rights. If we issue additional equity securities to obtain funding, such an issuance may 
result in dilution to the existing holders of our common stock who do not have anti-dilution rights. An issuance of additional equity 
securities would result in a reduction of an existing shareholder’s percentage interest in our Company. If we raise debt financing, we may be 
required to secure the financing with our business assets, which could be sold or retained by the creditor should we default in our payment 
obligations.  

We may not be able to fully utilize our net operating loss carryforwards.  

        We believe that uncertainty exists with respect to the future realization of the loss carryforwards as well as with respect to the amount 
of the loss carryforwards that will be available in future periods. To the extent available, we intend to use these net operating loss 
carryforwards to offset future taxable income associated with our operations. There can be no assurance that we will generate sufficient 
taxable income in the carryforward period to utilize any remaining loss carryforwards before they expire.  

        In addition, Section 382 and related provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), contains rules that limit 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes the ability of a company that undergoes an "ownership change" to utilize its net operating losses and 
certain other tax attributes existing as of the date of such ownership change. Under these rules, such an ownership change is generally an 
increase in ownership by one or more "five percent shareholders," within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code, of more than 50% of a 
company's stock, directly or indirectly, within a rolling three-year period. In connection with our initial public offering in November 2014, a 
change of ownership in the Company occurred pursuant to the provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986. As a result, usage of our net 
operating loss carryforwards will be limited each year; however, we believe the full benefit of those carryforwards will be realized prior to 
their respective expiration dates.  

         Variations in the timing of peak periods, holidays and weekends may affect the comparability of our results of operations.  

        Depending on how peak periods, holidays and weekends fall on the calendar, in any given year we may have more or fewer peak 
periods, holidays and weekends in our third fiscal quarter compared to prior years, with a corresponding difference in our fourth fiscal 
quarter. These differences can result in material differences in our quarterly results of operations and affect the comparability of our results 
of operations.  

         We compete with other leisure activities and ski resorts, which makes maintaining our customer base difficult.  

        The skiing industry is highly competitive and capital intensive. Our ski resorts located in the Northeastern U.S., such as Hunter 
Mountain, Mount Snow, Attitash and Wildcat Mountain, and those located in the Southeastern U.S. (which includes  
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Pennsylvania for purposes of ski industry statistics), such as Jack Frost and Big Boulder, compete against other ski resorts in their markets 
for both day and overnight drive skiers. Our competitive position depends on a number of factors, such as the quality and coverage of 
snowmaking operations, resort size, the attractiveness of terrain, lift ticket prices, prevailing weather conditions, the appeal of related 
services and resort reputation. Some of our competitors have stronger competitive positions in respect of one or more of these factors, 
which may adversely affect our ability to maintain or grow our customer base.  

        We believe that while our Midwestern U.S. ski resorts face only limited competition from other ski resorts in the area, our competitors in 
the Midwest primarily include other recreation resorts, including warm weather resorts and various alternative leisure activities. Our resorts 
in the Northeastern and Southeastern U.S. face similar competition, in addition to the competition outlined above. Our ability to maintain our 
levels of skier visits depends on, among other things, weather conditions, costs of lift tickets and related skier services relative to the costs 
of other leisure activities and our ability to attract people interested in recreational sports.  

         Changes in consumer tastes and preferences may affect skier visits at our ski resorts.  

        Our success depends on our ability to attract visitors to our ski resorts. Changes in consumer tastes and preferences, particularly those 
affecting the popularity of skiing, snowboarding and tubing, and other social and demographic trends could adversely affect the number of 
skier visits during a ski season. Furthermore, a reduction in average household income in some of the areas near our resorts, compared to 
historic levels, combined with the increasing cost of skiing, snowboarding and tubing, may make these activities unaffordable for a large 
percentage of that population. A significant decline in skier visits compared to historical levels would have a material adverse effect on our 
business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  

         We may not be able to pay dividends on our common stock.  

        We declared our first quarterly cash dividend on our common stock in January 2015 and continued to declare quarterly dividends 
through January 2016 at a quarterly rate of $0.1375 per share. The board made the decision in April 2016 that it would not be prudent to 
declare a dividend due to lower cash levels primarily caused by the delay in approval of our EB-5 program,  as well as the unseasonably 
warm weather during the 2015/2016 ski season which drove down revenue compared to the prior season.  We cannot assure you that this 
initial dividend rate will be reinstated or that we will continue to pay dividends in the future. The declaration and payment of future 
dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on many factors, including 
our actual results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, restrictions in our debt agreements, 
economic conditions and other factors that could differ materially from our current expectations. For example, the Master Credit Agreement 
includes financial covenants consisting of a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the 
Company and certain of its subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, and a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage 
Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) covenant, which (a) requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service 
reserve account if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls below 1.50:1.00, and (b) prohibits the Company from 
paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during default situations under the terms of the 
Master Credit Agreement. Furthermore, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by the 
factors described in this "Risk Factors" section, which could limit our ability to pay dividends in the future. As of our most recent fiscal year 
end, our fixed charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, but was above the 1.25:1.00 ratio. As a result, we are required to increase 
the balance of our debt service reserve account by $3.3 million.  EPR has agreed to delay the additional interest reserve payment until the 
end of the 2016/2017 ski season.   

         Our ability to declare and pay dividends is dependent on cash flow generated by our subsidiaries because we are a holding 
company.  

        We are a holding company with no operations. Our subsidiaries own most of the assets that will generate income. Therefore, our ability 
to declare and pay dividends is dependent on the generation of cash flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such cash available 
to us, by dividend, distribution or otherwise. Our subsidiaries may not be able or permitted to make distributions to enable us to make 
dividend payments in respect of our common stock. Each of our subsidiaries is a distinct legal entity, and, under certain circumstances, legal 
and contractual restrictions may limit our ability to obtain cash from them. In addition, any future financing or other arrangements that our 
subsidiaries enter into could limit their ability to make distributions to us. In addition, the Master Credit Agreement limits certain of our 
subsidiaries' ability to make distributions to us in the event of a default, or if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls 
below  
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1.25:1.00. In the event that we do not receive distributions from our subsidiaries, we may be unable to make dividend payments on our 
common stock. As of our most recent fiscal year end, our fixed charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, but was above the 
1.25:1.00 ratio.      

         We may engage in acquisitions that could harm our business, operating results or financial condition.  

        A key component of our business strategy is to identify and acquire properties that are complementary to our core business. We 
frequently evaluate potential acquisitions and intend to actively pursue acquisition opportunities, some of which could be significant. For 
example, our acquisition of Mount Snow in 2007 involved the addition of property and operations that made up 26% of our revenues during 
the 2007 ski season. Our failure to merge the Mount Snow operations with our existing operations and effectively manage the additional 
large-scale property would have had a material negative effect on our results of operations.  

        We cannot make assurances that we will be able to successfully integrate and manage acquired properties and businesses and increase 
our profits from these operations. The integration of acquired businesses may not be successful and could result in disruption to other 
parts of our business. In addition, the integration may require that we incur significant restructuring charges. To integrate acquired 
businesses, we must implement our management information systems, operating systems and internal controls, and assimilate and manage 
the personnel of the acquired operations. The difficulties of the integrations may be further complicated by such factors as geographic 
distances, lack of experience operating in the geographic market or industry sector of the acquired business, delays and challenges 
associated with integrating the business with our existing businesses, diversion of management's attention from daily operations of the 
business, potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired business, the potential for deficiencies in internal controls at the 
acquired business, performance problems with the acquired business' technology, exposure to unanticipated liabilities of the acquired 
business, insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisition, and our ability to achieve the growth 
prospects and synergies expected from any such acquisition. Even when an acquired business has already developed and marketed 
products and services, there can be no assurance that product or service enhancements will be made in a timely fashion or that all pre-
acquisition due diligence will have identified all possible issues that might arise with respect to such acquired assets.  

        Future acquisitions may also cause us to assume liabilities, record goodwill and intangible assets that will be subject to impairment 
testing and potential impairment charges, incur amortization expense related to certain intangible assets and increase our expenses and 
working capital requirements, which would reduce our return on invested capital. Failure to manage and successfully integrate the 
acquisitions we make could materially harm our business and operating results.  

         We may be unsuccessful in identifying suitable acquisition candidates which may negatively impact our growth strategy.  

        There can be no assurance given that we will be able to identify additional suitable acquisition candidates or consummate future 
acquisitions or strategic transactions on acceptable terms. Our failure to successfully identify additional suitable acquisition candidates or 
consummate future acquisitions or strategic transactions on acceptable terms could have an adverse effect on our prospects, business 
activities, cash flow, financial condition, results of operations and stock price.  

If we experience any service interruptions, data corruption, cyber or other security breaches, our operations could be 
disrupted.  
  

We rely on our information technology systems, which may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or shutdowns as a result of, for 
example, failures during the process of upgrading or replacing technology, power outages, hardware failures, computer viruses, computer 
hackers, telecommunication failures, user errors, or even catastrophic events.  If our information technology systems suffer severe damage, 
disruption or shutdown and our business continuity plans do not effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, our business maybe 
disrupted, resulting in an inability to operate the effected resorts.  

We also possess sensitive customer and employee information and may provide such data to third parties for analysis, benefit 
distribution or compliance purposes. While we believe we have taken reasonable and appropriate steps to protect that information, hackers 
and data thieves operate sophisticated, large-scale attacks that could breach our information systems, despite ongoing security measures. 
Consequently, a security breach could result in unauthorized disclosure of confidential information.   In addition, we are required to comply 
with increasingly complex regulations designed to protect our business and personal data.   
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Any breach of our network security, a third-party’s network security or failure to comply with applicable regulations may result in 
(a) the loss of valuable business data and/or our customers’ or employees’ personal information, (b) increased costs to implement additional 
protections and processes, (c) a disruption of our business and a loss of revenue, (d) damage to our relationships and reputation, and (e) 
fines or lawsuits.  In addition, the costs related to cyber or other security threats or breaches may not be fully insured or indemnified.  

         We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations in the ordinary course of business.  

        Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to 
emissions to the air; discharges to water; storage, treatment and disposal of wastes; land use; remediation of contaminated sites; and 
protection of natural resources such as wetlands. For example, future expansions of certain of our ski facilities must comply with applicable 
forest plans approved under the National Forest Management Act or local zoning requirements. In addition, most projects to improve, 
upgrade or expand our ski resorts are subject to environmental review under the National Environmental Policy Act. Both acts require that 
the U.S. Forest Service study any proposal for potential environmental impacts and include in its analysis various alternatives. Our ski 
resort improvement proposals may not be approved or may be approved with modifications that substantially increase the cost or decrease 
the desirability of implementing the project.  

        Our facilities are subject to risks associated with mold and other indoor building contaminants. From time to time our operations are 
subject to inspections by environmental regulators or other regulatory agencies. We are also subject to worker health and safety 
requirements.  

        We believe our operations are in substantial compliance with applicable material environmental, health and safety requirements. 
However, our efforts to comply do not eliminate the risk that we may be held liable, incur fines or be subject to claims for damages, and that 
the amount of any liability, fines, damages or remediation costs may be material for, among other things, the presence or release of regulated 
materials at, on or emanating from properties we now own or lease and operate, or formerly owned, leased or operated, newly discovered 
environmental impacts or contamination at or from any of our properties, or changes in environmental laws and regulations or their 
enforcement.  

         The loss of our key executive officers could harm our business.  

        Our success depends to a significant extent upon the performance and continued service of our key management team which includes 
Timothy Boyd, our President and principal executive officer, Stephen Mueller, our Vice President and principal financial and accounting 
officer, and Richard Deutsch, our Vice President in charge of business and real estate development. The loss of the services of this 
management team and the failure to develop and maintain an adequate succession plan could have a material adverse effect on our business 
and operations because of Messrs. Boyd's, Mueller's and Deutsch's specific and unique knowledge of acquiring and operating multiple ski 
resorts, including day ski resorts and overnight drive ski resorts.  

         Failure to maintain the integrity of guest data could result in damage to our reputation and/or subject us to costs, fines or lawsuits.  

        We collect personally identifiable information relating to our guests for various business purposes, including marketing and 
promotional purposes. The integrity and privacy of our guests’ information is important to us, and our guests have a high expectation that 
we will adequately protect their personal information. The regulatory environment governing privacy laws is increasingly demanding, and 
privacy laws continue to evolve and, on occasion, may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another. Maintaining compliance with 
applicable privacy regulations may increase our operating costs and/or adversely impact our ability to market our products, properties and 
services to our guests. Furthermore, non-compliance with applicable privacy regulations by us (or in some circumstances non-compliance 
by third parties engaged by us), a breach of security on systems storing our guest data, a loss of guest data or fraudulent use of guest data 
could adversely impact our reputation or result in fines or other damages and litigation.  

         We are subject to risks related to certain payment methods.  

        We accept payments using a variety of methods, including credit cards, debit cards and gift cards. As we offer new payment options to 
consumers, we may be subject to additional regulations, compliance requirements and fraud. For certain  

  

18  
   



payment methods, including credit and debit cards, we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase over time and raise our 
operating costs and lower profitability. We are also subject to payment card association operating rules and certification requirements, 
including the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be 
reinterpreted to make it difficult for us to comply. As our business changes, we may also be subject to different rules under existing 
standards, which may require new assessments that involve costs above what we currently pay for compliance. While we are currently in 
compliance with all applicable rules and certification requirements, we may be subject to fines, higher transaction fees or loss of or 
restrictions on our ability to accept credit and debit card payments from customers if we are not in compliance with new rules and 
regulations or if the volume of fraud in our transactions rises to certain levels. If any of these events were to occur, our business, financial 
condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.  

         Our business requires significant capital expenditures to both maintain and improve our ski resorts and expand our business 
through acquisitions. The lack of available funds for these capital expenditures could have a material adverse effect on our operating 
strategy.  

        Sustaining our successful financial performance depends, in part, on our ability to maintain and improve the quality of our facilities, 
products, and management resources (either directly or through third parties), which requires significant capital expenditures. Capital 
expenditures for fiscal 2016 were approximately $16.9 million. To the extent that we are unable to obtain the funds necessary to maintain and 
grow our business with cash generated from operating activities, or from borrowed funds or additional equity investments, our financial 
condition and results of operations could be affected. Although we believe that capital expenditures above maintenance levels can be 
deferred to address cash flow or other constraints, these expenditures cannot be deferred for extended periods without adversely affecting 
our competitive position and financial performance.  

        Historically, a key element of our strategy has been attracting additional skiers through investment in on-mountain capital 
improvements. These improvements are capital intensive, and a lack of available funds for capital expenditures could have a material adverse 
effect on our ability to implement our operating strategy. We intend to finance resort capital improvements through internally generated 
funds and proceeds from the offering of debt and equity. There can be no assurance that sufficient funds will be available to fund these 
capital improvements or that these capital improvements will sustain our customer base, attract additional skiers or generate additional 
revenues.  

        Future acquisitions may require additional debt or equity financing, which in the case of debt financing, will increase our leverage and, 
in the case of equity financing, would be dilutive to our existing stockholders. Any decline in our perceived credit-worthiness associated 
with an acquisition could adversely affect our ability to borrow and result in more restrictive borrowing terms. As a result of the foregoing, 
we also may not be able to complete acquisitions or strategic transactions in the future to the same extent as in the past, or at all. These and 
other factors could harm our ability to achieve anticipated levels of profitability at acquired operations or realize other anticipated benefits of 
an acquisition, and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

         We are dependent on significant infrastructure and equipment.  

        Our infrastructure and equipment, including snowmaking equipment and ski lifts, are costly to maintain, repair and replace and are 
susceptible to unscheduled maintenance. Much of our infrastructure and equipment will eventually need to be replaced or significantly 
repaired or modernized, which could result in interruptions to our business, particularly during our peak periods. In certain cases, the cost of 
infrastructure or equipment repair or replacement may not be justified by the revenues at the applicable resort.  

         The high fixed cost structure of ski resort operations can result in significantly lower margins if revenues decline.  

        The cost structure of ski resort operations has a significant fixed component with variable expenses including, but not limited to, resort 
related fees, credit card fees, retail/rental cost of sales and labor, ski school labor and dining operations. Any material declines in the 
economy, elevated geopolitical uncertainties and/or significant changes in historical snowfall patterns, as well as other risk factors 
discussed herein, could adversely affect revenue. As such, our margins, profits and cash flows may be materially reduced due to declines in 
revenue given our relatively high fixed cost structure. In addition, increases in wages and other labor costs, energy, healthcare, insurance, 
transportation, fuel, and other expenses included in our fixed cost structure may also reduce our margins, profits and cash flows.  
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         We generate a significant portion of our annual revenues from Mount Snow. Conditions or events that could negatively impact 
Mount Snow could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.  

        Revenue generated from Mount Snow in fiscal 2016 represented approximately 35.1% of our total fiscal 2016 revenues. Mount Snow, 
like our other resorts, is subject to various risks such as those described in this “Risk Factors” section, including natural disasters, changes 
in consumer leisure tastes, competition from other area ski resorts, decreased water supply and regional weather. The occurrence of such 
events or conditions that negatively impact Mount Snow would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of 
operations.  

         Cancellation of the Immigrant Investor Program or our failure to successfully raise capital under the program's guidelines could 
adversely affect our ability to execute our growth strategy and improve our resorts.  

        Developing our resort at Mount Snow and continuing to improve our resorts overall are significant elements of our growth strategy. In 
addition, we have been advised by the State of Vermont that we must relocate our water reservoir to help sustain the natural habitat of 
certain species of fish. We intend to finance these developments—the Carinthia Ski Lodge Project and the West Lake Project—with funds 
raised under the U.S. government's Immigrant Investor Program, commonly known as the "EB-5 program." The EB-5 program was first 
enacted in 1990 to stimulate the U.S. economy through the creation of jobs and capital investments in U.S. companies by foreign investors. 
In turn, these foreign investors are, pending petition approval, granted visas for lawful residence in the U.S. Under the EB-5 program, a 
limited number of visas are reserved for such foreign investors each year.  

        The Carinthia Ski Lodge Project includes the construction of Carinthia Ski Lodge, and the West Lake Project includes the 
construction of a new water storage reservoir for snowmaking with capacity of up to 120 million gallons. We conducted an offering to raise 
$52.0 million to fund the Carinthia Ski Lodge Project and the West Lake Project.  As of April 30, 2016, we had commitments for $52.0 million 
in Partnership investments, all of which has been funded and is being held in escrow.  Since that date, we have had 3 investors withdraw 
for personal reasons, which is allowed under the program while the fund are still in escrow.  Each investor originally contributed 
$0.5 million.  It is the Company’s intent to replace the withdrawn funds with funds from new investors.  We are currently 
following up with several potential investors to replace the withdrawn funds.    In addition, the Company is still waiting on the first 
investor’s approval with regards to our approved EB-5 program.  In anticipation of the EB-5 approval, which would release all funds from 
escrow, the Company has spent more than $13 million of our working capital on starting the West Lake Construction project.  Additional 
delays in the first investor’s approval or a failure to approve the first investor may result in the Company having insufficient funds to 
complete the Carinthia Ski Lodge Project or West Lake Project or implement future plans to improve our resorts.  

  

        The current EB-5 program as it relates to the Regional Center Pilot Program term expires on September 30, 2016. Though the program has 
been regularly reinstated since its inception in 1990, there is no guarantee that it will be reauthorized upon the expiration in 2016. 
Furthermore, we cannot guarantee that we will successfully raise sufficient funds under the EB-5 program in order to complete the Carinthia 
Ski Lodge Project or West Lake Project, or implement future plans to improve our resorts. In either of those cases, conventional financing 
options, such as loans, may prove too costly or may not be available, which could result in cancellation of our development and 
improvement plans and have a material adverse effect on our business. Please see Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Significant Uses of Cash" for further details about the 
EB-5 program and Mount Snow development projects.  

         We lease all or some of the land underlying certain of our resorts from third parties.  

        We lease some or all of our property at Paoli Peaks and Mad River from third parties. Our lease at Paoli Peaks terminates in 2078 and our 
lease at Mad River terminates in 2034. Combined, these resorts contributed 7.9% of our total revenues for the year ended April 30, 2016. A 
termination of any of these leases could negatively impact our results of operations.  

         A substantial portion of the skiable terrain at certain of our resorts is used under the terms of Forest Service permits.  
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        A substantial portion of the skiable terrain at our Attitash and Mount Snow resorts and all of the land underlying the Wildcat 
Mountain resort is federal land that is used under the terms of permits with the U.S. Forest Service. The permits give the U.S. Forest Service 
the right to review and comment on the location, design, and construction of improvements in the permit area and on certain other 
operational matters. The permits can also be terminated or modified by the U.S. Forest Service for specific compelling reasons or in the event 
we fail to perform any of our obligations under the permits. Otherwise, the permits may be renewed. A termination or modification of any of 
our permits could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. Currently, our permits expire as follows:  

  

         We rely on information technology to operate our businesses and maintain our competitiveness, and any failure to adapt to 
technological developments or industry trends could harm our business.  

        We depend on the use of information technology and systems, including technology and systems used for central reservations, point 
of sale, procurement and administration. We must continuously improve and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to offer enhanced 
products, services, features and functionality, while maintaining the reliability and integrity of our systems and infrastructure. Our future 
success also depends on our ability to adapt our infrastructure to meet rapidly evolving consumer trends and demands and to respond to 
competitive service and product offerings.  

        In addition, we may not be able to maintain our existing systems or replace or introduce new technologies and systems as quickly as we 
would like or in a cost-effective manner. Delays or difficulties in implementing new or enhanced systems may keep us from achieving the 
desired results in a timely manner, to the extent anticipated, or at all. Any interruptions, outages or delays in our systems, or deterioration in 
their performance, could impair our ability to process transactions and could decrease our quality of service that we offer to our guests. 
Also, we may be unable to devote financial resources to new technologies and systems in the future. If any of these events occur, our 
business and financial performance could suffer.  

         We currently rely on one lender and its affiliates as a source for the majority of our financing and credit.  

        We have historically relied on one lender and its affiliates, EPR, for substantially all of our financing and credit needs, including 
financing relating to our resort acquisitions. EPR is an entertainment, entertainment-related, recreation and specialty real estate company 
with its common stock listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "EPR". In the event EPR is not available to extend us credit, 
we may not be able to obtain financing on terms as favorable to us as those under our arrangements with EPR. As a result, we may be 
subject to more stringent financial covenants and higher interest rates.  

         We depend on a seasonal workforce.  

        Our mountain and lodging operations are highly dependent on a large seasonal workforce. We recruit year-round to fill thousands of 
seasonal staffing needs each season and work to manage seasonal wages and the timing of the hiring process to ensure the appropriate 
workforce is in place. We cannot guarantee that material increases in the cost of securing our seasonal workforce will not be necessary in 
the future. Furthermore, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to recruit and hire adequate seasonal personnel as the business requires. 
Increased seasonal wages or an inadequate workforce could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.  

         We are subject to litigation in the ordinary course of business because of the nature of our business.  

        The safety of guests and employees is a major concern and focus for all managers and employees of the Company. By the nature of our 
activities, we are exposed to the risk that guests or employees may be involved in accidents during the use, operation or maintenance of ski 
lifts, rides and other resort facilities. As a result, we are, from time to time, subject to various asserted or unasserted legal proceedings and 
claims. Any such claims, regardless of merit, could be time-consuming and  

  

     

Ski Resort   Special Use Permit Expiration Date 
Attitash   April 4, 2047 

Mount Snow   April 4, 2047 
Wildcat Mountain   November 18, 2050 
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expensive to defend and could divert management's attention and resources. While we believe we have adequate insurance coverage and/or 
accrue for loss contingencies for all known matters that are probable and can be reasonably estimated, we cannot assure that the outcome 
of all current or future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on us and our results of operations.  

         If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business could be harmed.  

        We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, rapid growth. This growth has placed significant demands on our 
management, operational and financial infrastructure. To manage growth effectively, we must continue to improve and enhance our 
managerial, operational and financial controls, train and manage our employees, and expand our employee base. We must also manage new 
and existing relationships with vendors, business partners and other third parties. These activities will require significant expenditures and 
allocation of valuable management resources. If we fail to maintain the efficiency of our organization as we grow, our profit margins may 
decrease, and we may be unable to achieve our business objectives.  

         A disruption in our water supply would impact our snowmaking capabilities and impact our operations.  

        Our operations are heavily dependent upon our access to adequate supplies of water with which to make snow and otherwise conduct 
our operations. Our resorts in New Hampshire and Vermont are subject to state laws and regulations regarding our use of water. There can 
be no assurance that applicable laws and regulations will not change in a manner that could have an adverse effect on our operations, or 
that important permits, licenses, or agreements will not be canceled or will be renewed on terms as favorable as the current terms. Any failure 
to have access to adequate water supplies to support our current operations and anticipated expansion would have a material adverse effect 
on our financial condition and results of operations.  

         Our lender has an option to purchase, or assume our leases relating to, certain of our ski resorts. If our lender exercises this option, 
we would incur significant tax obligations.  

        On December 1, 2014, in connection with the Debt Restructure, we entered into an Option Agreement with EPT Ski Properties, Inc. 
providing EPR a purchase option on the Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big Boulder and Alpine Valley ski resorts. The Option 
Agreement provides that the purchase option will be exercisable as to any one or more of such properties on the maturity date of the 
applicable promissory notes for such properties upon (i) proper notice by EPR and (ii) payment of a purchase price for each such property 
calculated in accordance with the Option Agreement. Upon the closing of any sale under the option, EPR will enter into an agreement with 
the Company or one of its subsidiaries for the lease of each such acquired property for an initial term of 20 years, plus options to extend the 
lease for two additional periods of 10 years each.  

Over the years, we have depreciated the value of these properties pursuant to applicable accounting rules, and as such, we have a 
low adjusted tax basis in the properties. As a result, we will realize significant taxable gains on the sale of the properties to EPT Ski 
Properties, Inc. if the option is exercised. We may be required to pay income taxes on the taxable gains from such sale, which we expect to be 
a substantial cost.  

         Under certain circumstances, our insurance coverage may not cover all possible losses, and we may not be able to renew our 
insurance policies on favorable terms, or at all.  

        Although we maintain various property and casualty insurance policies, our insurance policies do not cover all types of losses and 
liabilities and in some cases may not be sufficient to cover the ultimate cost of claims which exceed policy limits. If we are held liable for 
amounts exceeding the limits of our insurance coverage or for claims outside the scope of our coverage, our business, prospects, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.  

        In addition, we may not be able to renew our current insurance policies on favorable terms, or at all. Our ability to obtain future 
insurance coverage at commercially reasonable rates could be materially adversely affected if we or other companies within or outside our 
industry sustain significant losses or make significant insurance claims.  

         We are subject to risks associated with our workforce.  
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        We are subject to various federal and state laws governing matters such as minimum wage requirements, overtime compensation and 
other working conditions, discrimination and family and medical leave. In addition, we are continuing to assess the impact of U.S. federal 
healthcare reform law and regulations on our healthcare benefit costs, which will likely increase the amount of healthcare expenses paid by 
us. Immigration law reform could also impact our workforce because we recruit and hire foreign nationals as part of our seasonal workforce. 
If our labor-related expenses increase, our operating expenses could increase and our business, financial condition and results of operations 
could be harmed.  

         We are structured as a holding company and have no assets other than the common stock of our subsidiaries.  

        We are a holding company and we do not currently have any material assets other than the common stock we own in our direct and 
indirect subsidiaries. Our working capital needs are dependent, in part, upon the receipt of dividends and other distributions from our 
subsidiaries. Certain laws may restrict or limit such payments to us by our subsidiaries, in which case we may need to seek other sources of 
funding.  

         A natural disaster could damage our property and reduce the number of guests who visit our resorts.  

        A severe natural disaster, such as a forest fire, flood or landslide, may interrupt our operations, damage our properties and reduce the 
number of guests who visit our resorts in affected areas. Damage to our properties could take a long time to repair and there is no guarantee 
that we would have adequate insurance to cover the costs of repair or the expense of the interruption to our business. Furthermore, such a 
disaster may interrupt or impede access to our affected properties or require evacuations and may cause visits to our affected properties to 
decrease for an indefinite period. The ability to attract visitors to our resorts is also influenced by the aesthetics and natural beauty of the 
outdoor environment where our resorts are located. A severe forest fire or other severe impacts from naturally occurring events could 
negatively impact the natural beauty of our resorts and have a long-term negative impact on our overall guest visitation as it would take 
several years for the environment to recover.  

         We will not be required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to have our independent registered public accounting firm 
formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls while we qualify as an "emerging growth company." If we are unable to 
establish and maintain effective internal controls, or those controls are not identified during management review of our internal 
controls, our financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.  

        In fiscal year 2016, management hired a consulting firm to assist us in our evaluation and implementation of an internal control structure 
to comply with the SEC rules for implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  We, as management, are required to make a formal 
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for that purpose. Our independent registered public 
accounting firm, however, is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until we are 
no longer an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startup Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). At such time, our 
independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our 
controls are documented, designed or operating. Further, we may take advantage of other accounting and disclosure related exemptions 
afforded to "emerging growth companies" from time to time. If we are unable to establish and maintain effective internal controls, our 
financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.  

         Climate change and greenhouse effects may adversely impact our results of operations.  

        There is a growing political and scientific consensus that emissions of greenhouse gases continue to alter the composition of the 
global atmosphere in ways that are affecting and are expected to continue affecting the global climate. The effects of climate change, 
including any impact of global warming, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.  

        Warmer overall temperatures would likely adversely affect skier visits and our revenue and profits. As noted above, warm weather may 
result in inadequate natural snowfall and render snowmaking wholly or partially ineffective in maintaining quality skiing conditions. In 
addition, a steady increase in global temperatures could shorten the ski season in the future.  
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        Physical risks from climate change may also include an increase in changes to precipitation and extreme weather events in ways we 
cannot currently predict. Such changes to the amount of natural snowfall and extreme differences in weather patterns may increase our 
snowmaking expense, inhibit our snowmaking capabilities and negatively impact skier perceptions of the ski season.  

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock  

The market price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your 
investment.  

Prior to our initial public offering, there had been no public market for shares of our common stock. The market price of our common 
stock has been and may continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. 
In addition to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this annual  report on Form 10-K, factors that could 
cause fluctuations in the market price of our common stock include the following:  

• quarterly variations in our results of operations;  
  
• results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;  
  
• changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts and investors;  
  
• announcements by us, our competitors or our vendors of significant contracts, acquisitions, joint marketing relationships, joint 
ventures or capital commitments;  
  
• announcements by third parties of significant claims or proceedings against us;  
  
•  fluctuations in trading volume;  

  
• future sales of our common stock; and  
  
• changes in investor sentiment toward the stock of ski resort and recreational services companies in general.  

        Furthermore, the stock market has experienced extreme volatility that in some cases has been unrelated or disproportionate to the 
operating performance of particular companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our 
common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.  

        In the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation. If we were involved in 
securities litigation, it could be a substantial cost and divert resources and the attention of executive management from our business 
regardless of the outcome of such litigation.  

         Requirements associated with being a public company will increase our costs, as well as divert Company resources and 
management's attention, particularly after we are no longer an "emerging growth company," and may affect our ability to attract and 
retain qualified board members and executive officers.  

        As a public company, we are required to comply with the SEC's rules implementing Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
which requires our management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual 
management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. We are required to make our first assessment of our 
internal control over financial reporting in fiscal 2016. Our independent registered public accounting firm, however, will not be required to 
formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting so long as we qualify as an emerging growth company.  

        We are working with our legal, independent accounting, and financial advisors to identify those areas in which changes or 
enhancements should be made to our financial and management control systems to manage our growth and obligations as a public 
company. Some such areas include corporate governance, corporate control, internal audit, disclosure controls and procedures, and 
financial reporting and accounting systems. We have made, and will continue to make, changes in these and  
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other areas. However, the expenses that will be required in order to function adequately as a public company could be material.  

        Compliance with the various reporting and other requirements applicable to public companies will also require considerable time and 
attention of management. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of the additional costs we may incur, the timing of such costs or the 
impact that our management's attention to these matters will have on our business. In addition, the changes we make may not be sufficient 
to satisfy our obligations as a public company on a timely basis or at all.  

        In addition, being a public company could make it more difficult or more costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including 
directors' and officers' liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher 
costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified 
persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees and our executive team.  

         Our principal stockholders may exert substantial influence over us and may exercise their control in a manner adverse to your 
interests.  

        Timothy D. Boyd, Stephen J. Mueller and Richard K. Deutsch, our three named executive officers, own approximately 16.1% of our 
outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise a significant level of control over all matters requiring 
stockholder approval, including the election of directors, amendment of our amended and restated articles of incorporation and approval of 
significant corporate transactions. This ability could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of the Company or 
changes in management and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these stockholders. 
It is possible that these persons will exercise control over us in a manner adverse to your interests.  

         We are an "emerging growth company" with reduced reporting requirements that may make our common stock less attractive to 
investors.  

        We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the JOBS Act, and may take advantage of certain exemptions from various 
reporting requirements that are applicable to public companies generally. As discussed above, for so long as we remain an emerging growth 
company, we may elect not to have our independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of 
our internal control over financial reporting, as would otherwise be required by Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This may increase 
the risk that we fail to detect and remedy any weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting.  

        In general, these reduced reporting requirements may allow us to refrain from disclosing information that you may find important. It is 
also possible that investors may generally find our common stock less attractive because of our status as an emerging growth company and 
our more limited disclosure. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect the price and liquidity of our common stock.  

        We may take advantage of these disclosure exemptions until we are no longer an "emerging growth company." We could be an 
emerging growth company until the last day of the first fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our first common equity offering, 
although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier if our annual revenues exceed $1.0 billion, if we issue more than $1.0 billion 
in non-convertible debt in any three-year period or if we become a "large accelerated filer" as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act.  

         Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline.  

        If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the 
market price of our common stock could decline. These sales might also make it more difficult for us to sell additional equity securities at a 
time and price that we deem appropriate. All of the shares of our common stock sold in our initial public offering are freely tradable in the 
public market, except for any shares held by our affiliates as defined in Rule 144 of the Securities Act.  

        We also registered all 559,296 shares of common stock that we may issue under the Peak Resorts, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan that 
has been adopted by the board of directors and stockholders.  These shares can be freely sold in the public  
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market upon issuance, subject to vesting conditions.    As of April 30, 2016, 63,741 restricted stock units were issued to independent 
directors, of which 5,334 were forfeited, resulting in a remaining balance of 500,889 shares available for issuance.   

         If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their 
recommendations regarding our common stock, or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our stock price and trading 
volume could decline.  

        The trading market for our common stock may be influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish 
about us or our business. Securities analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of our common stock. This lack of research 
coverage could adversely affect the price of our common stock. We do not have any control over these reports or analysts. If any of the 
analysts who cover our Company downgrades our stock, or if our operating results do not meet the analysts' expectations, our stock price 
could decline. Moreover, if any of these analysts ceases coverage of our Company or fails to publish regular reports on our business, we 
could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.  

         We have anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents that may discourage a change of control.  

        Certain provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws may have an anti-takeover 
effect and may delay, defer or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including 
those attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by our stockholders.  

        These provisions provide for, among other things:  

• advance notice for nominations of directors by stockholders and for stockholders to include matters to be considered at our 
annual meetings;  
  
• certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings;  
  
• the removal of directors only for cause by our board of directors or upon the affirmative vote of holders of at least 662/3% of the 
shares of common stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; and  
  
• that the amended and restated by-laws may only be amended by our board of directors.  

        These anti-takeover provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire our Company, even if the third party's offer may 
be considered beneficial by many of our stockholders. As a result, our stockholders may be limited in their ability to obtain a premium for 
their shares.  

  
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.  
  
              None  

  
  

Item 2. Properties.  
  
The following table sets forth the principal properties that we own or lease for use in our operations at fiscal year end:  

  

  

Ski Resort/Location Ownership Usage 
Hidden Valley (250 total acres; 60 
skiable acres) 
Wildwood, MO 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities; headquarters offices 
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(1) The Paoli Peaks lease terminates in 2078.  

(2) The Mad River lease terminates in 2034. The Company has the right of first refusal should the Mad River lessor put the property up for 
sale. In addition, the Company has the right to acquire the Mad River property at specified prices in December 2019 and December 2026.  

(3)  A substantial portion of the skiable terrain at Attitash and Mount Snow is federal land that we use pursuant to the terms of renewable 
permits with the U.S. Forest Service. The Attitash and Mount Snow Special Use Permits expire on April 4, 2047.  

(4) All of the land underlying Wildcat Mountain is federal land that we use pursuant to the terms of a renewable permit with the U.S. Forest 
Service. The Wildcat Mountain Special Use Permit expires on November 18, 2050.  

  

  

  

Snow Creek (460 total acres; 40 
skiable acres) 
Weston, MO 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Paoli Peaks (65 total and skiable 
acres) 
Paoli, IN 

 Partially leased/partially 
owned (1)  

Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Mad River (324 total acres; 60 
skiable acres) 
Zanesfield, OH 

Leased (2) Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Boston Mills (100 total acres; 40 
skiable acres) 
Sagamore Hills, OH 

Owned  Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage facilities 

Brandywine (102 total acres; 48 
skiable acres) 
Sagamore Hills, OH 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Crotched Mountain (251 total acres; 
105 skiable acres) 
Bennington, NH 

Owned  Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage facilities 

Jack Frost (201 total acres; 80 
skiable acres) 
Blakeslee, PA 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Big Boulder (107 total acres; 65 
skiable acres) 
Blakeslee, PA 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Attitash (1,134 total acres; 307 
skiable acres) 
Bartlett, NH 

Partially owned/partially 
used per terms of a Special 
Use Permit (3) 

Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities, food/beverage 
facilities, hotel/lodging facilities and conference/meeting 
rooms 

Mount Snow (588 total acres; 490 
skiable acres) 
West Dover, VT 

Partially owned/partially 
used per terms of a Special 
Use Permit (3) 

Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities, food/beverage 
facilities, hotel/lodging facilities, conference/meeting 
rooms and developable land 

Wildcat Mountain (225 total and 
skiable acres) 
Jackson, NH 

Used per terms of a Special 
Use Permit(4) 

Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage facilities 

Alpine Valley (135 total acres; 54 
skiable acres) 
Chesterland, OH 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities and food/beverage 
facilities 

Hunter Mountain (1,537 total acres, 
220 skiable acres) 
Hunter, NY 

Owned Ski resort operations, including ski lifts, ski trails, terrain 
park, tubing, rental/retail facilities, food/beverage 
facilities, hotel/lodging facilities and conference/meeting 
rooms 
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings  
  

       We are not aware of any pending or threatened legal proceedings against us that could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
operating results or financial conditions. The ski industry is characterized by periodic litigation and as a result, we may be involved in 
various additional legal proceedings from time to time.  

  
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures  
  
       None.  
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PART II  
  

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  
  

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “SKIS” since November 21, 2014 following 
the completion of our initial public offering. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock. As of July 14, 2016, 
13,982,400 shares of our common stock were outstanding, held by approximately 29 holders of record.  

The following table sets forth information on the high and low sales prices of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market and the 
quarterly cash dividends declared per share of common stock for each quarterly period since our initial public offering:  

  

  
  
*The first cash dividend declared was pro rated for a 73-day period from the effective date of the Company’s       initial 
public offering through the end of the Company’s third fiscal quarter.   
  
In fiscal 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved the commencement of a regular quarterly cash dividend on our 

common stock at an annual rate of $0.55 per share, subject to quarterly declarations.  The board made the decision in April 2016 that 
it would not be prudent to declare a dividend due to lower cash levels of the company due to the delay in approval of our EB-5 
program.  The reinstatement or paying of regular quarterly dividends is subject to the discretion of our board of directors, applicable 
law and contractual restrictions.  

  

The declaration and payment of future dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the sole discretion of our board of 
directors and will depend on many factors, including our actual results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual 
restrictions, restrictions in our debt agreements, economic conditions and other factors that could differ materially from our current 
expectations. For example, the Master Credit Agreement includes financial covenants consisting of a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined in 
the Master Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional 
indebtedness, and a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) covenant, which (i) requires 
the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls 
below 1.50:1.00, and (ii) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also 
prohibited during default situations under the terms of the Master Credit Agreement.  For a more complete description of the Master Credit 
Agreement and applicable restrictions, see Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Significant Sources of Cash” and Note 4, “Long-term Debt” to our consolidated financial 
statements.  As of our most recent fiscal year end, our fixed charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, but was above the 1.25:1.00 
ratio.  As a result, we are required to increase the balance of our debt service reserve account by $3.3 million.  EPR has agreed to delay the 
additional interest reserve payment until the end of the 2016/2017 ski season.  

  
Stock Performance Graph  

  

 Market price per share 

Quarter ended High Low Cash dividends declared per share 

April 30, 2016 $ 5.58  $ 2.60  $ - 
January 31, 2016 $ 7.70  $ 5.04  $ 0.1375 
October 31, 2015 $ 7.75  $ 6.50  $ 0.1375 

July 31, 2015 $ 7.73  $ 6.25  $ 0.1375 
April 30, 2015 $ 7.82  $ 5.76  $ 0.1375 

January 31,2015 $ 9.19  $ 6.89  $ 0.1091* 
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Set forth below is a line graph comparing the percentage change in the cumulative total shareholder return on our common 

stock with the cumulative total return of the Russell 200 Index and the S&P Small Cap 600 Consumer Discretionary Index from May 1, 
2015, the first day of trading in fiscal year 2016, through April 30, 2016, our fiscal year end.  The following is based on an investment 
of $100 in our common stock, the Russell 2000 Index and the S&P Small Cap 600 Consumer Discretionary Index, with dividends 
reinvested where applicable.  

  

  
  
  

  
Source: Bloomberg  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.  

  
The table below summarizes our selected consolidated financial information as of and for the periods indicated. You 

should read the following selected consolidated financial data together with our consolidated financial statements and related 
notes filed as part of this annual report.  Our historical results for any prior period are not necessarily indicative of results to 
be expected in any future period. The data presented in the table and footnotes below are in thousands, except for diluted 
net income (loss) per share attributed to Peak Resorts, Inc. and the revenue per skier visit amounts.  

  

Picture 3

 Period Ending 

Index 5/1/2015 4/30/2016 

Peak Resorts 100.00 51.09 

Russell 2000 100.00 93.43 

S&P Small Cap 600 Consumer Discretionary 100.00 92.38 
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________________________  

  

 Year ended April 30, 
 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 
 
Income Statement Information 
Revenues $ 95,729  $ 104,858  $ 105,205  $ 99,688  $ 82,044  

Operating expense (1) 72,215  78,586  78,833  72,437  67,285  
Depreciation and Amortization 10,709  9,450  9,155  8,850  9,510  
Land and building rent 1,386  1,440  1,464  1,428  1,679  
Settlement of lawsuits -    (2,100) 700  -    -    
Gain on involuntary conversion 195  -    -    -    -    
Interest expense, net 10,814  15,458  17,359  12,785  11,516  
Defeasance fee paid with debt restructure -    5,000  -    -    -    
Gain on sale/leaseback 333  333  333  333  333  

Write off of incremental stock issuance cost -    -    -    -    1,168  
Investment income 8  11  11  9  23  

Income (loss) before income tax (2) (5,304) (2,632) (1,962) 4,530  (8,757) 
Net income (loss) $ (3,226) $ (1,854) $ (1,501) $ 2,707  $ (5,295) 
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.23) $ (0.22) $ (0.38) $ 0.68  $ (1.33) 
Other Financial Information (unaudited) 

Reported EBITDA (3) $ 16,240  $ 25,400  $ 25,365  $ 25,939  $ 13,031  
Capital expenditures $ 16,338  $ 14,144  $ 10,028  $ 14,900  $ 21,817  
Other Data (unaudited) 
Operations: 

Skier visits (4) 1,166  1,554  1,570  1,520  1,221  

Revenue per skier visit (5) $ 82.11  $ 67.45  $ 67.02  $ 65.53  $ 67.22  

Revenue per visit (6) $ 73.32  $ 61.34  $ 60.06  $ 59.14  $ 60.94  
Tube visits 140  155  182  166  125  
Total visits 1,306  1,709  1,752  1,686  1,346  
Other Balance Sheet Data 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,396  $ 16,849  $ 13,186  $ 11,971  $ 6,179  

Restricted cash (7) $ 61,099  $ 37,519  $ 13,063  $ 12,141  $ 11,036  
Total assets $ 313,963  $ 241,540  $ 206,537  $ 201,749  $ 185,043  

Long-term debt and capitalized lease obligations 
(including current portions and line of credit) (8) $ 140,718  $ 100,062  $ 175,148  $ 171,525  $ 160,729  

Net debt (9) $ 135,322  $ 83,213  $ 161,962  $ 159,554  $ 154,550  
Dividends declared  $ 5,768  $ 3,449  $ -    $ -    $ -    
Total stockholders' equity $ 71,634  $ 80,438  $ 3,488  $ 4,990  $ 2,282  

(1)   Operating expenses before depreciation and amortization and land and building rent. 
(2)   The Company was an S-corporation for federal and state income tax purposes until April 30, 2011 when it 

terminated its S-corporation election. As a result, we did not have a provision for income taxes for fiscal 2011. 
The Company revoked its S-corporation election effective April 30, 2011. In connection with the revocation, 
deferred income taxes were reinstated for the tax effect of temporary differences.  Net income and basic and 
diluted earnings per share assuming a pro forma tax adjustment for the year ended April 30, 2011 were $3.9 
million and $0.97, respectively, after giving effect to the 100 for 1 common stock split. 

(3)   See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-
GAAP Financial Measures” for a definition of Reported EBITDA and reconciliation to net income (loss). 

(4)   A skier visit represents a person utilizing a ticket or pass to access a mountain resort for any part of one day 
and includes both paid and complimentary access and excludes tube visits. 
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Item 7.   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 
financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.  In addition to historical condensed 
consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. See “Cautionary Note About Forward-Looking Statements”  included elsewhere in this 
annual report on Form 10-K.  

  
Overview  

We own or lease and operate 14 ski resorts throughout the Midwestern, Northeastern and Southeastern U.S. Our ski resorts, which 
include both day ski resorts and overnight drive ski resorts, offer snow skiing, snowboarding and other snow sports. During the last two ski 
seasons, we had an average of 1.4 million skier visits each year.  

We and our subsidiaries operate in a single business segment—resort operations. The consolidated financial data for our fiscal 
years ended April 30, 2016, 2015, and 2014 presented in this annual report is comprised of the data of our 14 ski resorts. Also included in the 
financial information presented are ancillary services, primarily consisting of food and beverage services, equipment rental, ski instruction, 
hotel/lodging and retail.  

The opening and closing dates of our ski resorts are dependent upon weather conditions, but our peak ski season generally runs 
from early December to mid-April. See Item 1, “Business—Seasonality” for an illustration of the opening and closing dates for the 2011/2012 
through 2015/2016 ski seasons for our 14 ski resorts.  

We, like other day ski resort and overnight drive ski resort operators, earn our revenues in six principal categories. In order of their 
contribution, they are: lift and tubing tickets, food and beverage sales, equipment rentals, ski instruction, hotel/lodging, and retail. For more 
detailed information about each revenue category, see "Business—Revenue Components."  

Our single largest source of revenue is the sale of lift tickets (including season passes) which represented approximately 47.6%, 
48.5% and 49.1% of net revenue for fiscal 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Lift ticket revenue is driven by the volume of lift tickets and 
season passes sold and the pricing of these items. Most of our season pass products are sold before the start of the ski season. Season 
pass revenue, although collected prior to the ski season, is recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss) over the ski season 
based upon the estimated length of the season. For the 2015/2016, 2014/2015 and 2013/2014 ski seasons, approximately 38.1%, 29.9% and 
28.2%, respectively, of total lift revenue recognized was comprised of season pass revenue. There can be no assurance that future season 
pass sales will be similar to historical trends.  

The cost structure of our operations has a significant fixed component with variable expenses including, but not limited to, retail 
and food and beverage cost of sales, labor, power and utilities. As such, profit margins can fluctuate based on the level of revenues.  

Seasonality and Quarterly Results  

  

(5)   Revenue per skier visit is calculated by dividing total revenue by total skier visits during the respective periods. 
(6)   Revenue per visit is calculated by dividing total revenue by total visits (ski and tube) during the respective 

periods. 
(7)   As of April 30 of each year, the end of our fiscal year, we are required to include in restricted cash interest due 

on our outstanding debt with EPR, our primary lender, and rent under the lease for the Mad River resort for the 
10 months following April 30.  In addition, the Company is holding funds in escrow in connection with its 
efforts to raise funds under the EB-5 investor program for the development of Mount Snow. See Item 7, 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and 
Capital Resources—Significant Uses of Cash” for a discussion of the EB-5 program. 

(8)  The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, “Interest—Imputation of Interest 
(Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs,” which requires debt issuance costs related to a 
recognized debt liability to be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, 
and no longer permits recording these costs as assets. The new guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 
15, 2015. As early adoption is permitted, we have elected to incorporate the early adoption of this guidance into our financial 
statement presented herein, including applying the guidance retrospectively to all prior periods presented.     

(9)   Net debt is defined as long-term debt and capital lease obligations plus long-term debt and capital lease 
obligations due within one year, less cash and cash equivalents. 
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Our resort operations are seasonal in nature. In particular, revenue and profits for our operations are substantially lower and 
historically result in losses from late spring to late fall, which occur during our first and second fiscal quarters. Revenue and profits 
generated by our summer operations are not sufficient to fully offset our off-season expenses from our operations. During fiscal 2016 and 
2015, 88.3% and 89.0%, respectively, of resort revenues were recognized in the third and fourth fiscal quarters. Therefore, the operating 
results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for any subsequent quarter or for a full year.  

Recent Trends  

The timing and duration of favorable weather conditions impact our revenues in regard to the timing and number of skier visits. 
Though the amount of snowfall early in the ski season does encourage skier visits, all of our ski resorts have snowmaking capabilities in the 
event that the natural snowfall is insufficient. Cold weather, however, is essential to a successful ski season. There is no way to predict 
favorable weather conditions in the future. We sell season passes prior to the start of the ski season to help mitigate any negative effects 
that unfavorable weather may have on our revenues.  Driven by the positive response for the newly introduced Peak Pass product for the 
2016/2017 season, overall unit presales were up 40 percent, compared to the prior year, resulting in pass-related deferred revenue growth of 
29 percent over the same time period.  

We faced significant weather challenges during the 2015/2016 ski season due to unseasonably warm weather in the Midwest and 
the Northeast. Early season warm weather significantly impacted our Christmas season. The warmer weather continued throughout the 
season causing lower visits. The acquisition of Hunter Mountain in January 2016 mitigated the impact. Fiscal 2016 Reported EBITDA was 
$16.2 million, down $9.2 million from fiscal 2015, and revenue for fiscal 2016 was down $9.1 million from fiscal 2015. Though we have 
increased the prices of most of our lift tickets, passes and other products and services in each of the last two ski seasons, there can be no 
assurance that we will be able to increase prices in the future or predict the impact that pricing increases may have on visitation or revenue.  

Our skier visits of 1.2 million in fiscal 2016 were down 25.0%from fiscal 2015. This compares to a 28.1% decrease in total U.S. skier 
visits to Northeast resorts and a 16.7% decrease in total U.S. skier visits to Midwest resorts reported by the NSAA’s Kottke National End 
Season Survey 2015/2016 Preliminary Report. Our total resort visits, which include tube visits, were down 23.6% from fiscal 2015. Total visits 
to our Northeast resorts were down from 1.07 million in fiscal 2015 to 0.85 million in fiscal 2016. Total visits to our Midwest resorts decreased 
from 0.64 million in fiscal 2014 to 0.45 million in fiscal 2016. Total visits during the Christmas period were down from 0.13 million in fiscal 2015 
to 0.08 million in fiscal 2016, due to the adverse weather impacting the Christmas holiday period primarily at our Midwest resorts. Total visits 
other than during the three holiday periods (Christmas, MLK Weekend and President’s Weekend) were down from 1.3 million in fiscal 2015 
to 0.96 million in fiscal 2016.  In addition, season pass holder visits decreased from 0.60 million in fiscal 2015 to 0.41in fiscal 2016, while pay-
per-visit total visits decreased from 0.95 million in 2015 to 0.76 million in fiscal 2016.  The warm weather continued into the early spring ski 
season affecting visits. March and April visits were 0.15 million in fiscal 2016 down from 0.33 million in fiscal 2015.  

Recent Events  

Financing/Liquidity  

The Company has experienced lower than normal liquidity levels as of the end of fiscal 2016.  The weather during the ski season 
was unfavorably warm which resulted in fewer ski days and lower profitability for the Company.  In addition, the Company is still waiting on 
the first investor’s approval with regards to our approved EB-5 program.  In anticipation of the EB-5 approval, which would release all funds 
from escrow and allow those funds to spend on project related activies, the company has spent more than $13 million of our working capital 
on starting the West Lake Construction project, which is part of the overall Mt. Snow Development Project.  The Company received 
approval for a $10 million short term financing option which would provide additional liquidity until the start of our 2016/2017 ski 
season.  The Company has not yet executed the loan, as we continue to wait for EB-5 approval.  If EB-5 is not approved in the next few 
months, the Company will need to execute on this loan.  The board made the decision in April 2016 that it would not be prudent to declare a 
dividend due to lower cash levels primarily caused by the delay in the approval of our EB-5 program, as well as the unseasonably warm 
weather during the 2015/2016 ski season which drove down revenue compared to the prior season.    

In addition, the Master Credit Agreement includes financial covenants consisting of a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 
Master Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional 
indebtedness, and a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) covenant, which (a) requires 
the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls 
below 1.50:1.00, and (b) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. As of our most recent fiscal year end, 
our fixed charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, but was above the 1.25:1.00 ratio.  As a result, the Company must increase the 
balance of its debt service  
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reserve by $3.3 million.  EPR has agreed to defer the payment of the reserve until the end of the 2016/2017 ski season.  The Company 
continues to explore financing options to fund short and long-term capital needs.   

The company has received approval for a $10 million short term financing option, if needed, to assist with the remainder of our 
summer season if our EB-5 projects first investor approval is not received in the near term.  The board made the decision April 2016 that it 
would not be prudent to declare a dividend due lower cash levels of the company due to the delay in approval our EB-5 program.  In 
addition, the company is also working on evaluating various alternatives, to assist with our long term liquidity.  Please refer below in the 
MD&A section for more specific information on our liquidity, the EB-5 program, and the West Lake construction project.      

  

Resort Acquisition  

On January 6, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of the Hunter Mountain ski resort located in Hunter, New York, 
through the purchase of all of the outstanding stock of each of Hunter Mountain Ski Bowl, Inc., Hunter Mountain Festivals, Ltd., Hunter 
Mountain Rentals, Inc., Hunter Resort Vacations, Inc., Hunter Mountain Base Lodge, Inc., and Frosty Land, Inc. pursuant to the terms of 
the Purchase Agreement entered into on November 30, 2015.  The Company acquired Hunter Mountain for total cash consideration of $35.0 
million plus the assumption of two capital leases estimated at approximately $1.7 million.  

A portion of the Hunter Mountain acquisition price was financed pursuant to the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, and the 
remainder was financed with funds drawn on the Company’s Line of Credit Agreement with Royal Banks of Missouri. See “Liquidity and 
Capital Resources—Significant Sources of Cash” for additional information.  

We have included Hunter Mountain’s results of operations in our financial statements since the date of acquisition.  

Initial Public Offering and Debt Restructure  

During fiscal 2015, we completed the initial public offering of our common stock, selling 10,000,000 shares at $9.00 per share. After 
deducting $6.3 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and $1.4 million of offering expenses payable by us, we received net 
proceeds of $82.3 million.  With the proceeds from the offering, we (i) repaid approximately $75.8 million of our outstanding debt; (ii) paid 
approximately $0.4 million to acquire the portion of the land underlying Crotched Mountain that we previously leased; and (iii) paid a 
defeasance fee to our lender of $5.0 million in connection with the prepayment of a portion of our debt. We used the remaining proceeds for 
working capital and general corporate purposes.  

On November 10, 2014, in connection with our initial public offering, we entered into a Restructure Agreement EPR, our primary 
lender, providing for the Debt Restructure as follows: (i) prepayment of approximately $75.8 million of formerly non-prepayable debt secured 
by the Crotched Mountain, Attitash, Paoli Peaks, Hidden Valley and Snow Creek resorts with proceeds from our in initial public offering; 
and (ii) retirement of one of the notes associated with the future development of Mount Snow. On December 1, 2014, we entered into various 
agreements in order to effectuate the Debt Restructure.  See “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Significant Sources of Cash” for a more 
detailed description of the Debt Restructure and related documents.  

In exchange for the prepayment right, we granted EPR a purchase option on the Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big Boulder 
and Alpine Valley properties, subject to certain conditions.  If EPR exercises a purchase option, EPR will enter into an agreement with the 
Company for the lease of each such acquired property for an initial term of 20 years, plus options to extend the lease for two additional 
periods of ten years each. All previously existing option agreements between the Company and EPR were terminated.  

Additionally, we agreed to extend the maturity dates on all non-prepayable notes and mortgages secured by the Mount Snow, 
Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big Boulder and Alpine Valley properties remaining after the Debt Restructure by seven years to 
December 1, 2034, and to extend the lease for the Mad River property, previously terminating in 2026, until December 31, 2034.  

We also granted EPR a right of first refusal to provide all or a portion of the financing associated with any purchase, ground lease, 
sale/leaseback, management or financing transaction contemplated by the Company with respect to any new or existing ski resort property 
for a period of seven years or until financing provided by EPR for such transactions equals or exceeds $250 million in the aggregate. 
Proposed financings from certain types of institutional lenders providing a loan to value ratio of less than 60% (as relates to the applicable 
property being financed) are excluded from the right of first refusal. We granted EPR a separate right of first refusal in the event that the 
Company wishes to sell, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of any or all of the Attitash ski resort for seven years.  The Attitash right 
excludes the financing or mortgaging of Attitash.  
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In connection with the Debt Restructure, we entered into a Master Credit and Security Agreement with EPR containing additional 
terms and conditions governing our restructure debt with EPR, including restrictions on certain transactions and the payment of dividends 
and required financial covenants.  

Capital Projects  

We had one major capital project in fiscal 2016. We started the construction of the West  Lake project which will be financed 
through the EB-5 program, once our first investor is approved.  The West Lake project includes the construction of a new water storage 
reservoir for snowmaking with capacity of up to 120 million gallons.  

We had three major capital projects in fiscal 2015. We replaced aging and inefficient snow making equipment at our Attitash, 
Mount Snow and Wildcat resorts with new high efficiency equipment.  

We had one major capital project in fiscal 2014. At Alpine Valley in Ohio, we replaced the pump house and maintenance buildings, 
significantly improved our snowmaking capacity and improved our uphill capacity with the addition of two ski lifts.  

  
  

Results of Operations  
  
  
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our results of operations (dollars in thousands):  

  

  

 

 Year ended April 30, 

Percent 
increase 

(decrease) 

Percent 
increase 

(decrease) 
 2016 2015 2014 2016/2015 2015/2014 
 
Revenues 
  Lift and tubing tickets $ 45,541  $ 50,821  $ 51,672  -10.4% -1.6% 
  Food and beverage 15,816  18,927  18,638  -16.4% 1.6%  
  Equipment rental 7,036  8,017  8,584  -12.2% -6.6% 
  Ski instruction 6,580  7,242  7,130  -9.1% 1.6%  
  Hotel/lodging 7,972  7,623  7,479  4.6%  1.9%  
  Retail 4,560  5,261  4,811  -13.3% 9.4%  
  Summer activities 4,309  3,671  3,646  17.4%  0.7%  
  Other 3,915  3,296  3,245  18.8%  1.6%  

 95,729  104,858  105,205  -8.7% -0.3% 
Costs and Expenses 

Resort operating expenses 
 Labor and labor related expenses 39,331  38,744  38,950  1.5%  -0.5% 
 Retail and food and beverage cost of sales  7,735  9,571  9,122  -19.2% 4.9%  
 Power and utilities 6,839  6,950  8,500  -1.6% -18.2% 
 Other 18,310  17,405  17,370  5.2%  0.2%  

 72,215  72,670  73,942  -0.6% -1.7% 
Depreciation and amortization 10,709  9,450  9,155  13.3%  3.2%  
General and administrative expenses 4,513  4,088  3,240  10.4%  26.2%  
Land and building rent 1,386  1,440  1,464  -3.8% -1.6% 
Real estate and other taxes 1,932  1,828  1,651  5.7%  10.7%  
Settlement of lawsuit -    -    700  0.0%  100.0%  

 90,755  89,476  90,152  1.4%  -0.7% 
Other operating income 
Gain on settlement of lawsuit -    2,100  -    -100.0% 100.0%  
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures  

Reported EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under U.S. GAAP.  The following table includes a reconciliation of Reported 
EBITDA to net income (loss) (in thousands):  

  

We have chosen to specifically include Reported EBITDA (defined as net income before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization, gain on sale leaseback, investment income, other income or expense and other non-recurring items) as a measurement of our 
results of operations because we consider this measurement to be a significant indication of our financial performance and available capital 
resources.  Because of large depreciation and other charges relating to our ski resorts, it is difficult for management to fully and accurately 
evaluate our financial results and available capital resources using net income. Management believes that by providing investors with 
Reported EBITDA, investors will have a clearer understanding of our financial performance and cash flow because Reported EBITDA: (i) is 
widely used in the ski industry to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to items excluded from the calculation of such 
measure, which can vary by company primarily based upon the structure or existence of their financing; (ii) helps investors to more 
meaningfully evaluate and compare the results of our operations from period to period by removing the effect of our capital structure and 
asset base from our operating structure; and (iii) is used by our management for various purposes, including as a measure of performance of 
our operating entities and as a basis for planning.  

  

Gain on involuntary conversion 195  -    -    100.0%  0.0%  

Income from Operations 5,169  17,482  15,053  -70.4% 16.1%  

Other Income (expense) 

Interest, net of interest capitalized of $867, $488 and $344 
in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (10,814) (15,458) (17,359) -30.0% -11.0% 

Defeasance fee paid with debt restructure -    (5,000) -    100.0%  0.0%  
Gain on sale/leaseback 333  333  333  0.0%  0.0%  
Investment income  8  11  11  -27.3% 0.0%  

 (10,473) (20,114) (17,015) -47.9% 18.2%  

 
Loss before income tax benefit (5,304) (2,632) (1,962) 101.5%  34.1%  
Income tax benefit (2,078) (778) (461) 167.1%  68.8%  

Net Loss  $ (3,226) $ (1,854) $ (1,501) 74.0%  23.5%  

Total reported EBITDA $ 16,240  $ 25,400  $ 25,365  -36.1% 0.1%  

 
 Year ended April 30 
 2016 2015 2014 
 
Net income (loss) $ (3,226) $ (1,854) $ (1,501) 
Income tax benefit (2,078) (778) (461) 
Interest expense, net 10,814  15,458  17,359  
Defeasance fee paid with debt restructure -    5,000  -    
Depreciation and amortization 10,709  9,450  9,155  
Investment income (8) (11) (11) 
Gain on sale/leaseback (333) (333) (333) 
Gain on involuntary conversion (195) -    -    
Insurance loss 400  -    -    

Hunter Mountain season pass liability acquisition adjustment 157  -    -    
Non-routine legal and settlement of lawsuit, net -    (1,532) 1,157  

 $ 16,240  $ 25,400  $ 25,365  
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Items excluded from Reported EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing financial performance or liquidity. 
Reported EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as alternative to, or substitute for, net income, net change in cash and cash 
equivalents or other financial statement data presented in the consolidated financial statements as indicators of financial performance or 
liquidity. Because Reported EBITDA is not a measurement determined in accordance with GAAP and is susceptible to varying calculations, 
Reported EBITDA as presented may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.  

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015  

Lift and tubing revenue decreased $5.3 million, or 10.4%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015.  Season pass sales and seasonal program 
sales decreased $0.6 million, or 3.5%, from fiscal 2015 to fiscal 2016. The decrease in lift and tubing revenue relates primarily to the decrease 
in skier visits. The decrease was mitigated by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Food and beverage revenue decreased $3.1 million, or 16.4%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015, which is attributable to decreased skier 
visits. The decrease was mitigated by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Rental revenue decreased $1.0 million, or 12.2%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015, which is attributable to the decrease in resort skier 
visits.  The decrease was mitigated by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Ski instruction revenue decreased $0.7 million, or 9.1%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015, which is attributable to the decrease in skier 
visits. The decrease was mitigated by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Hotel and lodging revenue increased $0.3 million, or 4.6%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015, which is attributable to increased summer 
occupancy and the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Retail revenue decreased $0.7 million, or 13.3%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015, which is attributable to the decrease in skier 
visits. The decrease was mitigated by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Summer revenue increased $0.6 million, or 17.4%, for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015, which is attributable to the first season of the zip 
rider at our Attitash resort.  

Other revenue increased $0.6 million, or 18.8%, for fiscal 2016 versus 2015 as a result of the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Labor and labor related expenses increased $0.6 million, or 1.5%, for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015. Labor efficiencies and reduced days of 
operations contributed $2.4 million in labor and expense savings. Benefits and taxes contributed another $0.7 million in savings offset by the 
impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Retail and food and beverage cost of sales decreased $1.8 million, or 18.5%, for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015 as a result of decreased retail 
and food and beverage revenue offset by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Power and utility expense decreased $0.1 million, or 1.6%, for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015. The decrease in operating days reduced power 
and utility expense by $0.8 million offset by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Other resort operating expenses increased by $0.9 million, or 5.2%, for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015. The decrease in operating days reduced 
other resort operating expenses by $2.4 million offset by the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

Depreciation and amortization increased $1.2 million, or 13.1%, for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015 as a result of assets put in service in the 
current fiscal year and the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

General and administrative expenses increased $0.2  million, or 5.7%, for fiscal 2016 versus fiscal 2015 primarily due to an increase in 
corporate payroll costs.  

Real estate and other taxes increased $0.9 million , or 5.7%, as a result of the impact of the Hunter acquisition.  

The Company settled a lawsuit during fiscal 2015 which resulted in $2.1 million of income.  
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The decrease in interest expense net, of $4.0   million, was a result of reduced interest resulting from the pay down of debt as a part of the 
restructuring in December 2014, $0.6 million as a result in capitalized interest offset by the interest on the debt related to the Hunter 
acquisition.    

In connection with the Debt Restructure, the Company paid a $5.0 million defeasance fee to EPR in fiscal 2015.  

Income tax benefit increased $1.3 million as a result of an increase in the loss before income tax expense of $2.7 million for fiscal 2016 as 
compared to fiscal 2015.  

Comparison of Operating Results for the Years ended April 30, 2015 and 2014  

Lift and tubing revenue decreased $0.9 million, or 1.6%, for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.  Season pass sales and seasonal program 
sales increased $0.8 million, or 4.5%, from fiscal 2014 to fiscal 2015. The increase in revenue from season pass and seasonal program sales 
was offset by a decrease of $0.2 million in yield per skier visit and decreased revenue because of reduced visits of $1.5 million. Yield is 
determined by dividing lift revenue by skier visits.  

Food and beverage revenue increased $0.3 million, or 1.6%, for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, which is attributable to an increase in 
yield per skier visit of $0.5 million, offset by decreased skier visits of $0.1 million.  

Rental revenue decreased $0.6 million, or 6.6%, for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, which is attributable to the decrease in Midwest 
resort skier visits versus the increase in visits to our Northeast resorts. A higher percent of visitors to our Midwest resorts rent ski 
equipment compared to guests at our Northeast resorts.  

Ski instruction revenue increased $0.1 million, or 1.6%, for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, which is attributable to an increase in yield per 
skier visit of $0.2 million.  

Hotel and lodging revenue increased $0.1 million, or 1.9%, for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, which is attributable to increased skier 
visits in the Northeast resorts and increased summer occupancy.  

Retail revenue increased $0.5 million, or 9.4%, for fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014, which is attributable to an increase in yield per skier 
visit of $0.5 million.  

Labor and labor related expenses decreased $0.2 million, or 0.5%, for fiscal 2015 versus fiscal 2014. Labor efficiencies contributed $0.1 million 
in labor and labor related expense savings. Benefits and taxes contributed another $0.4 million in savings offset by $0.3 million in workman’s 
compensation expense as a result of increased rates.  

Retail and food and beverage cost of sales increased $0.4 million, or 4.9%, for fiscal 2015 versus fiscal 2014 as a result of increased retail and 
food and beverage revenue.  

Power and utility expense decreased $1.6 million, or 18.2%, for fiscal 2015 versus fiscal 2014 primarily as a result of a reduction in kilowatt 
hours used at our Attitash, Wildcat and Mount Snow resorts. This reduction in kilowatt hour usage is a result of the installation of energy 
saving snow gun technology in the current fiscal year. In addition, we were able to control peak energy usage resulting in lower per kilowatt 
hour rates.  

Depreciation and amortization increased $0.3 million, or 3.2%, for fiscal 2015 versus fiscal 2014 as a result of assets put in service in the 
current fiscal year.  

General and administrative expenses increased $0.8  million, or 26.2%, for fiscal 2015 versus fiscal 2014 primarily due to an increase in 
professional fees of $0.4 million primarily related to incremental public company expenses, $0.2 million related to an increase in salaries and 
related benefits and $0.2 million increase in advertising and other corporate expenses.   

The Company settled a lawsuit during fiscal 2015 which resulted in $2.1 million of income.  

The decrease in interest expense net, of $1.9 million, was a result of reduced interest resulting from the pay down of debt for fiscal 2015 
versus fiscal 2014, offset by an increase in interest rates. In addition, the Company paid $0.8 million in disputed interest related to the 
Attitash/Mount Snow Debt discussed herein.  
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In connection with the Debt Restructure, the Company paid a $5.0 million defeasance fee to EPR in fiscal 2015.  

Income tax benefit increased $0.3 million as a result of an increase in the loss before income tax expense of $0.7 million for fiscal 2015 versus 
fiscal 2014.    

  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  
  
Significant Sources of Cash  

Our available cash is the highest in our fourth quarter primarily due to the seasonality of our resort business. However, the 
Company has experienced lower than normal liquidity levels at the end of fiscal 2016.  The weather during the ski season was unfavorably 
warm which resulted in fewer ski days and lower profitability for the Company.  We had $5.4 million of cash and cash equivalents at April 30, 
2016 compared to $16.8 million at April 30, 2015. Cash of $10.6 million was provided by operating activities during the year ended April 30, 
2016 compared to $6.9 million of cash provided by the year ended April 30, 2015. We generate the majority of our cash from operations 
during the ski season, which occurs in our third and fourth quarters. We currently anticipate that Reported EBITDA will continue to provide 
a significant source of our future operating cash flows.  We expect that our liquidity needs for the near term and the next fiscal year will be 
met by continued use of operating cash flows (primarily those generated in our third and fourth fiscal quarters) and additional borrowings 
under our loan arrangements discussed below, as needed.    The Company continues to explore additional financing options to fund short 
and long-term future capital needs.  

We conducted an offering to raise $52.0 million to fund the Carinthia Ski Lodge Project and the West Lake Project.  As of April 30, 
2016, we had commitments for $52.0 million in Partnership investments, all of which has been funded and is being held in escrow.  Since that 
date, we have had 3 investors withdraw for personal reasons, which is allowed under the program while the fund are still in escrow. 
 It is the Company’s intent to replace the withdrawn funds with funds from new investors.  We are currently following up with 
several potential investors to replace the withdrawn funds.    The Company is still waiting on the first investor’s approval with regards to 
our approved EB-5 program.  Once the first investor’s application is approved, all of the funds will be released from escrow.  The Company 
has spent more than $13 million of our working capital on starting the West Lake Construction project, which will be reimbursed to the 
Company once the funds are released from escrow.  

The company has received approval for a $10 million short term financing option, if needed, to assist with the remainder of our 
summer season if our EB-5 projects first investor approval is not received in the near term.  In addition, the company is also working on 
evaluating various alternatives to assist with our long term liquidity. The board also made the decision April 2016 that it would not be 
prudent to declare a dividend due lower cash levels primarily driven by the delay in approval of our EB-5 program,  as well as the 
unseasonably warm weather during the 2015/2016 ski season which drove down revenue compared to the prior season.  

Long-term debt at April 30, 2016 and April 30, 2015 consisted of borrowings pursuant to the loans and other credit facilities with 
EPR, our primary lender.   As discussed in “Recent Events”, in November 2014, we entered into a Restructure Agreement with EPR 
providing for the prepayment of a portion of our outstanding debt. Furthermore, as discussed in “Resort Acquisition”, we entered into the 
Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement in connection with our acquisition of Hunter Mountain.  We have presented in the table below the 
borrowings at April 30, 2016 and April 30, 2015 (dollars in thousands):  

  

  

 

 2016 2015 

Attitash/Mount Snow Debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate (11.10% 
at April 30, 2016 and 10.93% at April 30, 2015); remaining principal and interest due on December 1, 2034  $ 51,050  $ 51,050  

Credit Facility Debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate (10.13% at April 
30, 2016 and 2015); remaining principal and interest due on December 1, 2034 37,562  37,562  
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Debt Restructure  

In connection with the Debt Restructure, the Company entered into the Master Credit Agreement with EPR governing the 
restructured debt with EPR. Pursuant to the Master Credit Agreement, EPR agreed to maintain the following loans to the Company following 
the prepayment of certain outstanding debt with proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering: (i) a term loan in the amount of 
approximately $51.1 million to the Company and its subsidiary Mount Snow, Ltd., (included in the table above as the “Attitash/Mount Snow 
Debt”); (ii) a term loan in the amount of approximately $23.3 million to the Company and its subsidiaries Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc. and 
Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. (the “Boston Mills/Brandywine Debt”); (iii) a term loan in the amount of approximately $14.3 million to the 
Company and its subsidiary JFBB Ski Areas, Inc. (the “JFBB Debt” and together with the Boston Mills/Brandywine Debt, included in the 
table above as the “Credit Facility Debt”); and (iv) a term loan in the amount of approximately $4.6 million to the Company and its subsidiary 
Sycamore Lake, Inc. (included in the table above as the “Sycamore Lake (Alpine Valley) Debt”).  

Interest will be charged at a rate of (i) 10.13% per annum as to each of the Boston Mills/Brandywine Debt and JFBB Debt; (ii) 
10.40% per annum as to the Sycamore Lake (Alpine Valley) Debt; and (iii) 10.93% per annum pursuant to the Attitash/Mount Snow 
Debt.  Each of the notes governing the restructured debt provides that interest will increase each year by the lesser of the following: (x) 
three times the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index as defined in the notes (“CPI”) from the CPI in effect on the applicable 
adjustment date over the CPI in effect on the immediately preceding adjustment date or (y) 1.5%.  Past due amounts will be charged a higher 
interest rate and be subject to late charges.  

The Master Credit Agreement further provides that in addition to interest payments, the Company must pay the following with 
respect to all restructured debt other than the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt: an additional annual payment equal to 10% of the gross receipts 
attributable to the properties serving as collateral of the restructured debt (other than Mount Snow) for such year in excess of an amount 
equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the annual interest payments payable pursuant to the notes governing the restructured debt 
(other than with respect to the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt) for the immediately preceding year by (ii) 10%.  The Company must pay the 
following with respect to the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt: an additional annual payment equal to 12% of the gross receipts generated at 
Mount Snow for such year in excess of an amount equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the annual interest payments payable under 
the note governing the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt for the immediately preceding year by (ii) 12%.   An additional interest payment of $0.2 
million was due for the year ended April  30, 2016.  

The Master Credit Agreement includes restrictions on certain transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, leases, asset sales, 
loans to third parties, and the incurrence of certain additional debt and liens. Financial covenants set forth in the Master Credit Agreement 
consist of a maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and certain of its 
subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, and a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Master 
Credit Agreement) covenant, which (i) requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company’s 
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio falls below 1.50:1.00 and (ii) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 
1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during default situations.  

  

Hunter Mountain debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate (8.0% at April 
30, 2016); remaining principal and interest due on January 5, 2036 21,000  -    

Sycamore Lake (Alpine Valley) Debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate 
(10.56% at April 30, 2016 and 10.40% at April 30, 2016); remaining principal and interest due on December 1, 
2034 4,550  4,550  

Wildcat Mountain Debt; payable in monthly installments of $27, including interest at a rate of 4.00%, with 
remaining principal and interest due on December 22, 2020  3,612  3,790  

Other debt  3,231  1,931  

Less unamortized debt issuance costs (1,903) (811) 
 
 119,102  98,072  

Less: current maturities  759  503  

 $ 118,343  $ 97,569  
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Wildcat Mountain Debt  

The Wildcat Mountain Debt due December 22, 2020 represents amounts owed pursuant to a promissory note in the principal 
amount of $4.5 million made by WC Acquisition Corp. in favor of Wildcat Mountain Ski Area, Inc., Meadow Green-Wildcat Skilift Corp. and 
Meadow Green-Wildcat Corp. (the “Wildcat Note”). The Wildcat Note, dated November 22, 2010, was made in connection with the 
acquisition of Wildcat Mountain, which was effective as of October 20, 2010. The interest rate as set forth in the Wildcat Note is fixed at 
4.00%.  

Hunter Mountain Debt  

The Hunter Mountain Debt due January 5, 2036 represents amounts owed pursuant to a promissory note (the “Hunter Mountain 
Note”) in the principal amount of $21.0 million made by the Company in favor of EPR pursuant to the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement in 
connection with the Company’s acquisition of Hunter Mountain, which was effective as of January 6, 2016.  The Company used $20.0 
million of the Hunter Mountain Debt to finance the Hunter Mountain acquisition and $1.0 million to cover closing costs and to add to its 
interest reserve account.  

The Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement and Hunter Mountain Note provide that interest will be charged at an initial rate of 8.00%, 
subject to an annual increase beginning on February 1, 2017 by the lesser of the following: (x) three times the percentage increase in the CPI 
(as defined in the Hunter Mountain Note) from the CPI in effect on the applicable adjustment date over the CPI in effect on the immediately 
preceding adjustment date or (y) 1.75%.  Past due amounts will be charged a higher interest rate and be subject to late charges.  

The Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement further provides that in addition to interest payments, the Company must pay an 
additional annual payment equal to 8.00% of the gross receipts in excess of $35.0 million that are attributable to all collateral under the 
Hunter Mountain Note for such year.  

The Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement includes restrictions or limitations on certain transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, 
leases, asset sales, loans to third parties, and the incurrence or guaranty of certain additional debt and liens. Financial covenants set forth in 
the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement consist of a maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement) of 65%, 
above which the Company is prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness. The Company must also maintain a consolidated fixed 
charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement) which (i) requires the Company to increase the balance of its 
debt service reserve account if the Company’s consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio falls below 1.50:1.00 and (ii) prohibits the Company 
from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during potential default or default 
situations.  

Under the terms of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, the occurrence of a change of control is an event of default. A change 
of control will be deemed to occur if (i) within two years after the effective date of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, the Company’s 
named executive officers (Messrs. Timothy Boyd, Stephen Mueller and Richard Deutsch) cease to beneficially own and control less than 
50% of the amount of the Company’s outstanding voting stock that they own as of the effective date of the Hunter Mountain Credit 
Agreement, or (ii) the Company ceases to beneficially own and control less than all of the outstanding shares of voting stock of those 
subsidiaries which are borrowers under the Hunter Mountain Credit  Agreement.  Other events of default include, but are not limited to, a 
default on other indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries.  

The Hunter Mountain Note may not be prepaid without the consent of EPR. Upon an event of default, as defined in the Hunter 
Mountain Note, EPR may, among other things, declare all unpaid principal and interest due and payable. The Hunter Mountain Note 
matures on January 5, 2036.  

As a condition to the Debt Restructure described above, the Company entered into the Master Cross Default Agreement with EPR 
(the “Master Cross Default Agreement”), which provides that any event of default under existing or future loan or lien agreements between 
the Company or its affiliates and EPR, and any event of default under the Mad River Lease Amendment, shall automatically constitute an 
event of default under each of such loan and lien agreements and Mad River Lease Amendment, upon which EPR will be entitled to all of the 
remedies provided under such agreements and Mad River Lease Amendment in the case of an event of default. In connection with entry 
into the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement on January 6, 2016, the Company entered into the Amended and Restated Master Cross-Default 
Agreement with EPR, which adds the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, Hunter Mountain Note and related transaction documents to the 
scope of loan agreements to which the cross-default provisions of the Master Cross Default Agreement apply.  

Also in connection with the Debt Restructure, the Company and EPR entered into the Guaranty Agreement (the “2014 Guaranty 
Agreement”).  The 2014 Guaranty Agreement obligates the Company and its subsidiaries as guarantors of all debt evidenced by the 
evidenced by the Master Credit Agreement and other Debt Restructure agreements.  On January 6, 2016, in connection with entry into the 
Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, the Company entered into a Guaranty Agreement  

  

41  
   



for the benefit of EPR, which adds the Company’s new Hunter Mountain subsidiary borrowers under the Hunter Mountain Credit 
Agreement as guarantors pursuant to the same terms of the 2014 Guaranty Agreement and adds the debt evidenced by the Hunter 
Mountain Credit Agreement and Hunter Mountain Note to the debt guaranteed by the Company pursuant to the 2014 Guaranty Agreement.  

Substantially all of the Company’s assets serve as collateral for the Company’s long term debt.  

Line of Credit  

Effective as of December 22, 2015, the Company entered into the Line of Credit Agreement with Royal Banks of Missouri.  The Line 
of Credit Agreement provides for a 12-month line of credit for up to $20.0 million to be used for acquisition purposes and working capital of 
up to 5.0% of the acquisition purchase price, subject to the Company’s ability to ability to extend the line of credit for up to an additional 12-
month period upon the satisfaction of certain conditions. In connection with entry into the Line of Credit Agreement, the Company executed 
a promissory note (the “Line of Credit Note”) in favor of Royal Banks of Missouri, maturing on December 22, 2016. In connection with the 
Hunter Mountain acquisition, the Company borrowed $15.5 million, of which $0.5 million was used for closing and other costs, to fund a 
portion of the purchase price. The line of credit debt is included as a current liability given the initial 12-month term.  

Interest on amounts borrowed under the line of credit are charged at the prime rate plus 1.0%, provided that past due amounts shall 
be subject to higher interest rates and late charges. The effective rate at April 30, 2016 was 4.5% on the line of credit borrowings.  Amounts 
outstanding under the Line of Credit Agreement are secured by the assets of each of the subsidiary borrowers under the Line of Credit 
Agreement.  

The Line of Credit Agreement includes restrictions or limitations on certain transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, leases, 
asset sales, loans to third parties, and the incurrence of certain additional debt and liens. Financial covenants set forth in the Line of Credit 
Agreement consist of a maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Line of Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company is prohibited 
from incurring additional indebtedness, and a debt service coverage ratio (as defined in the Line of Credit Agreement) of 1:25 to 1 on a fiscal 
year basis. The Company must also maintain a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) which 
(i) requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company’s consolidated fixed charge coverage 
ratio falls below 1.50:1.00 and (ii) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is 
also prohibited during potential default or default situations.  

If the outstanding line of credit debt is not paid in full by the maturity date, and the Company is otherwise is full compliance with 
the terms and conditions of the Line of Credit Agreement and Line of Credit Note, the Company may elect to convert the outstanding line of 
credit debt to a three-year term loan, subject to an additional extension, with principal payments amortized over a 20-year period bearing 
interest the prime rate plus 1.0% per annum.  

Except in the case of a default, the Company may prepay all or any portion of the outstanding line of credit debt and all accrued 
and unpaid interest due prior to the maturity date without prepayment penalty.  

In the case of a default, the outstanding line of credit debt shall, at the lender’s option, bear interest at the rate of 5.0% percent per 
annum in excess of the interest rate otherwise payable thereon, which interest shall be payable on demand.  

Under the terms of the Line of Credit Agreement, the occurrence of a change of control is an event of default. A change of control 
will be deemed to occur if (i) for so long as the line of credit debt is outstanding and such individuals are employed by the Company, the 
Company’s key shareholders (Messrs. Boyd, Mueller and Deutsch) cease to beneficially own and control less than 50% of the amount of 
the Company’s outstanding voting stock that they own as of the effective date of the Line of Credit Agreement, or (ii) the Company ceases 
to beneficially own and control less than all of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the subsidiary borrowers.  Other events of default 
include, but are not limited to, a default on other indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries.  

  

Fiscal 2016 compared to Fiscal 2015  

We generated  $11.3 million of cash in operating activities in fiscal 2016, an increase of $4.4 million when compared to the $6.9 
million generated fiscal 2015. The increase in operating cash flows was a result of an increase in accounts payable of $9.0 million due to past 
due balances from the ski season and amounts due related to the Westlake project, offset by the increased loss from operations and 
an increase in accounts receivable as a result of financing season pass purchases.   

Cash used in investing activities was $74.5 million compared to $36.7 million for fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015. The increase of 
 $37.8 million from fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015 was a result of increased additions to property and equipment, the business 
combination associated with the Hunter Mountain acquisition, and an increase in restricted cash.  
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The increase in restricted cash is a result of the EB-5 investor funds, as discussed below, held in escrow, offset by a decrease in the funds 
held in the interest reserve.  

Cash provided by financing activities increased by $20.0 million in fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 2015 because of the proceeds from 
the Hunter Loan financing, offset by increased distributions to stockholders and fewer additions to EB-5 funds held in escrow.   

Significant Uses of Cash  

Our cash uses currently include operating expenditures and capital expenditures for assets to be used in operations. We have 
historically invested significant cash in capital expenditures for our resort operations and expect to continue to invest in the future. Resort 
capital expenditures for fiscal 2016 were approximately $15.9 million of which $11.8 million is related to the West  Lake project. We currently 
anticipate we will spend approximately $3.0 million to $4.0 million on resort capital expenditures for fiscal 2017.   There are no major capital 
expenditure projects for fiscal 2017 anticipated. We currently plan to use cash on hand, borrowings and/or cash flow generated from future 
operations to provide the cash necessary to execute our capital plans and believe that these sources of cash will be adequate to meet our 
needs.  The Company is also considering other sources of financing options to meet long-term liquidity needs.  

In October 2014, we entered into a capital lease to finance the construction of the Zip Rider at Attitash.  The lease is payable in 60 
monthly installments of $37,000, commencing November 2014. The Company has a $1.00 purchase option at the end of the lease term. 
Messrs. Boyd, Mueller and Deutsch have personally guaranteed the lease.   
  

In addition, in June 2015, the Company entered into capital leases to finance the installation of Low-E snow guns at Mount Snow, 
Attitash and Wildcat, as well as to fund the purchase of groomers for Mount Snow and Attitash.  The Low-E snow guns lease is payable in 
48 monthly payments of $61,770 and the groomers lease is payable in 60 monthly payments of $23,489, both commencing July 2015.  The 
Company has a $1.00 purchase option at the end of each lease term.  Messrs. Boyd, Mueller and Deutsch have personally guaranteed the 
leases.  The Company originally funded these purchases during fiscal year 2015 with operating cash.  

  
We have $2.3 million in third party commitments currently outstanding with our main contractor on the Mount Snow 

development.  We may incur additional costs to support the ongoing Mount Snow development, subject to obtaining required permits and 
approvals. We plan to finance any future development activity through operating cash reserves, initial condominium deposits and bridge 
loans, which would be paid upon project completion mostly through the receipt of remaining committed condominium unit sales. We intend 
to fund our Mount Snow development by raising funds under the Immigrant Investor Program administered by the U.S. Citizenship and 
Immigration Services (‘‘USCIS’’) pursuant to the Immigration and Nationality Act. This program was created to stimulate the U.S. economy 
through the creation of jobs and capital investments in U.S. companies by foreign investors. The program allocates 10,000 immigrant visas 
(‘‘EB-5 Visas’’) per year to qualified individuals seeking lawful permanent resident status on the basis of their investment in a U.S. 
commercial enterprise. Under the regional center pilot immigration program first enacted in 1992, certain EB-5 Visas also are set aside for 
investors in regional centers designated by the USCIS based on proposals for promoting economic growth. Regional centers are 
organizations, either publicly owned by cities, states or regional development agencies or privately owned, which facilitate investment in 
job-creating economic development projects by pooling capital raised under the EB-5 Immigrant Investor Program. Areas within regional 
centers that are rural areas or areas experiencing unemployment numbers higher than the national unemployment average rates are 
designated as Targeted Employment Areas (‘‘TEA’’). The regional center pilot program was recently extended and is set to expire in 
September 2016.  Both the Senate and House leadership have been working on reforms to the program and various bills have been 
proposed.  We do not expect this process to have a negative effect on our current EB-5 offering.  We refer to the Immigrant Investor 
Program and the regional center pilot program herein as the ‘‘EB-5 program.’’  

We have established two wholly-owned subsidiary limited partnerships (collectively, the ‘‘Partnership’’) of Mount Snow to 
operate within a TEA within the State of Vermont Regional Center. Through the Partnership, we sought to raise $52.0 million by offering 
units in the Partnership to qualified accredited EB-5 investors for a subscription price of $500,000 per unit, which is the minimum investment 
that an investor in a TEA project is required to make pursuant to EB-5 program rules. The proceeds of the offering will be used to fund loans 
that will be advanced to newly-created wholly-owned subsidiaries of Mount Snow to finance the development of two capital projects at 
Mount Snow—the West Lake Project and the Carinthia Ski Lodge Project (together, the ‘‘Projects’’). The terms of these loans are expected 
to be 1.0% fixed for five years with up to a two year extension at 7.0% in year six and 10.0% in year seven. Upon funding of the loans, the 
Company will receive a development fee equal to 15.0% of the loans as well as costs incurred in developing the program. The Mount  
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Snow EB-5 program must be approved by both the State of Vermont Regional Business Center and the USCIS. We have received approval 
from both the State of Vermont’s Regional Business Center and the USCIS.  

The West Lake Project includes the construction of a new water storage reservoir for snowmaking with capacity of up to 120 
million gallons, three new pump houses and the installation of snowmaking pipelines, trail upgrades and expansion, new ski lift and ancillary 
equipment. The Carinthia Ski Lodge Project includes the construction of Carinthia Ski Lodge, a new three-story, approximately 36,000-square 
foot skier service building located at the base of the Carinthia slopes. Carinthia Ski Lodge will include a restaurant, cafeteria and bars with 
seating for over 600 people, a retail store, convenience store and sales center for lift tickets and rentals. The anticipated overall cost of the 
Projects is $66.0 million, of which $52.0 million is intended to be funded with the proceeds from the EB-5 offering. The remaining $14.0 million 
has been provided by Mount Snow with investments in land, snow gun installations, and improved snowmaking technology.  

The Partnership has offered the units to investors primarily located in China, Taiwan, Vietnam and certain countries in the Middle 
East either directly or through relationships with agents qualified in their respective countries, in which case the Partnership typically pays a 
sales commission. Once an investor’s subscription and funds are accepted by the Partnership, the investor must file a petition (‘‘I-526 
Petition’’) with the USCIS seeking, among other things, approval of the investment’s suitability under the EB-5 program requirements and 
the investor’s suitability and source of funds. All investments will be held in a non-interest bearing escrow account and will not be released 
until the USCIS approves the first I-526 Petition filed by an investor in the Partnership.  

As of April 30, 2016, we had commitments for $52.0 million in Partnership investments, all of which has been funded and is being 
held in escrow.  Since that date, we have had 3 investors withdraw for personal reasons, which is allowed under the program while the 
fund are still in escrow.  It is the Company’s intent to replace the withdrawn funds with funds from new investors.  We are 
currently following up with several potential investors to replace the withdrawn funds.  The first investor’s I-526 Petition was filed in 
May 2014 and is pending approval by the USCIS. The Projects commenced in the second half of calendar year 2015, and due to the delay in 
the investor’I-526 petition approval, we now estimate that the Projects will be substantially completed in advance of the 2017-2018 ski 
season.  

The Company’s board of directors declared three cash dividends of $0.1375 each during the twelve-month period ended April 30, 
2016.  The dividends were payable on August 21, 2015, November 25, 2015 and February 24, 2016 to shareholders of record on July 10, 2015, 
October 13, 2015 and January 4, 2016, respectively.  Due to the Company still waiting on the first investor’s I-526 Petition to be approved by 
the USCIS, as well as the unseasonably warm weather during the 2015/2016 ski season which drove down revenue compared to the prior 
season, the Company’s Board of Directors decided it was not prudent to declare a dividend in the fourth quarter of 2016.    We cannot 
assure you that this initial dividend rate will be reinstated or that we will continue to pay dividends in the future. The declaration and 
payment of future dividends will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors and will depend on many factors, including our actual 
results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, restrictions in our debt agreements, economic 
conditions and other factors that could differ materially from our current expectations.  

The Master Credit Agreement includes financial covenants consisting of a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Master 
Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, 
and a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) covenant, which (a) requires the Company to 
increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls below 1.50:1.00, 
and (b) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during 
default situations under the terms of the Master Credit Agreement. Furthermore, our results of operations and financial condition could be 
materially and adversely affected by the factors described in this "Risk Factors" section, which could limit our ability to pay dividends in the 
future. As of our most recent fiscal year end, our fixed charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, but was above the 1.25:1.00 
ratio. As a result, we are required increase the balance of our debt service reserve account by $3.3 million.  EPR has agreed to delay the 
additional interest reserve payment until the end of the 2016/2017 ski season.  

 Critical Accounting Policies  

        The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to select appropriate accounting policies 
and to make judgments and estimates affecting the application of those accounting policies. In applying our accounting policies, different 
business conditions or the use of different assumptions may result in materially different amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements.  

        We have identified the most critical accounting policies which were determined by considering accounting policies that involve the 
most complex or subjective decisions or assessments. We also have other policies considered key accounting  
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policies; however, these policies do not meet the definition of critical accounting policies because they do not generally require us to make 
estimates or judgments that are complex or subjective. We have reviewed these critical accounting policies and related disclosures with our 
board of directors.  Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.  

       As an “emerging growth company,” we have elected to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards until those 
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to those of other public 
companies.  

Goodwill  

Description  

        Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is 
not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually as of March 31st and at any time when events or circumstances suggest impairment may 
have occurred. The Company has 14 resorts, represented by 12 reporting units (Jack Frost and Big Boulder; and Boston Mills and 
Brandywine are managed and reported on collectively) with allocated goodwill in two reporting units. Goodwill is the Company's only 
indefinite-lived intangible.  

Judgments and Uncertainties  

        The testing for impairment consists of a comparison of the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying 
amount of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the fair value, an impairment will be recognized equal to the difference between the 
carrying value of the reporting unit goodwill and the implied fair value of the goodwill. For the testing of goodwill for impairment, the 
Company determines the estimated fair value of its reporting units based upon a discounted future cash flow analysis.  

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Assumptions  

We believe that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying amount and therefore no impairment has been recorded for 
goodwill. If these assumptions are not correct, this could impact the carrying value of our goodwill assets if the undiscounted cash flows 
are less than the carrying value. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment would be recorded to the 
extent the fair value of such assets is less than their carrying value. The estimate of fair value would be a judgment made by management 
regarding future cash flows that could differ, possibly materially, from actual results.  

  

Income Taxes  

Description  

        We must make certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense for financial statement purposes. These estimates 
and judgments occur in the calculation of tax credits and deductions and in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities, which arise 
from differences in the timing of recognition of revenue and expense for tax and financial statement purposes, as well as the interest and 
penalties relating to uncertain tax positions. The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of 
complex tax regulations. We recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax 
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be 
sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step requires us to estimate and 
measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. It is inherently difficult 
and subjective to estimate such amounts, as this requires us to determine the probability of various possible outcomes. This evaluation is 
based on factors including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under audit 
and new audit activity.  
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A significant amount of time may pass before a particular matter, for which we may have established a reserve, is audited and fully 
resolved.  

Judgments and Uncertainties  

        The estimates of our tax contingencies reserve, if any, contain uncertainty because management must use judgment to estimate the 
potential exposure associated with our various filing positions.  

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Assumptions  

        Although we believe the estimates and judgments discussed herein are reasonable and we have adequate reserves for our tax 
contingencies, actual results could differ, and we may be exposed to increases or decreases in those reserves and tax provisions that could 
be material.  

        An unfavorable tax settlement could require the use of cash and could possibly result in an increased tax expense and effective tax rate 
in the year of resolution. A favorable tax settlement could possibly result in a reduction in our tax expense, effective tax rate, income taxes 
payable, other long-term liabilities and/or adjustments to our deferred tax assets, deferred tax liabilities or intangible assets in the year of 
settlement or in future years.  

        Management has made the assumption that the deferred tax assets will generally be recovered through the reversal of the deferred tax 
liabilities. Changes in the timing of the reversal pattern of these deferred tax liabilities, such as due to changes in asset lives, could 
necessitate a further evaluation of whether a valuation allowance is required. While management does not expect a need will arise to 
evaluate the valuation allowance, this would require management to estimate future taxable income, which would be subjective.  

Depreciable Lives of Assets  

Description  

        Mountain and lodging operational assets, furniture and fixtures, computer equipment, software, vehicles and leasehold improvements 
are primarily depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. Assets may become obsolete or require 
replacement before the end of their useful life in which case the remaining book value would be written-off or we could incur costs to 
remove or dispose of such assets no longer in use.  

Judgments and Uncertainties  

        The estimate of our useful lives of the assets contain uncertainty because management must use judgment to estimate the useful life of 
the asset.  

Effect if Actual Results Differ From Assumptions  

        Although we believe the estimates and judgments discussed herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and we may be exposed 
to increased expense related to depreciable assets disposed of, removed or taken out of service prior to its originally estimated useful life, 
which may be material. A 10% decrease in the estimated total useful lives of depreciable assets would have increased depreciation expense 
by approximately $1.0 million for fiscal 2016.  

Long-lived Asset Impairment Evaluation  

Description  

        We evaluate our long-lived assets, including property, equipment and land held for development, for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset to be 
tested for possible impairment, we compare undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset to its carrying value. If the 
carrying value exceeds the expected undiscounted cash flow, an impairment  
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adjustment would be made to reduce the carrying value of the asset to its fair value. Fair value is determined by application of valuation 
techniques, including discounted cash flow models, and independent appraisals, if considered necessary.  

Judgments and Uncertainties  

        The determination of whether the carrying value is recoverable requires management to determine if events have occurred which could 
indicate such carrying values could be impaired. Any evaluation of impairment would require management to use its judgment regarding the 
estimated future cash flows generated by such assets.  

Effects if Actual Results Differ From Assumptions  

        We believe there have been no events warranting evaluation of long-lived assets for impairment. If these assumptions are not correct, 
this could impact the carrying value of our long-lived assets if the undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value. If the 
undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment would be recorded to the extent the fair value of such assets is less 
than their carrying value. The estimate of fair value would be a judgment made by management regarding future cash flows that could differ, 
possibly materially, from actual results  
  
.  

  
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  
  

Interest Rate Fluctuations  

On December 1, 2014, the Company completed its Debt Restructure as discussed more fully in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” providing for the prepayment of certain of its debt owed to EPR and the 
restructuring of all existing loan terms.  Debt owed to EPR as of April 30, 2016 was $93.2 million, exclusive of the debt to fund the Hunter 
Mountain acquisition described below.  The interest rate on this debt is subject to fluctuation, but the interest rate can be only increased by 
a factor of 1.015 annually. At the factor of 1.015, the additional annual interest expense on this variable rate outstanding debt is 
approximately $0.15 million.  

In addition, effective as of January 6, 2016 we incurred $21.0 million of debt to fund a portion of the purchase price for the acquisition of 
Hunter Mountain and other costs pursuant to the terms of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement and Hunter Mountain Note with EPR, as 
more fully discussed in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The interest 
rate relating to this debt increases by a factor of 1.0175 annually. At the factor of 1.0175, the additional annual interest expense on this 
variable rate outstanding debt is approximately $0.03 million.  

In addition, $15.0 million of the Hunter Mountain acquisition price and an additional $0.5 million of other costs were financed with funds 
drawn on the Company’s line of credit with Royal Banks of Missouri, as more fully discussed in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”  Interest on the amounts borrowed are charged at the prime rate plus 1.0%, 
provided that past due amounts shall be subject to higher interest rates and late charges.  

If interest rates increased 1%, the additional interest cost to the Company would be approximately $1.1 million for one year. We do not 
perform any interest rate hedging activities related to our outstanding debt.  
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Item 8. Financial Statement and Supplementary Data.  
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Peak Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries  
  
  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Peak Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of April 30, 2016 and 2015, and 
the related consolidated statements of loss, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 
2016. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over 
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  
  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Peak 
Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of April 30, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended April 30, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  
  
  
  
  
  
/s/ RSM US LLP  
  
St. Louis, Missouri  
July 14, 2016  
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Peak Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries  
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)   

(In thousands, except per share data)  

  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

  
  

  

 
 Years ended April 30, 
 2016 2015 2014 
 

Revenues $ 95,729  $ 104,858  $ 105,205  

Costs and Expenses 
Resort operating expenses 72,215  72,670  73,942  
Depreciation and amortization 10,709  9,450  9,155  
General and administrative expenses 4,513  4,088  3,240  
Land and building rent 1,386  1,440  1,464  
Real estate and other taxes 1,932  1,828  1,651  
Settlement of lawsuit -    -    700  

 90,755  89,476  90,152  

Other Operating Income 
Gain on settlement of lawsuit -    2,100  -    
Gain on involuntary conversion 195  -    -    

Income from Operations 5,169  17,482  15,053  

Other Income (expense) 

Interest, net of interest capitalized of $867,  $488, and $344 in 
2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively (10,814) (15,458) (17,359) 

Defeasance fee paid with debt restructure -    (5,000) -    
Gain on sale/leaseback 333  333  333  
Investment income  8  11  11  

 (10,473) (20,114) (17,015) 

Loss before income tax benefit (5,304) (2,632) (1,962) 

Income tax benefit (2,078) (778) (461) 

Net Loss $ (3,226) $ (1,854) $ (1,501) 

Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (0.23) $ (0.22) $ (0.38) 

 
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.4125  $ 0.2466  $ -    
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Peak Resorts Inc. and Subsidiaries  
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

  

  

  

 April 30,  April 30, 
 2016 2015 

Assets 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,396  $ 16,849  
Restricted cash balances 61,099  37,519  
Accounts receivable 4,772  1,639  
Inventory 2,730  1,583  
Deferred income taxes 1,092  970  
Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,680  1,930  

 77,769  60,490  
Property and equipment-net 192,178  143,944  
Land held for development 37,542  35,780  
Intangible assets, net 846  
Goodwill 5,009  627  
Other assets 619  699  

 $ 313,963  $ 241,540  

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 
Current liabilities 

Acquisition line of credit $ 15,500  $ -    
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 18,696  8,218  
Accrued salaries, wages and related taxes and benefits 919  927  
Unearned revenue 13,233  8,606  
EB-5 investor funds in escrow 52,004  30,002  
Current portion of deferred gain on sale/leaseback 333  333  
Current portion of long-term debt and capitalized lease obligation 2,456  999  

 103,141  49,085  
Long-term debt 118,343  97,569  
Capitalized lease obligation 4,419  1,494  
Deferred gain on sale/leaseback 3,178  3,511  
Deferred income taxes 12,672  8,831  
Other liabilities 576  612  
Commitments and contingencies  
Stockholders' Equity 

Common stock, $.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized, 13,982,400 shares 
issued  140  140  
Additional paid-in capital 82,728  82,538  
Accumulated Deficit (11,234) (2,240) 

 71,634  80,438  

 $ 313,963  $ 241,540  
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Peak Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

(In thousands)  
  

  

 Years ended April 30, 

 2016 2015 2014 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Net loss $ (3,226) $ (1,854) $ (1,501) 
Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash  
provided by operating activities, before business combination: 
 Deferred income tax (2,078) (946) (511) 

 Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and        intangibles  10,709  9,450  9,155  
 Amortization and write-off of deferred financing costs 291  141  52  
 Amortization of other liabilities (36) (36) (36) 
 Gain on sale/leaseback (333) (333) (333) 
 Stock based compensation 190  -    -    
 Gain on involuntary conversion (195) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions: 

  Accounts receivable (2,738) (1,243) (30) 
  Inventory (806) (42) (85) 
  Prepaid expenses and deposits (504) (497) (550) 
  Other assets 84  (202) (76) 
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,459  1,245  1,331  
  Accrued salaries, wages and related taxes and benefits (258) 41  (188) 
  Unearned revenue 1,634  1,148  2,534  

   Net cash provided by operating activities 10,193  6,872  9,762  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Additions to property and equipment (12,407) (12,116) (6,281) 

Business combination (net of cash acquired of $1,640) (33,360) -    -    

Additions to land held for development (1,358) (109) (97) 

Proceeds from involuntary conversion 459  

Change in restricted cash (23,580) (24,456) (923) 
   Net cash used in investing activities (70,246) (36,681) (7,301) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Borrowings on long-term debt and capitalized lease obligation 1,250  -    -    
Proceeds from Hunter Loan Financing 36,500  -    -    
Additions to EB-5 investor funds held in escrow 22,002  30,002  -    
Payment on long-term debt and capital lease obligations (2,080) (77,058) (1,167) 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock -    82,253  -    
Payment of deferred financing costs (1,383) (198) -    
Distributions to stockholders (7,689) (1,527) (79) 
   Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 48,600  33,472  (1,246) 

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (11,453) 3,663  1,215  

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 16,849  13,186  11,971  

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year $ 5,396  $ 16,849  $ 13,186  

Supplemental Schedule of Cash Flow Information 

Cash paid for interest, including $867,  $488 and $344 capitalized in 2016, 2015 and 
2014, respectively $ 11,007  $ 15,810  $ 16,952  
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See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

  

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing 
and Financing Activities 

Capital lease agreements to acquire equipment $ 3,950  $ 2,028  $ 144  
Acquisition of equipment with long-term borrowings $ -    $ -    $ 3,603  
Land held for development financed with long-term borrowings $ 404  $ -    $ 1,000  

  Assets under construction included in retainage / accounts payable $ 3,459  $ -    $ -    
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Peak Resorts Inc. and Subsidiaries  

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity  
(In thousands except share data)  

  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.   

  

  

 
 
 Additional 
 Common Stock Paid-in Retained earnings 
 Shares Dollars Capital (Deficit) Total 
 
Balances, April 30, 2013 3,982,400  $ 40  $ 385  $ 4,564  $ 4,989  
 
Net loss -    -    -    (1,501) (1,501) 
 
Balances, April 30, 2014 3,982,400  40  $ 385  $ 3,063  $ 3,488  
 

Issuance of common stock, net of 
issuance cost 10,000,000  100  82,153  -    82,253  
Net loss -    -    -    (1,854) (1,854) 
Dividends declared -    -    -    (3,449) (3,449) 
 
Balances, April 30, 2015 13,982,400  140  82,538  (2,240) 80,438  
 
Net loss -    -    -    (3,226) (3,226) 
Dividends declared -    -    -    (5,768) (5,768) 
Stock based compensation -    -    190  -    190  
 

Balances, April 30, 2016 13,982,400  $ 140  $ 82,728  $ (11,234) $ 71,634  
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PEAK RESORTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
  

  

Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies  

Description of business:  Peak Resorts, Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries operate in a single business segment—ski resort 
operations. The Company’s ski resort operations consist of snow skiing, snowboarding and snow sports areas in Wildwood and Weston, 
Missouri; Bellefontaine and Cleveland, Ohio; Paoli, Indiana; Blakeslee and Lake Harmony, Pennsylvania; Bartlett, Bennington and Pinkham 
Notch, New Hampshire; West Dover, Vermont; and Hunter, New York and an 18 hole golf course in West Dover, Vermont. The Company 
also manages hotels in Bartlett, New Hampshire; West Dover, Vermont and Hunter, New York.   
  
The Company's revenues are highly seasonal in nature. The vast majority of revenues are generated during the ski season, which occurs 
during the third and fourth fiscal quarters. Operations occurring outside of the ski season typically result in losses and negative cash flows. 
Additionally, operations on certain holidays contribute significantly to the Company's revenues, most notably Christmas, Dr. Martin Luther 
King, Jr. Day and Presidents Day.  
  
The seasonality of the Company's revenues amplifies the effect on the Company's revenues, operating earnings and cash flows of events 
that are outside the Company's control. While the Company's geographically diverse operating locations help mitigate its effects, adverse 
weather conditions could limit customer access to the Company's resorts, render snowmaking wholly or partially ineffective in maintaining 
ski conditions, cause increased energy use and other operating costs related to snowmaking efforts and, in general, can result in decreased 
skier visits regardless of ski conditions.  
  
The Company’s operating segments are aggregated into a single reportable segment. Management has determined a single reportable 
segment is appropriate based on the uniformity of services and similar operating characteristics.   
  
Principles of consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Peak Resorts, Inc., the parent company, and all 
of its wholly owned subsidiaries, hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Company": Boulder View Tavern, Inc., Deltrecs, Inc. (Deltrecs, 
Inc. has two wholly owned subsidiaries: Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. and Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.), Hidden Valley Golf Course, Inc., 
JFBB Ski Areas, Inc. (doing business as "Jack Frost" and "Big Boulder"), L.B.O. Holding, Inc. (doing business as "Attitash Mountain"), 
Mad River Mountain, Inc., Mount Snow Ltd. (and its wholly owned subsidiaries) Carinthia Group I, LP, a limited partnership in which 
Mount Snow LTD is the sole general partner, Paoli Peaks, Inc., S N H Development, Inc. (doing business as "Crotched Mountain"), Snow 
Creek, Inc., Sycamore Lake, Inc. (doing business as "Alpine Valley"), WC Acquisition Corp. (doing business as "Wildcat Mountain Ski 
Area"), and Hunter Mountain Acquisition, Inc. (Hunter Mountain Acquisition, Inc. has six wholly owned subsidiaries Hunter Mountain Ski 
Bowl, Inc., Hunter Mountain Festivals, Ltd., Hunter Mountain Rental, Inc., Hunter Resort Vacation, Inc., Hunter Mountain Base Lodge, Inc., 
and Frostyland, Inc.).  All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.  
  
Use of estimates:  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts and disclosures reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the carrying value of property and 
equipment, and land held for development. As future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could differ 
significantly from those estimates.   
  
Statements of cash flows:  For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased 
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.  
  
Additionally, all credit card and debit card transactions that process in less than seven days are classified as cash and cash equivalents. 
The majority of payments due from banks for third-party credit card and debit card transactions process within 24 to 48 hours, except for 
transactions occurring on a Friday, which are generally processed the following Monday. The amounts due from banks for these 
transactions classified as cash and cash equivalents totaled $1,841 and $1,386 at April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  
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Restricted cash: The provisions of certain of the Company's debt instruments generally require that the Company make and maintain a 
deposit, to be held in escrow for the benefit of the lender, in an amount equal to the estimated minimum interest payment through December 
31 of each fiscal year.  In the absence of an event of default under the Company's promissory notes, the requirement to maintain such a 
deposit is eliminated when the Mount Snow Development Debt discussed in Note 4 is repaid in full. Restricted cash at April 30, 2016 and 
2015 is comprised of the interest related escrow balances and EB-5 investors funds held in escrow.  
  
In addition, the Company has funds it is holding in escrow in connection with its efforts to raise funds under the U.S. government's 
Immigrant Investor Program, commonly known as the EB-5 program (the “EB-5 Program”). The EB-5 Program was first enacted in 1992 to 
stimulate the U.S. economy through the creation of jobs and capital investments in U.S. companies by foreign investors. In turn, these 
foreign investors are, pending petition approval, granted visas for lawful residence in the U.S. Under the EB-5 Program, a limited number of 
visas are reserved for such foreign investors each year.  

Reserve for uncollectible accounts receivable:  The Company performs ongoing reviews of the collectability of accounts receivable and, if 
considered necessary, establishes a reserve for estimated credit losses. In assessing the need for and in determining the amount of any 
reserve for credit losses, the Company considers the level of historical bad debts, the credit worthiness of significant debtors based on 
periodic credit evaluations and significant economic developments that could adversely impact upon a customer's ability to pay amounts 
owed the Company.  
  
Inventory:  Inventory is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market and consists primarily of retail goods, food and 
beverage products.  
  
Property and equipment:  Property and equipment is carried at cost net of accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment charges, if 
any. Costs to construct significant assets include capitalized interest during the construction and development period. Expenditures for 
replacements and major betterments or improvements are capitalized; maintenance and repair expenditures are charged to expense as 
incurred. Depreciation and amortization are determined using both straight-line and accelerated methods over estimated useful lives ranging 
from 3 to 25 years for land improvements, 5 to 40 years for building and improvements and 3 to 25 years for equipment, furniture and fixtures.  
  
Land held for development:  The land held for development is carried in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at acquisition cost 
plus costs attributable to its development, including capitalized interest as part of this ongoing development.  
  
Deferred development costs:  Costs related to major development projects at the Company's ski resorts, including planning, engineering and 
permitting, are capitalized. When acquiring, developing and constructing real estate assets, the Company capitalizes costs. Capitalization 
begins when the activities related to development have begun and ceases when activities are substantially complete and the asset is 
available for use. Costs capitalized include permits, licenses, fees, legal costs, interest, development, and construction costs.  
  
Deferred financing costs:  Debt issuance expenses, included in long-term debt in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, incurred in 
connection with certain mortgage indebtedness are being amortized under the straight-line basis which approximates the interest method 
over the term of the related debt.      
  
Goodwill and Intangible Assets:    Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a 
business combination. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually as of March 31 and at any time when events or 
circumstances suggest impairment may have occurred. The Company’s resorts are reporting units and two reporting units have goodwill. 
The testing for impairment consists first of an assessment of qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a 
quantitative goodwill impairment test.  The Company will determine, based on a qualitative assessment, whether it is more likely than not 
that its fair value is less than its carrying amount.  If the qualitative assessment determines it is more likely than not that the fair value is less 
than the carrying amount, a quantitative assessment would then be completed.   If, based on the quantitative analysis, the carrying amount 
of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the fair value, an impairment will be recognized equal to the difference between the 
carrying value of the reporting unit goodwill and the implied fair value of the goodwill. For the quantitative testing of goodwill for 
impairment, the Company determines the estimated fair value of its reporting units based upon a discounted future cash flow analysis. 
 During 2016 and 2015, the company determined no impairment existed.   
  
With the recent Hunter Mountain acquisition, the Company now has recorded two intangible assets.  The intangible assets are customer 
relationships and trade names.  Both of these assets are definite-lived assets and have estimated useful lives of 15  
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years.  The Company will utilize straight-line amortization for these intangibles.  The intangibles were valued at their fair value at the 
acquisition date using discounted cash flow models.  
  
Long-lived Assets: The Company evaluates potential impairment of long-lived assets and long-lived assets to be disposed of whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. If the sum of the expected 
cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized in the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. The Company does not believe any events or changes in circumstances 
indicating an impairment of the carrying amount of a long-lived asset occurred during the years ended April 30, 2016,  2015 and 2014.  
  
Business combinations:  Historical acquisitions were accounted for as purchase transactions. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of 
acquired entities were recorded at their estimated fair values at the dates of the acquisitions.  
  
Revenue recognition:  Revenues from operations are generated from a wide variety of sources including snow pass sales, snow sports 
lessons, equipment rentals, retail product sales, food and beverage operations, and golf course operations. Revenues are recognized as 
services are provided or products are sold. Sales of season passes are initially deferred in unearned revenue and recognized ratably over the 
expected ski season which typically runs from early December to mid-April.   
  
Advertising costs:  Advertising costs are expensed at the time such advertising commences. Advertising expense for the years ended April 
30, 2016, 2015, and 2014 was $2,784, $2,155, and $2,206, respectively.  
  
Taxes collected from customers:  Taxes collected from customers and remitted to tax authorities are local and state sales taxes on snow pass 
sales as well as food service and retail transactions at the Company's resorts. Sales taxes collected from customers are recognized as a 
liability, with such liability being reduced when collected amounts are remitted to the taxing authority.  
  
Income taxes:  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at enacted tax rates in the respective jurisdictions where the Company 
operates. In assessing the ability to realize deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion 
or all deferred tax assets will not be realized and a valuation allowance would be provided if necessary.  
  
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, “Income Taxes”, also provides 
guidance with respect to the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a Company’s consolidated financial statements, and it 
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute criteria for the consolidated financial statement recognition and measurement 
of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company does not have any material uncertain tax positions.  
  
With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations by tax authorities for years 
before 2012 due to the statute of limitations.  
  
The Company’s policy is to accrue income tax related interest and penalties, if applicable, within income tax expense.  
  
Recent accounting pronouncements:   

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory.” This standard provides 
guidance on the measurement of inventory that is measured using first-in, first-out or average cost. An entity should measure in scope 
inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, 
less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. The standard will be effective for the first interim period within 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016 and is required to be adopted prospectively and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of 
this accounting standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations and cash 
flows.  
  
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, “Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments.” The standard 
requires that adjustments to provisional amounts identified during the measurement period of a business combination be recognized in the 
reporting period in which those adjustments are determined, including the effect on earnings, if any, calculated as if the accounting had 
been completed at the acquisition date. The standard eliminates the previous requirement to retrospectively account for such adjustments 
but requires additional disclosures related to the income statement effects of adjustments to provisional amounts identified during the 
measurement period. The standard is effective  
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for the annual period beginning after December 15, 2015 and interim periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted, and 
is to be applied prospectively. The Company has adopted this standard and will apply this standard, as applicable, on any future 
measurement period adjustments.  
  
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes.” The 
standard changes how deferred taxes are classified on an entity’s balance sheets. The standard eliminates the current requirement for 
entities to present deferred tax liabilities and assets as current and noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. Instead, entities will be required 
to classify all deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent. The standard is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted, and may be applied prospectively or retrospectively. The adoption of this 
new accounting standard will amend presentation requirements, but will not affect the Company’s overall financial position or results of 
operations and cash flows.  
  
In February 2016 the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” The pronouncement requires the recognition of a liability for lease 
obligations and a corresponding right-of-use asset on the balance sheet and disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. This 
pronouncement is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 using a modified retrospective adoption method.  While 
the Company is currently evaluating the provisions of ASU 2016-02 to determine how it will be affected, the primary effect of adopting the 
new standard will be to record assets and obligations for current operating leases.  
  
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”, an update of ASU 2014-09, requiring 
an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. 
ASU 2016-08 will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles when it becomes 
effective and permits the use of either a full retrospective or retrospective with cumulative effect transition method. Early adoption is not 
permitted. The updated standard becomes effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim 
periods within that reporting period. Pursuant to the JOBS Act, the Company is permitted to adopt the standard for annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company has not yet 
selected a transition method and is currently evaluating the effect that the updated standard will have on the consolidated financial 
statements.   
  
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based 
Payment Accounting.” The new guidance requires entities to record all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies as income tax expense or 
benefit in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled. The guidance also requires entities to present excess tax benefits as an 
operating activity and cash paid to a taxing authority to satisfy statutory withholding as a financing activity on the statement of cash flows. 
Additionally, the guidance allows entities to make a policy election to account for forfeitures either upon occurrence or by estimating 
forfeitures. The standard is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016 (the Company’s first 
quarter of fiscal 2018), with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impacts the adoption of this accounting 
standard will have on the Company’s financial position or results of operations and cash flows.  
  

  

Note 2. Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment consists of the following at April 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in thousands):  

  

At April 30, 2016 and 2015, equipment with a cost of $7,668 and $2,804, respectively, and accumulated depreciation of $800 and 
$425, respectively, was subject to the capital leases discussed in Note 10.  

  

 2016 2015 
Land and improvements $ 35,321  $ 28,197  
Buildings and improvements 86,914  72,351  
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 163,373  126,853  

 285,608  227,401  
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 93,430  83,457  

 $ 192,178  $ 143,944  
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Depreciation expense for the years ended April 30, 2016, 2015, and 2014 totaled $10,690, $9,450, and $9,155, respectively.  

Note 3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

Goodwill  

The goodwill balance as of April 30, 2016 and 2015 was $5,009 and $627, respectively, which is included in our single business 
segment, resort operations.  The additions to goodwill in the current year of $4,382 related to the acquisition of Hunter Mountain.  The prior 
year goodwill balance related to the acquisition of Alpine Valley.  The goodwill balances represent the excess of the purchase price over the 
net assets acquired.  Goodwill is not amortized, but tested periodically for impairment.  The Company did not record any impairment of 
goodwill for the years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014.  

Intangible Assets  

The Intangible assets at April 30, 2016 consisted of the following:  

  

Prior to 2016, the company did not have any finite lived intangible assets recorded.  Amortization expense for the years ended April 30, 2016 
was $19.  Amortization expense for intangible assets for the next five fiscal years is estimated to be $58 each year.   

Both the goodwill and intangible assets identified in this note are related to the Company’s two most recent acquisitions.   

  
Note 4. Long-term Debt  

Long-term debt at April 30, 2016 and 2015 consisted of borrowings pursuant to the loans and other credit facilities discussed below, as 
follows (dollars in thousands):  

 Year ended April 30, 2016 

 
Life 

(years) 
Gross carrying 

amount 
Accumulated 
amortization Net book value 

 
Trade name 15  $ 768  $ 17  $ 751  
Customer relationships 15  97  2  95  

 $ 865  $ 19  $ 846  

  

 

 2016 2015 

Attitash/Mount Snow Debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate (11.10% 
at April 30, 2016 and 10.93% at April 30, 2015); remaining principal and interest due on December 1, 2034  $ 51,050  $ 51,050  

Credit Facility Debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate (10.13% at April 
30, 2016 and 2015); remaining principal and interest due on December 1, 2034 37,562  37,562  

Hunter Mountain debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate (8.0% at April 
30, 2016); remaining principal and interest due on January 5, 2036 21,000  -    

F - 12  
   



  

Debt Restructure  

On November 10, 2014, in connection with the Company’s initial public offering, the Company entered into a Restructure Agreement with 
certain affiliates of EPR Properties (“EPR”), the Company’s primary lender, providing for the (i) prepayment of approximately $75.8 million of 
formerly non-prepayable debt secured by the Crotched Mountain, Attitash, Paoli Peaks, Hidden Valley and Snow Creek resorts and (ii) 
retirement of one of the notes associated with the future development of Mount Snow (the “Debt Restructure”). On December 1, 2014, the 
Company entered into various agreements in order to effectuate the Debt Restructure, as more fully described in the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 5, 2014.  Pursuant to the Debt Restructure, the 
Company paid a defeasance fee of $5.0 million to EPR in addition to the consideration described below.  

In exchange for the prepayment right, the Company granted EPR a purchase option on the Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big 
Boulder and Alpine Valley properties, subject to certain conditions.  If EPR exercises a purchase option, EPR will enter into an agreement 
with the Company for the lease of each such acquired property for an initial term of 20 years, plus options to extend the lease for two 
additional periods of ten years each. All previously existing option agreements between the Company and EPR were terminated.  

Over the years, the Company has depreciated the book value of these properties pursuant to applicable accounting rules, and as such, it 
has a low basis in the properties. As a result, the Company will realize significant gains on the sale of the properties to EPR if the option is 
exercised. The Company will be required to pay capital gains tax on the difference between the purchase price of the properties and the tax 
basis in the properties, which is expected to be a substantial cost. To date, EPR has not exercised the option.  

Additionally, the Company agreed to extend the maturity dates on all non-prepayable notes and mortgages secured by the Mount Snow, 
Boston Mills, Brandywine, Jack Frost, Big Boulder and Alpine Valley properties remaining after the Debt Restructure by seven years to 
December 1, 2034, and to extend the lease for the Mad River property, previously terminating in 2026, until December 31, 2034 (the “Lease 
Amendment”).  

The Company also granted EPR a right of first refusal to provide all or a portion of the financing associated with any purchase, ground 
lease, sale/leaseback, management or financing transaction contemplated by the Company with respect to any new or existing ski resort 
property for a period of seven years or until financing provided by EPR for such transactions equals or exceeds $250 million in the 
aggregate. Proposed financings from certain types of institutional lenders providing a loan to value ratio of less than 60% (as relates to the 
applicable property being financed) are excluded from the right of first refusal. The Company granted EPR a separate right of first refusal in 
the event that the Company wishes to sell, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of any or all of the Attitash ski resort for seven years.  The 
Attitash right excludes the financing or mortgaging of Attitash.  

In connection with the Debt Restructure, the Company entered into a Master Credit and Security Agreement with EPR (the “Master Credit 
Agreement”) governing the restructured debt with EPR. Pursuant to the Master Credit Agreement, EPR agreed to maintain the following 
loans to the Company following the prepayment of certain outstanding debt with proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering: (i) a 
term loan in the amount of approximately $51.1 million to the Company and its subsidiary Mount Snow, Ltd., (included in the table above as 
the “Attitash/Mount Snow Debt”); (ii) a term loan in the amount of approximately $23.3 million to the Company and its subsidiaries 
Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc. and Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. (the “Boston Mills/Brandywine Debt”); (iii) a term loan in the amount of 
approximately $14.3 million to the  

  

Sycamore Lake (Alpine Valley) Debt; payable in monthly interest only payments at an increasing interest rate 
(10.56% at April 30, 2016 and 10.40% at April 30, 2016); remaining principal and interest due on December 1, 
2034 4,550  4,550  

Wildcat Mountain Debt; payable in monthly installments of $27, including interest at a rate of 4.00%, with 
remaining principal and interest due on December 22, 2020  3,612  3,790  

Other debt  3,231  1,931  

Less unamortized debt issuance costs (1,903) (811) 
 
 119,102  98,072  

Less: current maturities  759  503  

 $ 118,343  $ 97,569  
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Company and its subsidiary JFBB Ski Areas, Inc. (the “JFBB Debt” and together with the Boston Mills/Brandywine Debt, included in the 
table above as the “Credit Facility Debt”); and (iv) a term loan in the amount of approximately $4.6 million to the Company and its subsidiary 
Sycamore Lake, Inc. (included in the table above as the “Sycamore Lake (Alpine Valley) Debt”).  

Interest will be charged at a rate of (i) 10.13% per annum as to each of the Boston Mills/Brandywine Debt and JFBB Debt; (ii) 10.40% per 
annum as to the Sycamore Lake (Alpine Valley) Debt; and (iii) 10.93% per annum pursuant to the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt.  Each of the 
notes governing the restructured debt provides that interest will increase each year by the lesser of the following: (x) three times the 
percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index as defined in the notes (“CPI”) from the CPI in effect on the applicable adjustment date 
over the CPI in effect on the immediately preceding adjustment date or (y) 1.5% (the “Capped CPI Index).  Past due amounts will be charged 
a higher interest rate and be subject to late charges.  

The Master Credit Agreement further provides that in addition to interest payments, the Company must pay the following with respect to all 
restructured debt other than the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt: an additional annual payment equal to 10% of the gross receipts attributable to 
the properties serving as collateral of the restructured debt (other than Mount Snow) for such year in excess of an amount equal to the 
quotient obtained by dividing (i) the annual interest payments payable pursuant to the notes governing the restructured debt (other than 
with respect to the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt) for the immediately preceding year by (ii) 10%.  The Company must pay the following with 
respect to the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt: an additional annual payment equal to 12% of the gross receipts generated at Mount Snow for 
such year in excess of an amount equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the annual interest payments payable under the note 
governing the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt for the immediately preceding year by (ii) 12%.  An additional interest payment of $0.2 million was 
due for the year ended April  30, 2016.   

The Master Credit Agreement includes restrictions on certain transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, leases, asset sales, loans to 
third parties, and the incurrence of certain additional debt and liens. Financial covenants set forth in the Master Credit Agreement consist of 
a maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are 
prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, and a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Master Credit 
Agreement) covenant, which (i) requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company’s 
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio falls below 1.50:1.00 and (ii) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 
1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during default situations.  

Under the terms of the Master Credit Agreement, the occurrence of a change of control is an event of default. A change of control will be 
deemed to occur if (i) within two years after the effective date of the Master Credit Agreement, the Company’s named executive officers 
(Messrs. Timothy Boyd, Stephen Mueller and Richard Deutsch) cease to beneficially own and control less than 50% of the amount of the 
Company’s outstanding voting stock that they own as of the effective date of the Master Credit Agreement, or (ii) the Company ceases to 
beneficially own and control less than all of the outstanding shares of voting stock of those subsidiaries which are borrowers under the 
Master Credit Agreement.  Other events of default include, but are not limited to, a default on other indebtedness of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.  

None of the restructured debt may be prepaid without the consent of EPR. Upon an event of default, as defined in the Debt Restructure 
Agreements, EPR may, among other things, declare all unpaid principal and interest due and payable.  Each of the notes governing the 
restructured debt matures on December 1, 2034.  

As a condition to the Debt Restructure, the Company entered into the Master Cross Default Agreement with EPR (the “Master Cross 
Default Agreement”). The Master Cross Default Agreement provides that any event of default under existing or future loan or lien 
agreements between the Company or its affiliates and EPR, and any event of default under the Lease Amendment, shall automatically 
constitute an event of default under each of such loan and lien agreements and Lease Amendment, upon which EPR will be entitled to all of 
the remedies provided under such agreements and Lease Amendment in the case of an event of default.  

Also in connection with the Debt Restructure, the Company and EPR entered into the Guaranty Agreement (the “2014 Guaranty 
Agreement”).  The 2014 Guaranty Agreement obligates the Company and its subsidiaries as guarantors of all debt evidenced by the Debt 
Restructure Agreements. The table below illustrates the potential interest rates applicable to the Company’s fluctuating interest rate debt for 
each of the next five years, assuming an effective rate increase by the Capped CPI Index:  
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(1)  For 2016, the dates of the rates presented are as follows: (i) April 1, 2016 for the Attitash/Mount Snow Debt; (ii) October 1, 2015 for 
the Credit Facility Debt; (iii) January 6, 2016 for Hunter Mountain Debt and (iv) December 1, 2015 for the Sycamore Lake (Alpine 
Valley) Debt.  

  

The Capped CPI Index is an embedded derivative, but the Company has concluded that the derivative does not require bifurcation and 
separate presentation at fair value because the Capped CPI Index was determined to be clearly and closely related to the debt instrument.  

Wildcat Mountain Debt  

The Wildcat Mountain Debt due December 22, 2020 represents amounts owed pursuant to a promissory note in the principal amount of $4.5 
million made by WC Acquisition Corp. in favor of Wildcat Mountain Ski Area, Inc., Meadow Green-Wildcat Skilift Corp. and Meadow 
Green-Wildcat Corp. (the “Wildcat Note”). The Wildcat Note, dated November 22, 2010, was made in connection with the acquisition of 
Wildcat Mountain, which was effective as of October 20, 2010. The interest rate as set forth in the Wildcat Note is fixed at 4.00%.  

Hunter Mountain Debt  

On January 6, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of the Hunter Mountain ski resort located in Hunter, New York through the 
purchase of all of the outstanding stock of each of Hunter Mountain Ski Bowl, Inc., Hunter Mountain Festivals, Ltd., Hunter Mountain 
Rentals, Inc., Hunter Resort Vacations, Inc., Hunter Mountain Base Lodge, Inc., and Frosty Land, Inc. (collectively, “Hunter Mountain”) 
pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Paul Slutzky, Charles B. Slutzky, David Slutzky, 
Gary Slutzky and Carol Slutzky-Tenerowicz entered into on November 30, 2015.  The Company acquired Hunter Mountain for total cash 
consideration of $35.0 million plus the assumption of two capital leases estimated at approximately $1.7 million. A portion of the Hunter 
Mountain acquisition price was financed pursuant to the Master Credit and Security Agreement (the “Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement”) 
entered into between the Company and EPR as of January 6, 2016.  

The Hunter Mountain Debt due January 5, 2036 represents amounts owed pursuant to a promissory note (the “Hunter Mountain Note”) in 
the principal amount of $21.0 million made by the Company in favor of EPR pursuant to the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, which was 
effective as of January 6, 2016.  The Company used $20.0 million of the Hunter Mountain Debt to finance the Hunter Mountain acquisition 
and $1.0 million to cover closing costs and to add to its interest reserve account.  

The Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement and Hunter Mountain Note provide that interest will be charged at an initial rate of 8.00%, subject 
to an annual increase beginning on February 1, 2017 by the lesser of the following: (x) three times the percentage increase in the CPI (as 
defined in the Hunter Mountain Note) from the CPI in effect on the applicable adjustment date over the CPI in effect on the immediately 
preceding adjustment date or (y) 1.75%.  Past due amounts will be charged a higher interest rate and be subject to late charges.  

The Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement further provides that in addition to interest payments, the Company must pay an additional annual 
payment equal to 8.00% of the gross receipts in excess of $35.0 million that are attributable to all collateral under the Hunter Mountain Note 
for such year.  

The Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement includes restrictions or limitations on certain transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, leases, 
asset sales, loans to third parties, and the incurrence or guaranty of certain additional debt and liens. Financial covenants set forth in the 
Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement consist of a maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement) of 65%, 
above which the Company is prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness. The Company must also maintain a consolidated fixed 
charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Hunter  

  

Rates as of April 30, Attitash/Mount 
Snow Debt 

Credit Facility 
Debt 

Hunter Mountain 
Debt 

Sycamore Lake/
(Alpine Valley) 

Debt 

2016 11.10%  10.13%  8.00%  10.56%  
2017 11.27%  10.28%  8.14%  10.72%  
2018 11.44%  10.44%  8.28%  10.88%  
2019 11.61%  10.59%  8.43%  11.04%  
2020 11.78%  10.75%  8.57%  11.21%  
2021 11.96%  10.91%  8.72%  11.38%  
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Mountain Credit Agreement) which (i) requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company’s 
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio falls below 1.50:1.00 and (ii) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 
1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during potential default or default situations.  

Under the terms of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, the occurrence of a change of control is an event of default. A change of control 
will be deemed to occur if (i) within two years after the effective date of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, the Company’s named 
executive officers (Messrs. Boyd, Mueller and Deutsch) cease to beneficially own and control less than 50% of the amount of the 
Company’s outstanding voting stock that they own as of the effective date of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, or (ii) the Company 
ceases to beneficially own and control less than all of the outstanding shares of voting stock of those subsidiaries which are borrowers 
under the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement.  Other events of default include, but are not limited to, a default on other indebtedness of the 
Company or its subsidiaries.  

The Hunter Mountain Note may not be prepaid without the consent of EPR. Upon an event of default, as defined in the Hunter Mountain 
Note, EPR may, among other things, declare all unpaid principal and interest due and payable. The Hunter Mountain Note matures on 
January 5, 2036.  

In connection with entry into the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement on January 6, 2016, the Company entered into the Amended and 
Restated Master Cross-Default Agreement with EPR, which adds the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, Hunter Mountain Note and 
related transaction documents to the scope of loan agreements to which the cross-default provisions of the Master Cross Default 
Agreement apply.  

Also on January 6, 2016, in connection with entry into the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement, the Company entered into a Guaranty 
Agreement for the benefit of EPR, which adds the Company’s new Hunter Mountain subsidiary borrowers under the Hunter Mountain 
Credit Agreement as guarantors pursuant to the same terms of the 2014 Guaranty Agreement and adds the debt evidenced by the Hunter 
Mountain Credit Agreement and Hunter Mountain Note to the debt guaranteed by the Company pursuant to the 2014 Guaranty Agreement.  

Substantially all of the Company’s assets serve as collateral for the Company’s long term debt.  

Future aggregate annual principal payments under all indebtedness reflected by fiscal year are as follows (in thousands):  

  

Deferred financing costs are net of accumulated amortization of $482 and $191 at April 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Amortization of 
deferred financing costs for the year ended April 30, 2016 was $291    Amortization of deferred financing costs will be $466 the year ending 
April 30, 2017 and $90 for each of the four years ending April 30, 2018, 2019,  2020 and 2021.  

Line of Credit  

The remaining $15.0 million of the Hunter Mountain acquisition price was financed with funds drawn on the Company’s line of credit with 
Royal Banks of Missouri pursuant to the Credit Facility, Loan and Security Agreement (the “Line of Credit Agreement”) between the 
Company and Royal Banks of Missouri, effective as of December 22, 2015. The Company drew an additional $0.5 million to pay closing 
costs.  

The Line of Credit Agreement provides for a 12-month line of credit for up to $20.0 million to be used for acquisition purposes and working 
capital of up to 5.0% of the acquisition purchase price, subject to the Company’s ability to extend the line of credit for up to an additional 
12-month period upon the satisfaction of certain conditions. In connection with entry into the Line of Credit Agreement, the Company 
executed a promissory note (the “Line of Credit Note”) in favor of Royal Banks of Missouri, maturing on December 22, 2016.  The line of 
credit debt is included as a current liability given the initial 12-month term.  

  

 
 

2017 $ 1,225  
2018 1,827  
2019 757  
2020 215  
2021 2,820  
Thereafter  114,161  
 $ 121,005  
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Interest on the amounts borrowed are charged at the prime rate plus 1.0%, provided that past due amounts shall be subject to higher interest 
rates and late charges.  The effective rate at April 30, 2016 was 4.5% on the line of credit borrowings. Amounts outstanding under the Line 
of Credit Agreement are secured by the assets of each of the subsidiary borrowers under the Line of Credit Agreement.  

The Line of Credit Agreement includes restrictions or limitations on certain transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, leases, asset sales, 
loans to third parties, and the incurrence of certain additional debt and liens. Financial covenants set forth in the Line of Credit Agreement 
consist of a maximum leverage ratio (as defined in the Line of Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company is prohibited from 
incurring additional indebtedness, and a debt service coverage ratio (as defined in the Line of Credit Agreement) of 1:25 to 1 on a fiscal year 
basis. The Company must also maintain a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) which (i) 
requires the Company to increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company’s consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio 
falls below 1.50:1.00 and (ii) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also 
prohibited during potential default or default situations.  

If the outstanding line of credit debt is not paid in full by the maturity date, and the Company is otherwise is full compliance with the terms 
and conditions of the Line of Credit Agreement and Line of Credit Note, the Company may elect to convert the outstanding line of credit 
debt to a three-year term loan, subject to an additional extension, with principal payments amortized over a 20-year period bearing interest at 
the prime rate plus 1.0% per annum.  

Except in the case of a default, the Company may prepay all or any portion of the outstanding line of credit debt and all accrued and unpaid 
interest due prior to the maturity date without prepayment penalty.  

In the case of a default, the outstanding Line of Credit Debt shall, at the lender’s option, bear interest at the rate of 5.0% percent per annum 
in excess of the interest rate otherwise payable thereon, which interest shall be payable on demand.  

Under the terms of the Line of Credit Agreement, the occurrence of a change of control is an event of default. A change of control will be 
deemed to occur if (i) for so long as the line of redit debt is outstanding and such individuals are employed by the Company, the Company’s 
key shareholders (Messrs. Timothy Boyd, Stephen Mueller and Richard Deutsch) cease to beneficially own and control less than 50% of 
the amount of the Company’s outstanding voting stock that they own as of the effective date of the Line of Credit Agreement, or (ii) the 
Company ceases to beneficially own and control less than all of the outstanding shares of voting stock of the subsidiary borrowers.  Other 
events of default include, but are not limited to, a default on other indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries.  

Additional Interest Reserve  

The Master Credit Agreement includes financial covenants consisting of a maximum Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Master 
Credit Agreement) of 65%, above which the Company and certain of its subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, 
and a Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Master Credit Agreement) covenant, which (a) requires the Company to 
increase the balance of its debt service reserve account if the Company's Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio falls below 1.50:1.00, 
and (b) prohibits the Company from paying dividends if the ratio is below 1.25:1.00. The payment of dividends is also prohibited during 
default situations under the terms of the Master Credit Agreement. As of the Company’s most recent fiscal year end, the Company’s fixed 
charge ratio fell below the 1:50:1:00 coverage ratio, but was above the 1.25:1.00 ratio. As a result, the Company is required to increase the 
balance of the Company’s debt service reserve account by $3.3 million.  EPR has agreed to delay the additional interest reserve payment 
until the end of the 2016/2017 ski season.  

  

  

  

  
Note 5. Income Taxes  

The provision for income taxes for the years ended April 30, 2016, 2015, and 2014 consists of the following (in thousands):  

  

 2016 2015 2014 
Current: 
 Federal $ -    $ -    $ -    
 State taxes based on income -    168  50  
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Deferred income taxes consist of the following at April 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):  

  

Deferred income taxes are included in the April 30, 2016 and 2015 consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands):  

  

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient future taxable income during the period that the deductible temporary 
differences and carryforwards are expected to be available to reduce taxable income. Based on the reversal patterns of existing taxable 
temporary differences, the net deferred tax assets will be recovered. There was no valuation allowance deemed necessary.  
  

  

  

  

Loss carryforwards for tax purposes as of April 30, 2016, have the following expiration dates (in thousands):  

  

 -    168  50  
Deferred: 
 Federal (1,753) (895) (635) 
 State (325) (51) 124  

 $ (2,078) $ (778) $ (461) 

 2016 2015 
Deferred tax assets: 
 Deferred gain on sale/leaseback $ 1,194  $ 1,307  
 Accrued compensation 238  222  
 Unearned revenue 897  748  
 Net operating loss carryforwards 11,146  7,746  

 13,475  10,023  

 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Property and equipment (25,055) (17,884) 

 (25,055) (17,884) 

 $ (11,580) $ (7,861) 

 2015 2014 
Current assets $ 1,092  $ 970  
Noncurrent liabilities (12,672) (8,831) 

 $ (11,580) $ (7,861) 

 Amount 
Expiration date 
2019 $ 278  
2031 16,227  
2032 1,939  
2033 2,907  
2034 343  
2035 8,217  

 $ 29,911  
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The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The 
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A 
valuation allowance is provided for the amount of deferred tax assets that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.  
  
For fiscal years 2016, 2015, and 2014, the expected income tax rate differs from the statutory rate as follows (in thousands):  

  

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering in November 2014, a change of ownership in the Company occurred pursuant to the 
provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986. As a result, the Company’s usage of its net operating loss carryforwards will be limited each year; 
however, management believes the full benefit of those carryforwards will be realized prior to their respective expiration dates.  

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits also in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which prescribes a minimum 
probability threshold that a tax position must meet before a financial statement benefit is recognized. The minimum threshold is defined as a 
tax position that is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution to any 
related appeals or litigation, based solely on the technical merits of the position. The Company has no accrual for interest or penalties 
related to uncertain tax positions at April 30, 2016 and 2015, and did not recognize interest or penalties in the Statements of Operations 
during the years ended April 30, 2016, 2015, and 2014.  
  
The major jurisdictions in which the Company files income tax returns include the federal and state jurisdictions within the United States. 
The tax years after 2009 remain open to examination by federal and state taxing jurisdictions. However, the Company has NOLs beginning in 
2001 which would cause the statute of limitations to remain open for the year in which the NOL was incurred.  
  
Management regularly assesses the likelihood that its net deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income. To the extent 
management believes that it is more likely than not that a net deferred tax asset will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established. 
When a valuation allowance is established or increased, an income tax charge is included in the consolidated financial statements and net 
deferred tax assets are adjusted accordingly. Changes in tax law, statutory tax rates, and estimates of the Company’s future taxable income 
levels could result in actual realization of the net deferred tax assets being materially different from the amounts provided for in the 
consolidated financial statements. If the actual recovery amount of the deferred tax asset is less than anticipated, the Company would be 
required to write off the remaining deferred tax asset and increase the tax provision, resulting in a reduction of net income and stockholders’ 
equity.  
  
The Company does not have any unrecognized tax benefits and has not incurred any interest and penalties for fiscal years 2016, 2015, and 
2014.  

  

Note 6.  Acquisition  

Hunter Mountain  

  

 2016 2015 2014  
Computed "expected" tax (benefit) $ (1,804) $ (895) $ (667) 
Increase (decrease) in income tax (benefit) resulting from: 
 Permanent differences 38  41  46  
 State income tax (325) 60  174  
 Other 13  16  (14) 

Income tax (benefit) $ (2,078) $ (778) $ (461) 
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Effective January 6, 2016, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Hunter Mountain in Hunter, New York, for $35.0 
million paid to the sellers in cash and the Company’s assumption of $1.7 million in capitalized lease obligations. The Company incurred 
approximately $0.1 million in transaction costs recorded within general and administrative expenses on the income statement.  The company 
also incurred $1.3 million of financing costs which were capitalized as deferred financing costs associated with the debt obligations.  

The Company financed $20.0 million, of the acquisition price pursuant to the terms of the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement and Hunter 
Mountain Note with EPR, which bears interest at a rate of 8.0%, subject to annual increases as discussed in Note 4, “Long-term Debt.”  The 
Company borrowed an additional $1.0 million under the Hunter Mountain Credit Agreement to fund closing and other costs. Debt under the 
Hunter Mountain Note requires monthly interest payments until its maturity on January 5, 2036. An additional $15.0 million of the Hunter 
Mountain acquisition price was financed through a draw on the Company’s line of credit with Royal Banks of Missouri, which bears interest 
at the prime rate plus 1.0% and matures on December 22, 2016, as discussed in Note 4 above under the title “Line of Credit”.  

Hunter Mountain’s results of operations are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended April 30, 
2016 from the date of acquisition. The preliminary allocation of the purchase price is as follows (in thousands):  
  

  
  
The purchase price allocation is preliminary, mainly due to continued review of the deferred tax liability and intangibles.  The Company 
adjusted the purchase price allocation in the fourth quarter as a result of obtaining more information regarding the values of certain assets 
and liabilities.  The adjustments were primarily to increase (decrease) Buildings and Improvements, Equipment, Intangible Assets, Goodwill, 
and the Deferred Tax Liability by $752,  $7,470,  $865,  $(6,280), and $3,085, respectively. The income statement effect related to these 
adjustments was not material.      
  
The Company paid $35.0 million for the transaction and as part of the allocation received $1.6 million in cash, resulting in a net cash change 
of $33.4 million in cash. As part of the transaction, the Company has recognized goodwill associated with the expected synergies of 
combining operations as well as the overall enterprise value of the resort.  No goodwill will arise for income tax purposes and accordingly, 
none of the book goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes.  Hunter Mountain will be considered its own reporting unit with respect to 
goodwill impairment, which will be completed at least annually.  
  
The revenue and net loss included in the accompanying consolidated statements of net loss resulting from the Hunter Mountain acquisition 
since the Acquisition Date (January 6, 2016) were $13,614 and $3,083, respectively.  
  
The following presents the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information as if the acquisition of Hunter Mountain was completed 
on May 1, 2014, the beginning of the Company's 2015 fiscal year. The following pro forma financial information includes adjustments for 
depreciation and interest paid pursuant to the Hunter Mountain Note and property and equipment recorded at the date of acquisition. This 
pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes  

  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,640  
Income tax receivable 395  
Inventories 341  
Prepaids 246  
Buildings and improvements 14,052  
Land 6,200  
Equipment 19,120  
Other assets 4  
Goodwill 4,382  
Intangible assets 865  

 Total assets acquired 47,245  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,481  
Accrued salaries, wages and related taxes & benefits 250  
Unearned revenue and deposits 2,993  
Capital Lease Obligations 1,724  
Deferred tax liability 5,797  

 Net assets acquired $ 35,000  
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only and does not purport to be indicative of the results of future operations or the results that would have occurred had the acquisition 
taken place on May 1, 2014. (In thousands except per share data)  
  

  
  
  

Note 7. Sale/Leaseback  

In November 2005, the Company sold Mad River Mountain and simultaneously leased the property back for a period of 21 years. The 
resultant gain was deferred and is being ratably recognized in income over the term of the lease.  

  
  
  

Note 8.  Employee Benefit Plan  
  
The Company maintains a tax-deferred savings plan for all eligible employees. Employees become eligible to participate after attaining the 
age of 21 and completing one year of service. Employee contributions to the plan are tax-deferred under Section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Company matching contributions are made at the discretion of the board of directors. No contributions 
were made in 2016, 2015, and 2014.  
  
On November 4, 2015, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Peak Resorts, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”), 
and on November 5, 2014, the Company’s stockholders approved the Incentive Plan. The stockholders approved a maximum of 559,296 
shares to be available for issuance under the Incentive Plan. The Incentive Plan authorizes the Company to grant stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock bonuses, other stock based awards, cash awards, or any combination 
thereof, as defined in and allowed by the Incentive Plan. During fiscal 2016, the company issued 63,741 restricted stock units to independent 
directors, of which 5,334 were forfeited, resulting in a remaining balance of 500,889 shares available for issuance.  The company has recorded 
compensation expense of $0.2 million associated with these awards during fiscal 2016.  

Note 9. Financial Instruments and Concentrations of Credit Risk  

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments to which the Company is 
a party:  

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash:  Due to the highly liquid nature of the Company’s short-term investments, the carrying values of 
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash approximate their fair values.  

Accounts receivable:  The carrying value of accounts receivable approximate their fair value because of their short-term nature.  

Accounts payable and accrued expenses:  The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates fair value due to the 
short- term maturities of these amounts.  

Long-term debt:  The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar 
issues or on the current rates offered to the Company for debt of the same remaining maturities. The interest rates on the Company’s 
long-term debt instruments are consistent with those currently available to the Company for borrowings with similar maturities and terms 
and, accordingly, their fair values are consistent with their carrying values.  

  

 
 Year ended April 30 
 2016 2015 
Net revenues $ 102,860  $ 132,233  
Net loss  $ (9,776) $ (1,426) 

Pro forma basis and diluted loss per share $ (0.70) $ (0.17) 
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Concentrations of credit risk:  The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of 
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are on deposit with financial 
institutions where such balances will, at times, be in excess of federally insured limits. Excess cash balances are collateralized by the backing 
of government securities. The Company has not experienced any loss as a result of those deposits.  

  
   

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies  

Restricted cash:  The provisions of certain of the Company’s debt instruments generally require that the Company make and 
maintain a deposit, to be held in escrow for the benefit of the lender, in an amount equal to the estimated minimum interest 
payment for the upcoming fiscal year.  In addition, the Company has funds it is holding in escrow in connection with its efforts 
to raise funds under the EB-5 Program.  The Company intends to use the current and future funds for future development.       

Loss contingencies:  The Company is periodically involved in various claims and legal proceedings, many of which occur in the normal 
course of business. Management routinely assesses the likelihood of adverse judgments or outcomes, including consideration of its 
insurable coverage and discloses or records estimated losses in accordance with ASC 450, “Contingencies”. After consultation with legal 
counsel, the Company does not anticipate that liabilities arising out of these claims would, if plaintiffs are successful, have a material 
adverse effect on its business, operating results or financial condition.  

Leases:  The Company leases certain land, land improvements, buildings and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. Certain of 
the leases contain escalation provisions based generally on changes in the CPI with maximum annual percentage increases capped at 1.5% 
to 4.5%. Additionally, certain leases contain contingent rental provisions which are based on revenue. The amount of contingent rentals 
was insignificant in all periods presented. Total rent expense under such operating leases was $1,732, $1,756, and  $2,075 and  for years 
ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company also leases certain equipment under capital leases.  

Future minimum rentals under all non-cancelable leases with remaining lease terms of one year or more for years subsequent to April 30, 
2016 are as follows (in thousands):  

  
Off-balance sheet arrangement: We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or 
future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital 
expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors.  
  

  

 
 Capital Operating 

 Leases Leases 

2017 $ 2,166  $ 1,657  

2018 2,066  1,620  

2019 1,922  1,576  

2020 923  1,543  

2021 23  1,518  

Thereafter  -  8,821  
 7,100  $ 16,735  

Less: amount representing interest  984  
 6,116  
Less: current portion  1,697  
Long-term portion $ 4,419  
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Note 11. Loss Per Share  

The computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014 is as follows (in thousands 
except share and per share data):  

  

  

Restricted stock units were granted during the year but the 19,515 outstanding unvested units have not been included in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share because the impact is anti-dilutive due to the net loss for the year ended April 30, 2016.  
  

  
Note 12. Selected Quarterly Financial Data  

Selected quarterly financial data for the years ended April 30, 2016 and 2015 is as follows (in thousands, except for per share data):  

  

  

  

 2016 2015 2014 

Net loss $ (3,226) $ (1,854) $ (1,501) 
Weighted number of shares: 

Common shares outstanding for basic and diluted loss per share 13,982,400  8,420,756  3,982,400  

Vested restricted stock units  12,893  - - 

 13,995,293  8,420,756  3,982,400  

Basic and diluted  loss per share  $ (0.23) $ (0.22) $ (0.38) 

2016 
 Quarter ended (unaudited) 

 
Year ended April 

30, 2016 April 30, 2016 
January 31, 

2016 
October 31, 

2015 July 31, 2015 
Revenue $ 95,729  $ 45,475  $ 38,667  $ 6,155  $ 5,432  

Other Operating Income-gain on involuntaay 
conversion 195  -    195  -    -    
Income (loss) from operations 5,169  14,174  8,833  (8,875) (8,963) 
Net income (loss) $ (3,226) $ 7,041  $ 3,700  $ (6,888) $ (7,079) 
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.23) $ 0.50  $ 0.26  $ (0.49) $ (0.51) 

2015 
 Quarter ended (unaudited) 

 
Year ended April 

30, 2015 April 30, 2015 
January 31, 

2015 
October 31, 

2014 July 31, 2014 
Revenue $ 104,858  $ 47,047  $ 45,985  $ 6,230  $ 5,596  

Other Operating Income-gain on settlement of 
lawsuit 2,100  -    -    2,100  -    
Income (loss) from operations 17,482  18,947  14,498  (6,887) (9,076) 
Net income (loss) $ (1,854) $ 9,780  $ 3,269  $ (6,743) $ (8,160) 
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.22) $ 0.70  $ 0.27  $ (1.69) $ (2.05) 
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Note 13.  Related Party Transactions  

On October 30, 2007, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement 
with EPT Ski Properties, Inc. pursuant to which EPT Ski Properties, Inc. provided the Company with a $31.0 million operating loan. This 
amount was later increased to $56.0 million upon the execution of the fifth amended and restated promissory note, dated July 13, 2012. 
Messrs. Boyd and Mueller and Richard Deutsch, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Development and 
Acquisitions Officer, respectively, executed a Consent and Agreement of Guarantors on October 30, 2007 pursuant to which they each 
personally guaranteed payment of the amount due by the Company under, and satisfaction of all other obligations pursuant to, the 
Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for terms of the agreements. On 
November 10, 2014, the Company entered into a Restructure Agreement. As a part of the Agreement, the guaranty by Messrs. Boyd, 
Mueller and Deutsch terminated, and in its place the Company and certain of its subsidiaries guaranteed all of the Company’s obligations to 
EPR under the restructured loans.    
  
In January 2016, a director was added to the Company’s board of directors.  This director is a partner at a law firm utilized by the Company. 
 In calendar year 2016, the company incurred expenses of $224 with the firm.      

Note 14. Subsequent Events  

The Company has received a commitment for a short term financing loan of $10 million from a lender, which the Company has not 
yet executed.   
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.  
  
Not Applicable.  

  

ITEM 9A.  Controls and Procedures  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this annual report on 
Form 10-K. Based on that evaluation, management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report on Form 10-
K, are functioning effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports 
filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.. A controls 
system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met, 
and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company 
have been detected.  

  
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) 
of the Exchange Act. Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2016 based 
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission. As a result of this assessment, management concluded that, as of April 30, 2016, our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This annual report on Form 10-K does not 
include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the 
SEC for newly public companies.  

  
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
  
There have been no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the three-month period ending April 30, 
2016 identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) under the Exchange Act that have materially 
affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.  

  
  
  

Item 9B. Other Information.  
None.  
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PART III  
  
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.  
  
The information required by this Item 10 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2016 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in 
connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders ("2016 Proxy Statement") and is 
incorporated herein by reference. The 2016 Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year 
to which this report relates.  
  
Item 11. Executive Compensation.  
  
The information required by this Item 11 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2016 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  
The 2016 Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.  
  
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.  
  
The information required by this Item 12 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2016 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by 
reference. The 2016 Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.  
  
Equity Compensation Plan Information  

On November 4, 2014, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Peak Resorts, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”), 
and on November 5, 2014, the Company’s stockholders approved the Incentive Plan. The stockholders approved a maximum of 559,296 
shares to be available for issuance under the Incentive Plan. The Incentive Plan authorizes the Company to grant stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock bonuses, other stock-based awards, cash awards, or any combination 
thereof, as defined in and allowed by the Incentive Plan. As of April 30, 2016, 63,741 restricted stock units were issued to independent 
directors, of which 5,334 were forfeited, resulting in a remaining balance of 500,889 shares available for issuance, as illustrated in the table 
below:  

  

  

  
  
  

  

Plan Category 

Number of Securities to be 
Issued Upon Exercise of 
Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights 

Weighted-Average Exercise 
Price of Outstanding 

Options, Warrants and 
Rights 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 
Future Issuance Under 

Equity Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities 

Reflected in Column (a)) 

 (a) (b) (c) 

Equity Compensation Plans 
Approved by Security 
Holders 

  

_ 

  

_ 

  

500,889 

Equity Compensation Plans 
Not Approved by 
Security  Holders 

  

_ 

  

_ 

  

_ 

Total   

_ 

  

_ 

  

500,889 
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  
  
The information required by this Item 13 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2016 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  
The 2016 Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.  

  
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.  
  
The information required by this Item 14 of Form 10-K will be included in our 2016 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  
The 2016 Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.  
  

  
  

  
PART IV  

  
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.  
  
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:  

1.  Financial Statements.  
  

The consolidated financial statements of Peak Resorts, Inc. and subsidiaries, together with the report thereon of the 
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, are included in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data” of this annual report on Form 10-K. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements therein.  

  
2.  Financial Statement Schedules  

None.  
  

3.  Exhibits  
  

The exhibits required to be filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K are listed in the attached Exhibit Index.  

  
(b) The exhibits filed with this annual report on Form 10-K are listed in the attached Exhibit Index.  

(c) None.  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

PEAK RESORTS, INC.  

Date: July 14, 2016 By: /s/ Timothy D. Boyd   
Timothy D. Boyd  
Chief Executive Officer and President  

  (Principal Executive Officer)  
  

Date: July 14, 2016 By: /s/ Stephen J. Mueller   
Stephen J. Mueller  
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President (Principal Financial and 
Accounting Officer)  

  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

  
  

  

  

Signature Title Date 
 

/s/ Timothy D. Boyd 
Timothy D. Boyd 

  
Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of 
the Board of Directors (Principal Executive 

Officer) 
  

  
July 14, 2016 

 
/s/ Stephen J. Mueller 

Stephen J. Mueller 

  
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President and Director 

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
  

  
July 14, 2016 

 
/s/ Richard K. Deutsch 

Richard K. Deutsch 

  
Vice President-Business and Real Estate 

Development and Director 

  
July 14, 2016 

 
/s/ Stanley W. Hansen 

Stanley W. Hansen 

  
Director 

  
July 14, 2016 

 
/s/ Carl E. Kraus 

Carl E. Kraus 

  
Director 

  
July 14, 2016 

 
/s/ Christopher S. O’Connor 

Christopher S. O’Connor 

  
Director 

  
July 14, 2016 

 
/s/ David W. Braswell 

David W. Braswell 

  
Director 

  
July 14, 2016 
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EXHIBIT INDEX  

  

Exhibit 

Number  Description 

2.1 Agreement of Sale and Purchase between Wildcat Mountain Ski Area, Inc., Meadow Green-Wildcat Skilift 
Corp. and Meadow Green-Wildcat Corp., as sellers, and WC Acquisition Corp., as purchaser, effective as of 
October 20, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 
20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.2 Agreement of Sale by and among Blue Ridge Real Estate Company and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., dated as of 
October 31, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 2.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 
20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.3 Amendment to Agreement of Sale by and among Blue Ridge Real Estate Company and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., 
dated as of December 6, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 2.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed 
on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.4 Second Amendment to Agreement of Sale by and among Blue Ridge Real Estate Company and JFBB Ski 
Areas, Inc., dated as of December 15, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 2.5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.5 Agreement of Sale by and among Big Boulder Corporation and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., dated as of October 31, 
2011 (filed as Exhibit 2.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 
and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.6 Amendment to Agreement of Sale by and among Big Boulder Corporation and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., dated 
as of December 6, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 2.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 
October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.7 Second Amendment to Agreement of Sale by and among Big Boulder Corporation and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., 
dated as of December 15, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 2.8 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 
filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.8 Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Peak Resorts, Inc., as buyer, and S. Sandy Satullo, II Revocable 
Trust of 3/13/00, S. Sandy Satullo, II, Trustee, S. Sandy Satullo, III, Tia N. Satullo Revocable Trust, Tia S. 
Winfield, Trustee, Stuart S. Satullo Revocable Trust of January 20, 2005, Stuart S. Satullo, Trustee, James B. 
Stinnett, Raymond C. Stinnett and Linda G. Musfeldt, as sellers, and S. Sandy Satullo II on its own behalf 
and on behalf of each seller, dated as of October 17, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 2.8 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

2.9 Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Paul Slutzky, Charles B. Slutzky, David Slutzky, Gary Slutzky, and 
Caol Slutzky-Tenerowicz and Peak Resorts, Inc., dated as of November 30, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on December 15, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).  

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 
filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.1 Form of Peak Resorts, Inc. Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 10, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
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10.1 Loan Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and L.B.O. Holding, Inc., as borrowers, and EPT Mount 
Attitash, Inc., as lender, dated April 4, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.2 Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc. and L.B.O. Holding, Inc. in favor of EPT Mount Attitash, Inc. dated 
April 4, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 
2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.3 Note Modification Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and L.B.O. Holding, Inc., as borrowers, 
and EPT Mount Attitash, Inc. as lender, dated October 30, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.4 Agreement Concerning a Loan for a Holder of a Special Use Permit by and between the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Forest Service; EPT Mount Attitash, Inc. and L.B.O. Holding, Inc., dated April 4, 2007 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.5 Agreement Concerning a Loan for a Holder of a Special Use Permit by and between the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Forest Service; EPT Mount Snow, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., dated April 4, 2007 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.6 Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd. in favor of EPT Mount Snow, Inc., dated 
April 4, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 
2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.7 Modification Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, and EPT 
Mount Snow, Inc. as lender, dated April 1, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.8 Second Modification Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, 
and EPT Mount Snow, Inc. as lender, dated July 13, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference).  

10.9 Third Modification Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, and 
EPT Mount Snow, Inc. as lender, dated April 1, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.10 Loan Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, and EPT Mount 
Snow, Inc., as lender, dated April 4, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.11 First Modification Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, and 
EPT Mount Snow, Inc., as lender, dated June 30, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.12 Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd. in favor of EPT 
Mount Snow, Inc., dated June 30, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.13 Letter Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, and EPT Mount 
Snow, Inc., as lender, dated June 20, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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10.14 Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement among Mad River Mountain, Inc.; SNH 
Development, Inc.; L.B.O. Holding, Inc.; Mount Snow, Ltd.; Peak Resorts, Inc.; Hidden Valley Golf and 
Ski, Inc.; Snow Creek, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; Deltrecs, Inc.; Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; Boston Mills Ski 
Resort, Inc.; and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., as borrowers, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc., as lender, dated 
October 30, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 
October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.15 Option Agreement between Hidden Valley Golf and Ski, Inc.; Snow Creek, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; 
Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc.; and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., as sellers, and EPT Ski 
Properties, Inc. as purchaser, dated October 30, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.16 Second Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc.; JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.; Mad River 
Mountain, Inc.; SNH Development, Inc.; L.B.O. Holding, Inc.; Mount Snow, Ltd.; Hidden Valley Golf and 
Ski, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; Deltrecs, Inc.; Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; and Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. in 
favor of EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated August 5, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.17 Third Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc.; JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.; Mad River 
Mountain, Inc.; SNH Development, Inc.; L.B.O. Holding, Inc.; Mount Snow, Ltd.; Hidden Valley Golf and 
Ski, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; Deltrecs, Inc.; Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; and Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. in 
favor of EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated December 15, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.18 Fourth Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc.; JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.; Mad River 
Mountain, Inc.; SNH Development, Inc.; L.B.O. Holding, Inc.; Mount Snow, Ltd.; Hidden Valley Golf and 
Ski, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; Deltrecs, Inc.; Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; and Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. in 
favor of EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated May 14, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.19 Fifth Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc.; JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.; Mad River 
Mountain, Inc.; SNH Development, Inc.; L.B.O. Holding, Inc.; Mount Snow, Ltd.; Hidden Valley Golf and 
Ski, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; Deltrecs, Inc.; Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; and Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. in 
favor of EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated July 13, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.20 Blanket Conveyance, Bill of Sale and Assignment between Wildcat Mountain Ski Area, Inc., Meadow 
Green-Wildcat Skilift Corp. and Meadow Green-Wildcat Corp., as assignors, and WC Acquisition Corp., as 
assignee, dated November 19, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.21 Agreement Concerning a Loan for a Holder of a Special Use Permit by and between the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Forest Service; Meadow Green-Wildcat Corp, as lender, and WC Acquisition Corp., as 
borrower, dated November 19, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.22 Promissory Note from WC Acquisition Corp. in favor of Wildcat Mountain Ski Area, Inc.; Meadow 
Green-Wildcat Skilift Corp.; and Meadow Green-Wildcat Corp., dated November 22, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 
10.22 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated 
herein by reference). 
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10.23 Unconditional Guaranty of Peak Resorts, Inc., dated November 12, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.24 Lease Agreement by and between EPT Mad River, Inc. and Mad River Mountain, Inc., dated November 17, 
2005 (filed as Exhibit 1024 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 
and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.25 First Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between EPT Mad River, Inc. and Mad River Mountain, Inc., 
dated June 30, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 
October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.26 Ground Lease by and between Crotched Mountain Properties, L.L.C. and SNH Development, Inc., dated 
May 27, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 
20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.27 First Amendment to Ground Lease by and between Crotched Mountain Properties, L.L.C. and SNH 
Development, Inc., dated April 3, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.28 Second Amendment to Ground Lease by and between Crotched Mountain Properties, L.L.C. and SNH 
Development, Inc., dated January 31, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.29 Lease by and between the Estate of Charles Marvin Weeks and Paoli Peaks, Inc., dated September 26, 1990 
(filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.30 U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Special Use Permit for Attitash (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.31 U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Special Use Permit for Mount Snow (filed as Exhibit 10.31 to 
the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.32 U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service Special Use Permit for Wildcat Mountain (filed as Exhibit 
10.32 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

10.33 Promissory Note from SNH Development, Inc. in favor of EPT Crotched Mountain Ski Resort, Inc., dated 
March 10, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 
October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.34 Amended and Restated Promissory Note from SNH Development, Inc. in favor of EPT Crotched Mountain 
Ski Resort, Inc., dated July 13, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.35 Guaranty of Payment made by Peak Resorts, Inc. for the benefit EPT Crotched Mountain, Inc., dated 
March 10, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on 
October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.36 Loan Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc.; JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.; Mad River Mountain, Inc.; SNH 
Development, Inc.; L.B.O. Holding, Inc.; Mount Snow, Ltd.; HiddenValley Golf and Ski, Inc.; Snow 
Creek, Inc.; Paoli Peaks, Inc.; Deltrecs, Inc.; Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc.; Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc.; and 
WC Acquisition Corp., as borrowers, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated July 13, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.36 
to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
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Properties, Inc., as lender, dated November 19, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.38 First Amendment to Loan Agreement by and between Sycamore Lake, Inc. and Peak Resorts, Inc., as 
borrowers, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc. as lender, dated July 26, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.38 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 
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10.41 Modification and Consent Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd., as 
borrowers, EPT Mount Snow, Inc., as lender, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated July 26, 2013 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.42 Letter Agreement regarding the Modification and Consent Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. 
and Mount Snow, Ltd., as borrowers, EPT Mount Snow, Inc., as lender, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated 
June 13, 2014 (filed as Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 
20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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McGovern, III, as seller, and Mount Snow Ltd., as buyer, dated April 15, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.43 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.44 Form of Peak Resorts, Inc. Indemnification Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.45 Agreement by and between Mount Snow, Ltd. and Leitner-Poma of America, dated as of March 24, 2011 
(filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 20, 2014 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 
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June 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.46 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-1 filed on November 10, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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S-1 filed on November 10, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.48 Executive Employment Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc. and Richard Deutsch, dated as of 
June 1, 2011(filed as Exhibit 10.48 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-
1 filed on November 10, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference).  

10.49 Peak Resorts, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement 
on Form S-8 filed on January 15, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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Snow, Ltd., Sycamore Lake, Inc., Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc., Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc., Deltrecs, Inc., 
and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc, as borrowers, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc. and EPT Mount Snow, Inc., as lender 
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on January 6, 2015 and incorporated herein 
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10.52 Amendment to Master Credit and Security Agreement, effective as of December 1, 2014, by and among Peak 
Resorts, Inc., Mount Snow, Ltd., Sycamore Lake, Inc., Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc., Boston Mills Ski Resort, 
Inc., Deltrecs, Inc. and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc., as borrowers, and EPT Ski Properties, Inc. and EPT Mount 
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10.53 Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc., Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. Brandywine 
Ski Resort, Inc. and Deltrecs, Inc. in favor of EPT Ski Properties, Inc., dated December 1, 2014 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on January 6, 2015 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.54 Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc. and Sycamore Lake, Inc. in favor of EPT 
Ski Properties, Inc., dated December 1, 2014 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
on January 6, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.55 Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc. and JFBB Ski Areas, Inc. in favor of EPT 
Ski Properties, Inc., dated December 1, 2014 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
on January 6, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.56 Amended and Restated Promissory Note from Peak Resorts, Inc. and Mount Snow, Ltd. in favor of EPT Ski 
Properties, Inc., dated December 1, 2014 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on 
January 6, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.57 Master Cross Default Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2014, by and among EPT Ski Properties, Inc., EPT 
Mount Snow, Inc. and EPT Mad River, Inc. and Peak Resorts, Inc., Mad River Mountain, Inc., Mount Snow, 
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Inc., Snow Creek, Inc., Paoli Peaks, Inc. and Crotched Mountain Properties, LLC, as guarantors (filed as 
Exhibit 10.6 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on January 6, 2015 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.58 Amended and Restated Master Cross Default Agreement by and among EPT Ski Properties, Inc., EPT 
Mount Snow, Inc. and EPT Mad River, Inc. and Peak Resorts, Inc., Mad River Mountain, Inc., Mount Snow, 
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10.65 Credit Facility, Loan and Security Agreement by and between Peak Resorts, Inc., Hidden Valley Golf and 
Ski, Inc., Paoli Peaks, Inc., Snow Creek, Inc., LBO Holding, Inc., and SNH Development, Inc., and Royal 
Banks of Missouri, dated as of December 22, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on December 29, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference). 
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Ski Bowl Inc., Hunter Mountain Festivals, Ltd., Hunter Mountain Rentals Ltd., Hunter Resort 
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pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.  
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 Exhibit 10.64      

THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT  

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is made as of the __8___ 
day of June, 2016 (the “Effective Date”), by and between EPT MAD RIVER, INC., a Missouri corporation 
(“Landlord”) and MAD RIVER MOUNTAIN, INC., a Missouri corporation (“Tenant”).  

RECITALS  

A. Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of November 17, 2005 
(the “Original Lease”) wherein Landlord leased to Tenant and Tenant leased from Landlord certain premises located 
on real property in the Village of Valley Hi, Logan County, Ohio, as more particularly described in the Original 
Lease.  

B. The Original Lease was modified and amended pursuant to that certain First Amendment to Lease 
Agreement dated June 30, 2006 and that certain Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated December 1, 
2014 (as further amended by this Amendment, collectively referred to herein as the “Lease”).  

C. On or about September 16, 2015, portions of the Leased Premises, consisting of the base lodge, 
existing office building, ticketing building and adaptive learning building, were damaged by fire and rendered 
unuseable (the “Casualty Event”), however, notwithstanding the Casualty Event, Tenant continued to fully operate 
on the Leased Premises and perform its obligations under, and in accordance with, the Lease, including, without 
limitation, the payment of Rent.  

D. Landlord and Tenant are in the process of obtaining insurance proceeds from Tenant's insurers 
from which Tenant will use to construct the Tenant Improvements (hereinafter defined) on the Leased Premises, the 
costs of which will exceed the anticipated amount of insurance proceeds to be made available from Tenant's insurers 
and Landlord is willing to provide funding to Tenant to undertake development and construction of the Tenant 
Improvements as provided in this Amendment.   

E. Landlord and Tenant desire to enter into this Amendment to modify the terms of the Lease as set 
forth below.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, the terms, covenants and agreements 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged by the parties hereto, the parties hereby agree as follows:  

  

  

1.  Defined Terms.  Defined terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning 
given to such term in the Lease. 
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2.  Incorporation of Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated herein by 
reference. 

3.  Tenant Improvements.   

a.  Tenant Improvements.  Tenant desires to construct certain improvements and the 
performance of certain work upon the Leased Premises, including the (i) demolition of the old base 
lodge, existing office building, ticketing building, and adaptive learning building, (ii) development and 
construction of a new base lodge, (iii) construction of a sidewalk to the rental facility from the new base 
lodge, and (iv) addition of traffic pattern lighting, all as described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference (collectively, the “Tenant Improvements”), which shall be performed 
by Tenant pursuant to the terms of the Lease and this Amendment.  The Tenant Improvements shall at 
all times fully comply with all applicable federal, state and municipal laws, ordinances, regulations, codes 
and other governmental requirements now or hereafter in force and Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost 
and expense, take all actions now or hereafter necessary to ensure such compliance. 

b.  Construction of Tenant Improvements.  Within ten (10) days after the date hereof, Tenant 
shall cause delivery to Landlord, for Landlord’s review and approval two sets of blueline prints 
describing the Tenant Improvements (the “Preliminary Plans”) along with a draft budget for all of the 
Tenant Improvements (the “Budget”).  Within ten (10) business days after receipt of Tenant’s 
Preliminary Plans and the Budget, the Landlord will review the Preliminary Plans and the Budget and 
reply, either “approving”, “approving with notations” or “disapproving” the same.  Landlord’s approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld,  conditioned or delayed.  If the Preliminary Plans or the Budget (or 
any portions of either) are rejected by the Landlord for any reason, the Preliminary Plans or Budget, as 
the case may be, must be corrected and re-submitted until fully approved by Landlord and Tenant.  The 
Preliminary Plans, as submitted to, and approved by, Landlord are hereinafter referred to as the “Final 
Plans”.  Landlord’s review of the Preliminary Plans and the Final Plans as set forth herein shall be for its 
sole purpose and shall not imply Landlord’s review of the same, or obligate Landlord to review the 
same, for quality design, code compliance or other like matters, and Landlord shall have no liability 
whatsoever in connection therewith and shall not be responsible for any omissions or errors contained in 
the Preliminary Plans or the Final Plans.  Tenant shall retain a general contractor approved by 
Landlord (the “General Contractor”) pursuant to a construction contract in form approved by Landlord 
(the “Construction Contract”), whereby the General Contractor is required to construct the Tenant 
Improvements in accordance with the Final Plans and the Construction Contract.  Tenant shall cause 
Landlord to be recognized as an expressly intended third party beneficiary of the Construction Contract 
and to require the General Contractor to execute with respect to the Construction Contract an 
Acknowledgement of Third Party Beneficiary which is substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A.   
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c.  Payment of Tenant Improvements.  Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord and cause all 
available insurance proceeds made available to Tenant or Landlord arising from the Casualty Event 
(collectively, the “Insurance Proceeds”) to be delivered to Landlord and disbursed as part of the Tenant 
Improvement Allowance (hereinafter defined).  In addition to the Insurance Proceeds, Landlord shall 
provide Tenant with an additional improvement allowance in excess of the Insurance Proceeds (the 
“Landlord Contribution”) for Tenant's expenses incurred in the construction of the Tenant Improvements 
on the Leased Premises (the Landlord Contribution together with the Insurance Proceeds shall 
hereinafter be referred to as the “Tenant Improvement Allowance”).  The Landlord Contribution shall be 
an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the actual costs of the Tenant Improvements on the Leased Premises 
in excess of the Insurance Proceeds, or (ii) $2,700,000.00.  The Tenant Improvement Allowance shall 
only be used for the Tenant Improvements as defined in this Amendment and shall not be used to fund 
any of Tenant's Property or any other furniture, fixtures and equipment without Landlord's consent in its 
sole judgement. Landlord shall disburse the Tenant Improvement Allowance in accordance with the 
following requirements: 

i.  The parties shall instruct General Contractor, other equipment vendors and all third 
parties submitting bills or invoices relating to the Tenant Improvements to submit 
their bills or invoices to Tenant, who will prepare payment requests and submit the 
same in writing to Landlord for Landlord's approval. 

ii.  Upon Landlord's approval of any payment request, Landlord shall pay directly to 
the payees identified in such payment request, funds equal to the requested funds (or 
such portion thereof approved by Landlord), until Landlord has disbursed the 
entirety of the Tenant Improvement Allowance; provided, however, in the event any 
portion of the Insurance Proceeds have not been received by Landlord and the then 
current balance of the Tenant Improvement Allowance is not sufficient to satisfy a 
payment request, Landlord may pay such payment request in excess of the Tenant 
Improvement Allowance, in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion, and then use 
any subsequent Insurance Proceeds to reimburse Landlord for such excess 
expenditures above and beyond the Landlord Contribution, or bill same directly to 
Tenant which Tenant shall pay to Landlord within fifteen (15) days after receipt of 
same from Landlord.  In the event of a payment to the account of Tenant, Tenant 
shall then make payments in accordance with the request, and shall send to 
Landlord proof of payment in form reasonably requested by Landlord.   

d.  Payment Request Documentation.  The following documentation shall be provided by or on 
behalf of Tenant in connection with any payment request for the Tenant Improvements: 

i.  Copy of AIA G702 Application and Certificate for Payment form and AIA G703 
Continuation Sheet signed by General Contractor and architect;  
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ii.  Copies of invoices from various contractors and/or subcontractors to match total 
amount reflected on each AIA G702 and AIA G703 forms that are 
submitted.  Invoices greater than $5,000 should also be accompanied by conditional 
(for amounts to be paid) and unconditional (for amounts already paid) lien waivers if 
progress billings are involved, with a final unconditional lien waiver when the job is 
completed; 

iii.  Copy of open invoices to be paid;  

iv.  Upon the final payment request, (a) certificate of occupancy, (b) certificate of 
Substantial Completion from Tenant's architect (on AIA form), (c) as-built plans 
detailing the building, site work, and site work utilities if materially different from the 
Final Plans, (d) copies of any and all warranties from Tenant's contractors and 
suppliers, and (e) copies of any and all operations and maintenance manuals related 
to the Leased Premises;  

v.  Any documentation required to be furnished by the General Contractor pursuant to 
the Construction Contract; and 

vi.  For each payment request for any portion of the Tenant Improvements not made, 
pursuant to (ii) above, on AIA G702 and AIA G703 forms:  a certification from 
Tenant and each contractor, subcontractor, or other vendor or supplier with respect 
to which payment is requested, in a form reasonably acceptable to Landlord, 
confirming the identification of each subcontractor or sub-vendor or sub-supplier 
contributing labor, materials or supplies in connection with such portion of the 
Tenant Improvements, together with conditional (for amounts to be paid) and 
unconditional (for amounts already paid) lien waivers if progress billings are 
involved, and final unconditional lien waivers when the job is completed, for all 
invoices greater than $5,000. 

e.  Timing for Payment Requests.  With respect to payment requests by Tenant or by the 
General Contractor, provided that an application for payment is received by Landlord on or before the 
last day of a given month, Landlord shall pay the amount due (recognizing that the “amount due” does 
not include retainage which may be withheld under the Construction Contract) directly to the General 
Contractor on or before the 15th day of the next month (unless otherwise provided in the Construction 
Contract). 

f.  Title to Tenant Improvements.  Any and all Tenant Improvements which may be made in or 
upon the Leased Premises shall become the property of Landlord and remain upon and be surrendered 
with the Leased Premises at the expiration of the Term without compensation to Tenant. 
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“Percentage Rate” shall mean 33%.  

  

“(1) In addition to the Annual Fixed Rent, Tenant shall pay Landlord as percentage 
rent (the “Annual Percentage Rent”)  an amount for each Lease Year equal to the 
Percentage Rate multiplied by the Gross Receipts for such Lease Year in excess of 
$7,400,000.00 (“Base Amount”); provided, however, Annual Percentage Rent shall not 
exceed in any Lease Year, an amount equal to twenty percent (20%) of the Landlord 
Contribution.  For purposes of example only, assume that the Landlord Contribution is  

  

g.  No Setoff.  No portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance shall be allowed as a setoff 
against Rent or other charges owing to Landlord by Tenant.   

h.  Liens.  Tenant shall keep the Leased Premises and any interest therein, free and clear of all 
mechanics' liens and all other liens. Tenant shall give Landlord immediate, written notice of any lien filed 
against the Leased Premises, or any interest therein related to or arising from work performed by or for 
Tenant. If Tenant shall in good faith contest the validity of any such lien, claim or demand in connection 
with the Tenant Improvements, then Tenant, at its sole expense, shall defend, indemnify, protect and 
hold the Leased Premises and Landlord harmless against the same and shall pay and satisfy any such 
adverse judgment that may be rendered thereon before the enforcement thereof against Tenant, 
Landlord, or the Leased Premises.  Upon Landlord's request, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord a 
corporate surety bond, satisfactory to Landlord, in an amount equal to one and one-half (1 1/2) times 
the amount of any such contested lien, claim or demand, indemnifying Landlord and Tenant from liability 
for any such lien, claim or demand and holding the Leased Premises free and harmless from and against 
the effect of any such lien, claim or demand and causing the release and reconveyance of said lien from 
the Leased Premises.  In addition, Landlord shall have the right to require that Tenant pay Landlord's 
attorneys' fees and disbursements, court costs and other costs in defending any such action if Landlord 
is named as a party to any such action, the lien encumbers any portion of the Leased Premises or if 
Landlord elects to defend any such action or lien. 

i.  Suspension of Tenant Improvement Allowance.  In no event shall Landlord be obligated to 
disburse any portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance if Tenant is in arrears with regard to any 
Rent or other charges which might be due or owing, or otherwise in default under the Lease.   

4.  Amendment of Section 2(A) of the Original Lease.  Effective as of December 1, 
2016, the definition of Percentage Rate in Section 2(A) of the Original Lease is hereby deleted in its 
entirety and replaced with the following: 

5.  Amendment of Section 1(B)(1) of the Rent and Expense Rider to the Original 
Lease.  Effective as of December 1, 2016, Section 1(B)(1) of the Rent and Expense Rider to the 
Original Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
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$2,500,000.00 and that the Gross Receipts for the applicable Lease Year is 
$9,000,000.00.  Under this example, the Annual Percentage Rent would be equal to the 
Percentage Rate (33%) multiplied by $1,600,000.00 (which equals the amount by which 
the Gross Receipts for the applicable Lease Year exceed the Base Amount divided by the 
Percentage Rate), or $500,000.00 (33% of $1,600,000, but capped at $500,000.00).  
Within 60 days following the end of each Lease Year, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a 
statement, verified by a corporate officer of Tenant, showing the amount of Gross Receipts 
for the preceding Lease Year, which statement shall be accompanied by Tenant's payment 
of Annual Percentage Rent, if any, is due.  Beginning on December 1, 2021 and continuing 
on every fifth (5th) anniversary thereafter, the Base Amount shall increase by five percent 
(5%) over the Base Amount in the immediately preceding Lease Year.”  

  

“In General.  So long as Landlord shall not be in default under this Lease, Tenant will, except 
when prevented from so doing by Force Majeure or by other causes beyond its reasonable 
control and subject to the provisions of the Articles captioned “Subletting and Assigning,” 
“Damage Clause,” and “Condemnation” during the Term of this Lease, operate or cause to be 
operated a ski resort in the Ski Facility (such covenant being herein called “Tenant's Operating 
Covenant”).”  

  

  

  

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]  
   

  

6.  Amendment of Section 22(A) of the Original Lease.  Section 22(A) of the Original 
Lease is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

7.  Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed at different times and in any 
number of counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all 
of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.  Delivery of an executed 
counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by facsimile or electronic mail shall be as 
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.  In proving this 
Amendment, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such counterpart 
signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought. 

8.  Successors and Assigns.  This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon Landlord and Tenant and their respective representatives, successors and assigns. 

9.  Affirmation of Lease.  All other terms and provisions of the Lease that are not 
specifically modified by this Amendment shall remain in full force and effect, unmodified by the terms 
of this Amendment.  All references herein or in the Lease to the “Lease” shall mean and refer to the 
Lease as amended by this Amendment.   

F - 12  
   



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the day and 
year first above written.  

  

  

“Landlord” 
  
EPT MAD RIVER, INC., 
a Missouri corporation 
  
  
  
By:     /s/Craig L. 
Evans  
Name: _ _Craig L. Evans_________ 
Title: ___Vice Pres/Secretary  _____ 

“Tenant” 
  
MAD RIVER MOUNTAIN, INC., 
a Missouri corporation 
  
  
  
By:     /s/Stephen 
Mueller  
Name: __Stephen Mueller ________ 
Title: __Vice President___________ 
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GUARANTOR’S CONSENT  
  
  

The undersigned Guarantor of the Lease hereby (i) acknowledges and consents to the terms of the foregoing 
Amendment, (ii) reaffirms the full force and effect of its Guaranty dated November 17, 2005 (the “Guaranty”), as of the day 
and year first above written, (iii) agrees that the Guaranty guarantees payment and performance of all Obligations, as defined 
in the Guaranty, as modified pursuant to this Amendment, and (iv) absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the 
prompt, full, and faithful performance of all of the terms, covenants and provisions of this Amendment by the Tenant to 
Landlord and Landlord's successors and assigns, including, but not limited to, the full, prompt and complete performance by 
the Tenant of all covenants, conditions and provisions in this Amendment required to be performed by the Tenant, including 
but not limited to the construction and completion of the Tenant Improvements thereunder.  

  
PEAK RESORTS, INC.,  
a Missouri corporation  

  
  

By:    /s/Stephen Mueller   
Name: ___Stephen Mueller________  
Title: ____Vice President_________  
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Exhibit A  
  

Acknowledgement of Third Party Beneficiary  

This Acknowledgment of Third Party Beneficiary is executed this ____________ day of __________________, 
20__, by ______________________ ("General Contractor"), a contractor retained by Mad River Mountain, Inc., a Missouri 
corporation ("Tenant") to perform certain work and services for EPT Mad River, Inc., a Missouri corporation (together with its 
successors and assigns, collectively, "Landlord") and Tenant relating to the construction of a new ski area base lodge and 
related improvements on that certain tract of real estate at Mad River Mountain Ski Resort in Bellefountaine, Ohio (the 
"Project").  In consideration of the contract(s) between Tenant and General Contractor (the "Construction Contract"), relating 
to construction of such improvements and construction and performance of such site improvement work and for other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, General Contractor agrees as follows:  

____________________________________,  
a __________________________________ 
 
By:   
Print Name:_______________________________  
Title:_____________________________________  

  

General Contractor acknowledges and agrees that General Contractor is responsible to complete the Work 
required by the Construction Contract in accordance with the terms thereof, in accordance with the plans and specifications 
for the Project, and in compliance with all applicable codes, ordinances and laws. 

General Contractor acknowledges that the Project is being performed for the benefit of Landlord and 
Tenant.  In addition, General Contractor hereby acknowledges and agrees that Landlord is an expressly intended third-party 
beneficiary of the Construction Contract.  General Contractor agrees that Landlord's status as an intended third-party 
beneficiary does not constitute or create a contractual relationship between Landlord and General Contractor and does not 
allow General Contractor to enforce the Construction Contract directly against Landlord.  However, General Contractor 
agrees that as an intended third-party beneficiary, Landlord shall have the right to enforce the terms of the Construction 
Contract directly against General Contractor, without accepting any assignment of the Construction Contract, and that in 
such event Landlord shall be entitled to full and direct performance from General Contractor of the Construction Contract 
and all warranties provided therein.  Specifically, in this regard, General Contractor acknowledges and agrees that it shall be 
directly and fully responsible to Landlord for the work and services provided by General Contractor on the Project and for 
all non-conformities, defects or deficiencies in such work and services provided by General Contractor for the Project.  In 
addition, General Contractor hereby agrees that all indemnities and insurance coverages procured by General Contractor 
under the Construction Contract shall include and run to the benefit of Landlord and its agents, employees, officers and 
servants. 
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PEAK RESORTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
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Exhibit 21.1  
   

SUBSIDIARIES OF PEAK RESORTS, INC.  
   

  

  
   
  

  

Name of Subsidiary 

State of 
Incorporation/ 
Organization 

Boulder View Tavern, Inc. Pennsylvania 
Deltrecs, Inc. Ohio 

Boston Mills Ski Resort, Inc. (subsidiary of Deltrecs, Inc.) Ohio 
Brandywine Ski Resort, Inc. (subsidiary of Deltrecs, Inc.) Ohio 

Hidden Valley Golf and Ski, Inc. Missouri 
Hunter Mountain Acquisition, Inc.   Missouri 

Hunter Mountain Ski Bowl, Inc.   New York 
Hunter Mountain Festivals, Ltd.   New York 
Hunter Mountain Rentals, Inc.   New York 
Hunter Resort Vacations, Inc.   New York 
Hunter Mountain Base Lodge, Inc.   New York 
Frosty Land, Inc.    New York 

JFBB Ski Areas, Inc. Missouri 
JFBB LQ, Inc. (subsidiary of JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.) Pennsylvania 
BBJF LQ, Inc. (subsidiary of JFBB Ski Areas, Inc.) Pennsylvania 

L.B.O. Holding, Inc. Maine 
Mad River Mountain, Inc. Missouri 
Mount Snow, Ltd. Vermont 

Carinthia Group 1, L.P. (subsidiary of Mount Snow, Ltd.) Vermont 
Carinthia Ski Lodge LLC (subsidiary of Mount Snow, Ltd.) Vermont 
Mount Snow Develop and Build LLC (subsidiary of Mount Snow, Ltd.) Vermont 
Mount Snow GP Services, LLC (subsidiary of Mount Snow, Ltd.) Vermont 
West Lake Water Project LLC (subsidiary of Mount Snow, Ltd.) Vermont 

Paoli Peaks, Inc. Missouri 
Resort Holdings, L.L.C. Missouri 
S N H Development, Inc. Missouri 
Snow Creek, Inc. Missouri 
Sycamore Lake, Inc. Ohio 
WC Acquisition Corp. New Hampshire 
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PEAK RESORTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
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Exhibit 23.1  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
  
  
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (No. 333-201525) on Form S-8 of Peak Resorts, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries of our report dated July 14, 2016, relating to the consolidated financial statements Peak Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries, 
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Peak Resorts, Inc. and Subsidiaries for the year ended April 30, 2016.  
  
  
/s/ RSM US LLP  
  
St. Louis, Missouri  
July 14, 2016  
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PEAK RESORTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
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EXHIBIT 31.1   
    

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER   
PURUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE  
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002   

    
    
    
I, Timothy D. Boyd, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Peak Resorts, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;  

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;  

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

  

Date: July 14, 2016 /s/ Timothy D. Boyd 

 Timothy D. Boyd 

Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
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PEAK RESORTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Years ended April 30, 2016, 2015 and 2014  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  
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EXHIBIT 31.2   
    

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER   
PURUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE  
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002   

    
    
I, Stephen J. Mueller, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Peak Resorts, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared;  

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles;  

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

  

Date: July 14, 2016 /s/ Stephen J. Mueller 

 Stephen J. Mueller 

Chief Financial Officer and Director 

(Principal Financial Officer) 
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PEAK RESORTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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EXHIBIT 32.1   
    

    
CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND  

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER   
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,   

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO   
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002   

    

I, Timothy D. Boyd, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that 
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Peak Resorts, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016 fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 
10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.   

  

     

I, Stephen J. Mueller, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that 
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Peak Resorts, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016 fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 
10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.   

  

Date: July 14, 2016 
By: /s/ Timothy D. Boyd 
Name: Timothy D. Boyd  
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

  

Date: July 14, 2016 
By: /s/ Stephen J. Mueller 
Name: Stephen J. Mueller 
Title: Chief Financial Officer 
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